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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
x

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016
Or

¨

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from

to

Commission File Number: 001-35420

ChemoCentryx, Inc.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware

94-3254365

(State or Other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

850 Maude Avenue
Mountain View, California 94043
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(650) 210-2900
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements
for the past 90 days Yes x
No ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files). Yes x
No ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer

¨

Non-accelerated filer

¨

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Accelerated filer

x

Smaller reporting company

¨

Yes ¨

No x

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, as of July 29, 2016, was 47,762,362.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Financial Statements
CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands except share data)
(unaudited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Long-term investments
Other assets
Total assets

June 30,
2016
(unaudited)

December 31,
2015

$

21,925
103,784
175
1,157
127,041
858
14,145
230
$ 142,274

$

$

$

$

12,823
58,455
—
757
72,035
949
5,011
160
78,155

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Non-current deferred revenue
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding;
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015;
47,755,595 shares and 44,185,506 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively.
Additional paid-in capital
Note receivable
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes.
3

513
6,720
15,720
22,953
59,660
131
82,744

—

48
351,740
(16)
80
(292,322)
59,530
$ 142,274

675
4,819
—
5,494
—
154
5,648

—

$

44
339,615
(16)
(40)
(267,096)
72,507
78,155
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CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Revenue:
Collaboration and license revenue
Grant revenue
Total revenue

$ 2,620
175
2,795

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Total other income, net
Net loss

9,062
3,877
12,939
(10,144)

$

—
—
—
8,602
3,576
12,178
(12,178)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$ 2,620
175
2,795
20,307
7,961
28,268
(25,473)

$

—
—
—
17,022
7,265
24,287
(24,287)

161
100
247
203
161
100
247
203
$ (9,983) $ (12,078) $ (25,226) $ (24,084)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share
Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per common share

$

See accompanying notes.
4

(0.22) $ (0.28) $ (0.56) $ (0.55)
45,785
43,842
45,031
43,672
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CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Net loss
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
Comprehensive loss

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$(9,983) $ (12,078) $ (25,226) $ (24,084)
64
3
120
81
$(9,919) $ (12,075) $ (25,106) $ (24,003)
See accompanying notes.
5
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CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation of property and equipment
Stock-based compensation
Noncash interest expense, net
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaids and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment, net
Purchases of investments
Maturities of investments
Sales of investments
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$ (25,226) $ (24,084)
173
4,641
(124)

259
4,752
625

(175)
(400)
(70)
(162)
75,380
1,878
55,915

—
72
—
280
—
(3,241)
(21,337)

(82)
(95,907)
41,688
—
(54,301)

(118)
(18,351)
29,700
4,051
15,282

7,000
488
7,488
9,102
12,823
$ 21,925

See accompanying notes.
6

—
1,550
1,550
(4,505)
16,075
$ 11,570
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CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2016
(unaudited)
1.

Description of Business

ChemoCentryx, Inc. (the Company) commenced operations in 1997. The Company is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering,
developing and commercializing orally-administered therapeutics to treat orphan and rare diseases, autoimmune diseases, inflammatory disorders and cancer. The
Company’s principal operations are in the United States and it operates in one segment.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The financial information filed is unaudited. The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report reflect all adjustments (consisting
only of normal recurring adjustments) that the Company considers necessary for the fair statement of the results of operations for the interim periods covered and of
the financial condition of the Company at the date of the interim balance sheet. The December 31, 2015 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet was derived from
audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP). The
results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year or any other interim period. The Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2015 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on March 14, 2016.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its
estimates including, but not limited to, those related to revenue recognition, the period of performance, identification of deliverables and evaluation of milestones
with respect to collaborations.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company invests in a variety of financial instruments and, by its policy, limits the amount of credit exposure with any one issuer, industry or geographic
area.
Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are concentrated in the pharmaceutical industry and government sector. Accordingly, the Company may be
exposed to credit risk generally associated with pharmaceutical companies and government funded entities. The Company has not historically experienced any
significant losses. At June 30, 2016, accounts receivable consisted of amounts due from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration under an Orphan Products
Development grant and the Company believes that the associated credit risks are not significant.
Net Loss Per Share
Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents.
Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the sum of the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding and dilutive common stock equivalent shares outstanding for the period. The Company’s potentially dilutive common stock equivalent shares,
which include incremental common shares issuable upon (i) the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants, (ii) vesting of restricted stock units (RSUs), and
(iii) the purchase from contributions to the 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP), (calculated based on the treasury stock method), are only included in
the calculation of diluted net loss per share when their effect is dilutive.
7
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For the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per
share due to their anti-dilutive effect:
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Options to purchase common stock, including purchases from contributions to ESPP
Restricted stock units
Warrants to purchase common stock

9,352,432
347,111
150,000
9,849,543

7,954,304
58,975
150,000
8,163,279

Revenue Recognition
The Company enters into corporate collaborations under which the Company may obtain upfront license fees, research and development funding, contingent
milestones and royalty payments. The Company’s deliverables under these arrangements typically consist of intellectual property rights and research and
development services. The Company evaluates whether the delivered elements under these arrangements have value to the collaboration partners on a stand-alone
basis and whether objective and reliable evidence of fair value of the undelivered item exists. If the Company determines that multiple deliverables exist, the
consideration is allocated to one or more units of accounting based upon the best estimate of the selling price of each deliverable. The selling price used for each
deliverable will be based on vendor-specific objective evidence, if available, third-party evidence if vendor-specific objective evidence is not available, or
estimated selling price if neither vendor-specific or third-party evidence is available. A delivered item or items that do not qualify as a separate unit of accounting
within the arrangement shall be combined with the other applicable undelivered items within the arrangement. The allocation of arrangement consideration and the
recognition of revenue then shall be determined for those combined deliverables as a single unit of accounting. A delivered item or items that do not have standalone value to the Company’s collaboration partner shall be combined with the other applicable undelivered items within the arrangement. The allocation of
arrangement consideration and the recognition of revenue then shall be determined for those combined deliverables as a single unit of accounting. For a combined
unit of accounting, non-refundable upfront fees and milestones are recognized in a manner consistent with the final deliverable, which has generally been ratably
over the period of performance obligation.
Contingency payments (received upon the achievement of certain events by the Company’s collaborators) and milestone payments (received upon the
achievement of certain events by the Company) are non-refundable and recognized as revenues over the period of the collaboration arrangement. This typically
results in a portion of the payments being recognized at the date the contingency or milestone is achieved, which portion is equal to the applicable percentage of the
performance period that has elapsed at the date of achievement, and the balance being recognized over the remaining performance period of the agreement.
In certain situations, the Company may receive contingent payments after the end of the Company’s period of continued involvement. In such circumstances, the
Company would recognize the full amount of the contingent revenues when the contingency is achieved. Contingency and milestones payments, when recognized
as revenue, are classified as collaboration and license revenues in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Revenue from government and private agency grants are recognized as the related research and development expenses are incurred and to the extent that
funding is approved.
Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive loss comprises net loss and other comprehensive income. For the periods presented other comprehensive income consists of unrealized gains
on the Company’s available-for-sale securities. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, there were no sales of investments, and therefore there were no
reclassifications. For the same periods ended June 30, 2015, amounts reclassified from accumulated other income to net income for unrealized gains (losses) on
available-for-sale securities were not significant, and were recorded as part of other income (expense), net in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Boards (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Updates (ASU) No. 2014-15 (Subtopic 205-40)—
Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern: Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (ASU 2014-15) which
provides guidance about management’s responsibility to evaluate whether or not there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to provide related footnote disclosure. ASU 2014-15 is effective for the Company the year ending December 31, 2016. Early application is permitted.
The adoption of this standard is not expected to have an impact on its financial statements.
8
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In May 2015, the FASB issued a comprehensive new standard on revenue from contracts with customers. The standard’s core principle is that a reporting
entity will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. On July 9, 2015, the FASB voted to delay the effective date of the new standard by one year. The standard
would become effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2018. Early application would be permitted in 2017. Entities would have the option of
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adopt this new guidance. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of its adoption of
this standard on its financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued a new standard that requires all lessees recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet and
disclose qualitative and quantitative information about its leasing arrangements. The new standard will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2019. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.
In March 2016, FASB issued guidance that changes the accounting for certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. The guidance requires the
recognition of the income tax effects of awards in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled, thus eliminating additional paid in capital pools. The
guidance also allows for the employer to repurchase more of an employee’s shares for tax withholding purposes without triggering liability accounting. In addition,
the guidance allows for a policy election to account for forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis. The guidance is effective in 2017 with early
adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its financial statements.
9
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3.

Cash Equivalents and Investments
The amortized cost and fair value of cash equivalents and investments at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were as follows (in thousands):

Money market fund
U.S. treasury securities
Government-sponsored agencies
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities

Amortized
Cost

June 30, 2016
Gross Unrealized
Gains
Losses

$ 21,715
21,133
16,964
20,323
59,429
$ 139,564

$—
59
5
—
22
$ 86

$ —
—
—
—
(6)
$ (6)

Classified as:
Cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Long-term investments
Total available-for-sale securities

Fair
Value

$ 21,715
21,192
16,969
20,323
59,445
$139,644
$ 21,715
103,784
14,145
$139,644

Money market fund
U.S. treasury securities
Government-sponsored agencies
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities
Classified as:
Cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Long-term investments
Total available-for-sale securities

Amortized
Cost

December 31, 2015
Gross Unrealized
Gains
Losses

$ 11,340
14,027
30,959
3,992
14,528
$ 74,846

—
1
—
—
—
$ 1

—
(2)
(25)
—
(14)
$ (41)

Fair
Value

$11,340
14,026
30,934
3,992
14,514
$74,806
$11,340
58,455
5,011
$74,806

Cash equivalents in the tables above exclude cash of $0.2 million and $1.5 million as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. All availablefor-sale securities held as of June 30, 2016 had contractual maturities of less than two years. There have been no significant realized gains or losses on availablefor-sale securities for the periods presented. No available-for-sale securities held as of June 30, 2016 have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more
than 12 months. As of June 30, 2016, unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments are not attributed to credit risk and are considered to be temporary. The
Company believes that it is more-likely-than-not that investments in an unrealized loss position will be held until maturity or the recovery of the cost basis of the
investment. The Company believes it has no other-than-temporary impairments on its securities because it does not intend to sell these securities and it believes it is
not more likely than not that it will be required to sell these securities before the recovery of their amortized cost basis. To date, the Company has not recorded any
impairment charges on marketable securities related to other-than-temporary declines in market value.
10
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4.

Fair Value Measurements
The Company determines the fair value of financial assets and liabilities using three levels of inputs as follows:
Level 1—Inputs which include quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis and the level of inputs used in such measurements are
as follows as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
Description

June 30, 2016
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Money market fund
U.S. treasury securities
Government-sponsored agencies
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
Total assets

$21,715
—
—
—
—
$21,715

Description

$

—
21,192
16,969
20,323
59,445
$117,929

December 31, 2015
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Money market fund
U.S. treasury securities
Government-sponsored agencies
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
Total assets

$11,340
—
—
—
—
$11,340

$ —
—
—
—
—
$ —

$

—
14,026
30,934
3,992
14,514
$ 63,466

$ —
—
—
—
—
$ —

Total

21,715
21,192
16,969
20,323
59,445
$139,644

Total

$ 11,340
14,026
30,934
3,992
14,514
$ 74,806

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 financial assets. When the Company uses observable
market prices for identical securities that are traded in less active markets, the Company classifies its marketable debt instruments as Level 2. When observable
market prices for identical securities are not available, the Company prices its marketable debt instruments using non-binding market consensus prices that are
corroborated with observable market data; quoted market prices for similar instruments; or pricing models, such as a discounted cash flow model, with all
significant inputs derived from or corroborated with observable market data. Non-binding market consensus prices are based on the proprietary valuation models of
pricing providers or brokers. These valuation models incorporate a number of inputs, including non-binding and binding broker quotes; observable market prices
for identical or similar securities; and the internal assumptions of pricing providers or brokers that use observable market inputs and, to a lesser degree,
unobservable market inputs. The Company corroborates non-binding market consensus prices with observable market data using statistical models when
observable market data exists. The discounted cash flow model uses observable market inputs, such as LIBOR-based yield curves, currency spot and forward rates,
and credit ratings.
11
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5.

Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

Research and development related
Compensation related
Consulting and Professional Services
Other

6.

June 30,
2016

December 31,
2015

$ 4,472
1,491
461
296
$ 6,720

$

$

2,223
1,908
454
234
4,819

Related-Party Transactions

Bio-Techne
Bio-Techne Corporation, formerly Techne Corporation, is one of the Company’s principal stockholders. In connection with the Company’s initial public
offering (IPO) in February 2012, Bio-Techne received a warrant with a ten-year term to purchase 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price per share equal to $20.00 per share, or 200% of the IPO price of its common stock, which was outstanding as of June 30, 2016. The Company had an accounts
payable balance due to Bio-Techne for the purchases of research materials of $15,000 and zero as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
7.

Collaboration and License Agreement

In May, 2016, the Company entered into an exclusive collaboration and license agreement with Vifor (International) Ltd., (Vifor) pursuant to which the
Company granted Vifor exclusive rights to commercialize CCX168 in Europe and certain other markets (the CCX168 Agreement). CCX168 is the Company’s lead
drug candidate for the treatment of patients with anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic auto-antibody associated vasculitis and other rare diseases. The Company retained
control of ongoing and future development of CCX168 (other than country-specific development in the licensed territories) and all commercialization rights to
CCX168 in the United States and other countries not licensed to Vifor. The CCX168 Agreement also provides Vifor with an exclusive option to negotiate during
2016 a worldwide license agreement for one of the Company’s other drug candidates, CCX140, an orally administered inhibitor of the chemokine receptor known
as CCR2.
In connection with the CCX168 Agreement, the Company received a non-refundable upfront payment of $85.0 million, comprising $60.0 million in cash and
$25.0 million in the form of an equity investment to purchase 3,333,333 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $7.50 per share. The $85.0 million
upfront consideration has been allocated as follows:
•

$7.0 million for the issuance of 3,333,333 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $2.10 per share, the closing stock price on the effective
date of the agreement, May 9, 2016.

•

$12.5 million, which may be credited against an upfront fee payable by Vifor, should the parties enter into a worldwide license agreement for
CCX140. The amount creditable decreases ratably over time and will fully expire in the fourth quarter of 2016. As of June 30, 2016, the Company
recorded the $12.5 million non-refundable, potential advance payment as noncurrent deferred revenue on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

•

The remaining upfront consideration of $65.5 million will be recognized over the estimated period of performance under the CCX168 Agreement,
which approximates 4.2 years. The deliverables under the CCX168 Agreement consist of intellectual property licenses, development and regulatory
services for the submission of the Marketing Authorization Application (MAA). The Company considered the provisions of the revenue recognition
multiple-element arrangement guidance and concluded that the license and the development and regulatory activities for the submission of the MAA
do not have stand-alone value because the rights conveyed to do not permit Vifor to perform all efforts necessary to use the Company’s technology to
bring the compound through development and, upon regulatory approval, commercialization of the compound. Accordingly, the Company combined
these deliverables and allocated the remaining upfront consideration of $65.5 million into a single unit of accounting. For the three and six months
ended June 30, 2016, the Company recognized $2.6 million under the CCX168 Agreement.

Upon achievement of certain regulatory and commercial milestones with CCX168, the Company will receive additional payments of up to $510.0 million
under the CCX168 Agreement. In addition, the Company will receive royalties, with rates ranging between the teens and mid-twenties, on future potential net sales
of CCX168 by Vifor in the licensed territories.
The Company determined that future contingent payments related to regulatory milestones meet the definition of a substantive milestone under the
accounting guidance. Accordingly, revenue for the achievement of these milestones will be recognized in the period when the milestone is achieved. The Company
will be eligible to receive contingent payments related to commercial milestones
12
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based on the performance of Vifor and these payments are not considered to be milestones under the accounting guidance. These contingent commercial milestone
payments will be included in the allocation of arrangement consideration if and when achieved, resulting in an accounting treatment similar to the upfront
payment. As of June 30, 2016, the Company has not received any milestone payments under the CCX168 Agreement. The Company expects to recognize royalty
revenue in the period of sale of the related product, based on the underlying contract terms.
8.

Government Grant

In April 2016, the Company was awarded an Orphan Products Development grant by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in the amount of $500,000 to
support the clinical development of CCX168. The term of the grant expires in May 2017. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company recognized
$175,000 of grant revenue and such amount was recorded as accounts receivable as of June 30, 2016.
9.

Equity Incentive Plans

Stock Options
During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company had the following option activities under its equity incentive plans:

Available
for Grant

Balance at December 31, 2015
Shares authorized
Granted (1)
Exercised
Forfeited and expired
Balance at June 30, 2016
(1)

2,157,641
1,750,000
(2,033,410)
—
114,225
1,988,456

Shares

7,847,449
1,706,600
(107,500)
(114,225)
9,332,324

Outstanding Options
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted Average
Contractual
Exercise Price
Term

$

8.52

$

3.42
2.05
7.51
7.68

6.95

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$1,853,141

The difference between shares granted in the number of shares available for grant and outstanding options represents the RSUs granted for the period.

Stock-based Compensation
Total stock-based compensation expense was $2.3 million and $4.6 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, and $2.4
million and $4.8 million, respectively, during the same period ended June 30, 2015. As of June 30, 2016, $11.8 million, $1.1 million, and $0.1 million of total
unrecognized compensation expenses associated with outstanding stock options, unvested RSUs, and the ESPP, net of estimated forfeitures, were expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.57, 2.01, and 0.38 years, respectively.
13
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and accompanying notes included in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q and the financial statements and accompanying notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC, on March 14, 2016.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “may,” “could,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “aim,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “predict,” “seek,”
“contemplate,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not
limited to, statements about:
•

the initiation, timing, progress and results of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and our research and development programs;

•

our ability to advance drug candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials;

•

the commercialization of our drug candidates;

•

the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, drug candidates and technology;

•

the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our drug candidates and technology;

•

estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;

•

the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals;

•

our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional government grant funding;

•

our financial performance; and

•

developments relating to our competitors and our industry.

These statements relate to future events or to our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that
may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
these forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those included in
“Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on March 14, 2016.
Any forward-looking statement in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q reflects our current views with respect to future events and is subject to these and
other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to our operations, results of operations, industry and future growth. Given these uncertainties, you should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. For all forward-looking statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking
statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or revise these forwardlooking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available in the future.
ChemoCentryx ® , the ChemoCentryx logo, Traficet™ and Traficet-EN™ are our trademarks in the United States, the European Community, Australia and
Japan. EnabaLink ® and RAM ® are our trademarks in the United States. Each of the other trademarks, trade names or service marks appearing in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q belongs to its respective holder.
Unless the context requires otherwise, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q the terms “ChemoCentryx,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to ChemoCentryx, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation, and our subsidiary taken as a whole.
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Overview
ChemoCentryx is a biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing orally-administered therapeutics to treat orphan
and rare diseases, autoimmune diseases, inflammatory disorders and cancer. Our pipeline comprises the following programs:
Orphan and Rare Diseases:
•

CCX168 is an orally-administered complement inhibitor targeting the C5a receptor (C5aR) and is being developed for orphan and rare diseases,
including anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic auto-antibody associated vasculitis, or AAV, atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome, or aHUS, and
immunoglobulin A-mediated nephropathy, or IgAN. CCX168 has been granted orphan drug designation for the treatment of AAV in the United States
and European Union and has been granted PRIority Medicines, or PRIME, designation from the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, for the
treatment of AAV. The PRIME initiative is designed to enhance supports for the accelerated assessment of investigational therapies addressing unmet
medical need.
CCX168 has successfully completed and reported positive clinical data from two Phase II clinical trials in patients with AAV, known as the CLEAR
and CLASSIC trials. The CLEAR study met its primary endpoint whereby treatment with CCX168 demonstrated numerical superiority and statistical
non-inferiority in Birmingham Vasculitis Activity Score, or BVAS response relative to standard of care, or SOC. Whereas the CLEAR trial was
focused on efficacy outcomes, the CLASSIC study was designed to assess the safety profile of CCX168 when added to the current SOC therapy. The
CLASSIC safety study successfully met its objectives; the addition of CCX168 to SOC therapy did not add safety concerns beyond those seen with
SOC alone. We plan to conduct end-of-Phase II meetings with regulatory agencies and initiate the Phase III development program in patients with
AAV by the end of 2016.

Immuno-Oncology:
•

CCX872 is being evaluated in patients with non-resectable pancreatic cancer, and is our second inhibitor of the chemokine receptor known as CCR2.
CCX872 completed Phase I clinical development in healthy volunteers. A Phase Ib clinical trial in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer is
ongoing. Having recently presented pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic data from the first step of the study, we expect to report early objective
response rate data in the third quarter of 2016 and initial progression free survival data in the fourth quarter of 2016.

•

Chemoattractant Receptor Targets—CCR1, CCR4, CCR5, CCR6, CXCR2, CXCR7—We believe these chemokine and chemoattractant receptors play
an important role in establishing a tumor microenvironment that suppresses a cytotoxic immune response. We have discovered small molecule
inhibitors targeting these chemoattractant receptors, which may be developed in certain oncology indications targeting both solid and liquid tumors.
We believe that such immunotherapeutic agents could be administered as stand-alone therapies or result in a synergistic effect when given in
combination with traditional chemotherapies or other immunotherapies, such as programmed cell death protein 1, or PD-1/programmed death ligand 1,
or PD-L1 antibodies.

Chronic Kidney Disease:
•

CCX140 is an inhibitor of the chemokine receptor known as CCR2 (distinct from CCX872 above) and is being developed as an orally administered
therapy for the treatment of diabetic nephropathy, or DN, a form of chronic kidney disease. We have successfully completed and reported positive data
from a Phase II clinical trial in patients with DN. The trial met its primary endpoint by demonstrating that treatment with 5mg of CCX140 given orally
once daily added to an SOC angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment resulted in a statistically significant
improvement in urinary albumin to creatinine ratio beyond that achieved with SOC alone. We are preparing to conduct an end-of-Phase II meeting
with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA.

Other Inflammatory and Autoimmune Diseases:
•

Th-17 cell-driven inflammation and CCR6—Th-17 driven cells have been implicated in a variety of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases such as
psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and asthma. Th-17 cells express high levels of the chemokine receptor known as CCR6, which induces their migration
to and activation within disease sites. We have a preclinical program in the inhibition of CCR6 which has produced several unique CCR6 inhibitor
leads that are now being optimized through medicinal chemistry approaches, which we plan to advance to a clinical candidate.
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•

Vercirnon (also known as Traficet-EN, or CCX282) is an inhibitor of the chemokine receptor known as CCR9, and being developed as an orally
administered therapy for the treatment of patients with moderate-to-severe Crohn’s disease. Vercirnon is ready to continue development in Phase III
with a partner, should an alliance partner be identified for this program.

•

CCX507 is our second generation CCR9 inhibitor for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease, or IBD. CCX507 has successfully completed
Phase I clinical development, which demonstrated that CCX507 was safe and well-tolerated, and blocked CCR9 on circulating leukocytes. We also
presented preclinical data with CCX507 in combination with an anti- a 4 b 7 or anti-TNF antibody showing combined treatment reduced the severity
of colitis better than monotherapy with either drug alone.

All of our drug candidates are wholly owned and being developed independently by us. Our strategy also includes identification of next generation
compounds related to our drug candidates, all of which have been internally discovered.
Business Highlights and Recent Developments
In June 2016, we announced positive top-line results from our Phase II CLASSIC safety trial with CCX168 in patients with AAV. The goal of the CCX168
development program in AAV is to reduce or eliminate the use of chronic high dose steroids in the current SOC treatment. However, in order to inform potential
regulatory queries and eventual labeling requirements for CCX168 in AAV, the Phase II CLASSIC study was designed to assess the safety profile of CCX168
when added to the current SOC therapy. The CLASSIC safety study met its objectives. CCX168 was shown to be well tolerated in patients with AAV when added
to the current SOC regimen. The incidence of serious adverse events was similar across treatment groups in the study. While the CLASSIC safety study was not
designed or powered for inferential statistical analyses on efficacy, treatment response for each cohort was assessed at week 12 using the BVAS. Results showed
that the BVAS response was numerically higher in patients receiving CCX168 compared to control.
In June 2016, we announced that we received PRIME designation from the EMA, for CCX168 for the treatment of AAV. As described by the EMA, PRIME
aims to bring promising innovative medicines to patients faster by optimizing and supporting medicine development. To be accepted for PRIME, a medicine has to
show its potential to benefit patients with unmet medical needs based on clinical data.
In May 2016, we entered into an exclusive collaboration and license agreement with Vifor (International) Ltd., or Vifor to commercialize our complement
C5aR receptor, CCX168, in Europe and certain other markets, or the CCX168 Agreement. In connection with this agreement, we received a non-refundable upfront
payment of $85.0 million, comprising $60.0 million in cash and $25.0 million in the form of an equity investment to purchase our common stock at a price of $7.50
per share. We retain control of ongoing and future development of CCX168 (other than country-specific development in the licensed territories), and all
commercialization rights to CCX168 in the United States and other countries not licensed to Vifor. Upon achievement of certain regulatory and sales based
milestones with CCX168, we will receive additional payments under this agreement. In addition, we will receive royalties, with rates ranging from the teens to
mid-twenties, on future potential net sales of CCX168 by Vifor in the licensed territories. Lastly, this agreement also provides Vifor with an exclusive option to
negotiate during 2016 a worldwide license agreement for CCX140.
In April 2016, we announced the award of an FDA Orphan Products Development grant of $500,000 to support the clinical development of CCX168, our
lead drug candidate for the treatment of patients with AAV.
Since commencing our operations in 1997, our efforts have focused on research, development and the advancement of our drug candidates into and through
clinical trials. As a result, we have incurred significant losses. We have funded our operations primarily through the sale of convertible preferred and common
stock, contract revenue under our collaborations, government contracts and grants and borrowings under equipment financing arrangements. As of June 30, 2016,
we had an accumulated deficit of $292.3 million. We expect to continue to incur net losses as we develop our drug candidates, expand clinical trials for our drug
candidates currently in clinical development, expand our research and development activities, expand our systems and facilities, seek regulatory approvals and
engage in commercialization preparation activities in anticipation of FDA approval of our drug candidates. In addition, if a product is approved for
commercialization, we will need to expand our organization. Significant capital is required to launch a product and many expenses are incurred before revenues are
received. We are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all.
JOBS Act
In April 2012, the JOBS Act was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can utilize the extended transition period
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for implementing new or revised accounting
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standards. In other words, an emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We have elected to delay such adoption of new or revised accounting standards, and as a result, we may not implement new or revised
accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other companies.
Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company, we intend to rely on certain of these exemptions, including without
limitation, providing an auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 and implementing any
requirement that may be adopted regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit
and the financial statements (auditor discussion and analysis). These exemptions will apply for a period of five years following the completion of our IPO although
if the market value of our common stock that is held by nonaffiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, we would cease to be an emerging
growth company as of the following December 31.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
There have been no material changes in our critical accounting policies during the three months ended June 30, 2016, as compared to those disclosed in
“Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and
Estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on March 14, 2016, other than the following.
Revenue Recognition
We enter into corporate collaboration and license agreements under which we may obtain upfront license fees, research and development funding, contingent
milestone and royalty payments. Our deliverables under these arrangements may include intellectual property rights, distribution rights, delivery of manufactured
product, participation on joint steering committees and/or research and development services. In order to account for the multiple-element arrangements, we
identify the deliverables included within the arrangement and evaluate whether the delivered elements under these arrangements have value to our collaboration
partner on a stand-alone basis and represent separate units of accounting. Analyzing the arrangement to identify deliverables requires the use of judgment, and each
deliverable may be an obligation to deliver future goods or services, a right or license to use an asset, or another performance obligation. If we determine that
multiple deliverables exist, the consideration is allocated to one or more units of accounting based upon the best estimate of the selling price of each deliverable.
The selling price used for each deliverable will be based on vendor-specific objective evidence, if available, third-party evidence if vendor-specific objective
evidence is not available, or estimated selling price if neither vendor-specific or third-party evidence is available. A delivered item or items that do not qualify as a
separate unit of accounting within the arrangement shall be combined with the other applicable undelivered items within the arrangement. The allocation of
arrangement consideration and the recognition of revenue then shall be determined for those combined deliverables as a single unit of accounting. For a combined
unit of accounting, non-refundable upfront fees are recognized in a manner consistent with the final deliverable, which has generally been ratably over the
estimated period of continued involvement. We periodically review the basis for our estimates, and we may change the estimates if circumstances change. These
changes can significantly increase or decrease the amount of revenue recognized. Amounts received in advance of performance are recorded as deferred revenue.
Upfront fees are classified as collaboration and license revenue in our consolidated statements of operations.
We consider sales-based contingent payments to be royalty revenue which is generally recognized at the date the contingency is achieved. Royalties are
classified as license revenues in our consolidated statements of operations.
For certain contingent payments under collaboration and license arrangements, we recognize revenue using the milestone method. Under the milestone
method a payment that is contingent upon the achievement of a substantive milestone is recognized in its entirety in the period in which the milestone is achieved.
A milestone is an event: (i) that can be achieved based in whole or in part on either our performance or on the occurrence of a specific outcome resulting from our
performance, (ii) for which there is substantive uncertainty at the date the arrangement is entered into that the event will be achieved and (iii) that would result in
additional payments being due to us. The determination that a milestone is substantive requires estimation and judgment and is made at the inception of the
arrangement. Milestones are considered substantive when the consideration earned from the achievement of the milestone is: (i) commensurate with either our
performance to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of value of the item delivered as a result of a specific outcome resulting from our performance to achieve
the milestone, (ii) relates solely to past performance and (iii) reasonable relative to all deliverables and payment terms in the arrangement. In making the
determination as to whether a milestone is substantive or not, we consider all facts and circumstances relevant to the arrangement, including factors such as the
scientific, regulatory, commercial and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the respective milestone, the level of effort and investment required to achieve
the respective milestone and whether any portion of the milestone consideration is related to future performance or deliverables.
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Results of Operations
Revenue
We have not generated any revenue from product sales. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, our revenue was derived from the recognition of
the upfront payment related to the CCX168 Agreement, as well as grant revenue from the FDA Orphan Products Development grant to support the clinical
development of CCX168 for the treatment of patients with AAV. Total revenue for the periods, as compared to the same periods in the prior year, were as follows
(in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Collaboration and license revenue
Grant revenue
Total revenues

$ 2,620
175
$ 2,795

Dollar increase
Percentage increase

$ —
—
$ —

$ 2,795
100%

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$ 2,620
175
$ 2,795

$—
—
$—

$ 2,795
100%

The increases in revenue from 2015 to 2016 for the three and six month periods were primarily due to: (i) amortization of the upfront payment from Vifor
and (ii) grant revenue from the FDA to support the clinical development of CCX168 for the treatment of patients with AAV.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses represent costs incurred to conduct basic research, the discovery and development of novel small molecule therapeutics,
development of our suite of proprietary drug discovery technologies, preclinical studies and clinical trials of our drug candidates. We expense all research and
development expenses as they are incurred. These expenses consist primarily of salaries and related benefits, including stock-based compensation, third-party
contract costs relating to research, formulation, manufacturing, preclinical study and clinical trial activities, laboratory consumables, and allocated facility costs.
Total research and development expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, as compared to the same period in the prior year, were as follows (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Research and development expenses
Dollar increase
Percentage increase

$ 9,062
$ 460
5%

$ 8,602

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$20,307
$ 3,285
19%

$17,022

The increase in research and development expenses from 2015 to 2016 for the three month period was primarily attributable to higher expenses associated
with CCX872, our second generation CCR2 inhibitor, following the completion of enrollment of our clinical trial in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. This
increase was partially offset by lower expenses associated with CCX168, our C5aR inhibitor, due to the completion of the CLEAR Phase II clinical trial in Europe
for the treatment of AAV and the completion of the treatment period in the CLASSIC Phase II clinical trial for the same in North America in the 2016 period.
The increase in research and development expenses from 2015 to 2016 for the six month period was primarily attributable to higher expenses associated with
CCX872 for our clinical trial in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer as discussed above and higher expenses associated with CCX168 due to the completion of
ancillary Phase I clinical trials to support anticipated end of Phase II meetings with regulatory agencies.
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The following table summarizes our research and development expenses by project (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Development candidate (Target)
CCX168 (C5aR)
CCX872 (CCR2 2G)
CCX140 (CCR2)
CCX507 (CCR9)
Other (CCR6, C5aR 2G, CCR2 3G, CXCR2, CCR1, CCR9 3G, CCR4, CXCR7, Others)
Total research and development

$ 3,762
1,484
221
15
3,580
$ 9,062

$ 3,985
779
529
—
3,309
$ 8,602

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$ 9,270
3,223
860
49
6,905
$20,307

$ 7,962
1,372
937
75
6,676
$17,022

We track specific project expenses that are directly attributable to our preclinical and clinical development candidates that have been nominated and selected
for further development. Such project specific expenses include third-party contract costs relating to formulation, manufacturing, preclinical studies and clinical
trial activities. Unlike our early stage research and drug discovery programs, we allocate research and development salaries, benefits or indirect costs to our
development candidates and we have included such costs in the project specific expenses. All remaining research and development expenses are reflected in
“Other” which represents early stage drug discovery programs. Such expenses include unallocated employee salaries and related benefits, stock-based
compensation, consulting and contracted services to supplement our in-house laboratory activities, laboratory consumables and allocated facility costs associated
with these earlier stage programs.
At any given time, we typically have several active early stage research and drug discovery projects. Our internal resources, employees and infrastructure are
not directly tied to any individual research or drug discovery project and are typically deployed across multiple projects. As such, we do not maintain information
regarding these costs incurred for our early stage research and drug discovery programs on a project specific basis. We expect our research and development
expenses to increase as we advance our development programs further and increase the number and size of our clinical trials. The process of conducting preclinical
studies and clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming. We or our partners may never succeed in achieving marketing
approval for any of our drug candidates. The probability of success for each drug candidate may be affected by numerous factors, including preclinical data, clinical
data, competition, manufacturing capability and commercial viability. Our strategy includes entering into additional partnerships with third parties for the
development and commercialization of some of our independent drug candidates.
Most of our product development programs are at an early-to-mid-stage; therefore the successful development of our drug candidates is highly uncertain and
may not result in approved products. Completion dates and completion costs can vary significantly for each drug candidate and are difficult to predict for each
product. Given the uncertainty associated with clinical trial enrollments and the risks inherent in the development process, we are unable to determine the duration
and completion costs of the current or future clinical trials of our drug candidates or if, or to what extent, we will generate revenues from the commercialization and
sale of any of our drug candidates. We anticipate we will make determinations as to which programs to pursue and how much funding to direct to each program on
an ongoing basis in response to the scientific and clinical success of each drug candidate, as well as ongoing assessment as to each drug candidate’s commercial
potential. We will need to raise additional capital or may seek additional strategic alliances in the future in order to complete the development and
commercialization of our drug candidates, including CCX168, CCX140, and vercirnon.
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General and administrative expenses
Total general and administrative expenses for the three and six month periods, as compared to the same periods in the prior year were as follows (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

General and administrative expenses
Dollar increase
Percentage increase

$ 3,877
$ 301
8%

$ 3,576

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$7,961
$ 696
10%

$7,265

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related benefits, including stock-based compensation and travel expenses, in executive,
finance, business and corporate development and other administrative functions. Other general and administrative expenses include allocated facility-related costs
not otherwise included in research and development expenses, legal costs of pursuing patent protection of our intellectual property, and professional fees for
auditing, tax, and legal services.
The increase from 2015 to 2016 for the three month period was primarily due to increase in intellectual property related expenses. The increase from 2015 to
2016 for the six month period was primarily due to increase in intellectual property related expenses, as well as travel expenses and professional fees relating to our
business development efforts.
We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we expand our operating activities and incur additional costs associated
with being a public company. These public company related increases will likely include, but not be limited to, investor and public relations expenses, legal and
accounting related fees, and expenses associated with preparing to meet the requirements pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including in connection with
the expiration of our status as an emerging growth company, expected to occur in 2017.
Other income, net
Other income, net primarily consists of interest income earned on our marketable securities. Total other income, net, for the three and six month periods, as
compared to the same periods in the prior year was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Interest income
Total other income, net

$ 161
$ 161

Dollar decrease
Percentage decrease

$

61
61%

$
$

100
100

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$ 247
$ 247

$ 203
$ 203

$ 44
22%

The increase in total other income, net from 2015 to 2016 for the three and six month periods were primarily due to higher cash and investment balances in
the 2016 periods due to the receipt of $85.0 million in connection with the CCX168 Agreement.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of June 30, 2016, we had approximately $139.9 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments. The following table shows a summary of our cash
flows for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$ 55,915
(54,301)
7,488

$ (21,337)
15,282
1,550

Operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $55.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to cash used of $21.3
million for the same period in 2015. This change was primarily due to changes in working capital items. For the six months ended June 2016, changes in working
capital include $75.4 million of deferred revenue in connection with the CCX168 Agreement.
Investing activities. Net cash provided by or used in investing activities for periods presented primarily relate to the purchase and maturity of investments
used to fund the day-to-day needs of our business.
Financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $7.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, which was primarily due to the
receipt of $7.0 million in net proceeds from the issuance of 3,333,333 shares of our common in connection with the CCX168 Agreement. Net cash provided by
financing activities for both periods presented also included proceeds from the exercise of stock options and purchases from contributions to our 2012 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.
We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments as of June 30, 2016, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at
least the next 12 months. However, our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forwardlooking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary materially.
Our future capital requirements are difficult to forecast and will depend on many factors, including:
•

the terms and timing of any other collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;

•

the initiation, progress, timing and completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials for our drug candidates and potential drug candidates;

•

the number and characteristics of drug candidates that we pursue;

•

the progress, costs and results of our clinical trials;

•

the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals;

•

delays that may be caused by changing regulatory approvals;

•

the cost and timing of hiring new employees to support continued growth;

•

the costs involved in filing and prosecuting patent applications and enforcing and defending patent claims;

•

the cost and timing of procuring clinical and commercial supplies of our drug candidates;

•

the cost and timing of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; and

•

the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
There have been no material changes outside the ordinary course of our business to the contractual obligations we reported in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on March 14, 2016.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Boards, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Updates, or ASU, No. 2014-15 (Subtopic 205-40)—
Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern: Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (ASU 2014-15) which
provides guidance about management’s responsibility to evaluate whether or not there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide related footnote disclosure. ASU 2014-15 is effective for us the year ending December 31, 2016. Early application is permitted. The adoption of this
standard is not expected to have an impact on our financial statements.
In May 2015, the FASB issued a comprehensive new standard on revenue from contracts with customers. The standard’s core principle is that a reporting
entity will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. On July 9, 2015, the FASB voted to delay the effective date of the new standard by one year. The standard
would become effective for us beginning in the first quarter of 2018. Early application would be permitted in 2017. Entities would have the option of using either a
full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adopt this new guidance. We are currently evaluating the impact of our adoption of this standard on our
financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued a new standard that requires all lessees recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet and
disclose qualitative and quantitative information about its leasing arrangements. The new standard will be effective for us on January 1, 2019. We are currently
evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.
In March 2016, FASB issued guidance that changes the accounting for certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. The guidance requires the
recognition of the income tax effects of awards in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled, thus eliminating additional paid in capital pools. The
guidance also allows for the employer to repurchase more of an employee’s shares for tax withholding purposes without triggering liability accounting. In addition,
the guidance allows for a policy election to account for forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis. The guidance is effective in 2017 with early
adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our financial statements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Our market risks at June 30, 2016 have not changed significantly from those discussed in “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on March 14, 2016.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of June 30, 2016, management, with the participation of our Disclosure Committee, performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objective.
Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2016, the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2016, that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Not Applicable.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes to the risk factors included in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on March 14, 2016, other than the addition of the following risk factor.
Risks Related to the Securities Markets and an Investment in Our Stock
The results of the United Kingdom’s referendum on withdrawal from the European Union may have a negative effect on global economic conditions, financial
markets and our business.
In June 2016, a majority of voters in the United Kingdom elected to withdraw from the European Union in a national referendum. The referendum was
advisory, and the terms of any withdrawal are subject to a negotiation period that could last at least two years after the government of the United Kingdom formally
initiates a withdrawal process. Nevertheless, the referendum has created significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United Kingdom and the
European Union, including with respect to the laws and regulations that will apply as the United Kingdom determines which European Union laws to replace or
replicate in the event of a withdrawal. The referendum has also given rise to calls for the governments of other European Union member states to consider
withdrawal. These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, have had and may continue to have a material adverse effect on global economic
conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce global market liquidity and restrict the ability of key market participants to
operate in certain financial markets. Any of these factors could depress economic activity and restrict our access to capital, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and reduce the price of our common stock.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Not Applicable.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
Not Applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
Not Applicable.
Item 6. Exhibits
A list of exhibits is set forth on the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
Date: August 9, 2016

/s/ Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.
Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 9, 2016

/s/ Susan M. Kanaya
Susan M. Kanaya
Senior Vice President, Finance,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1 (1)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

3.2 (1)

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

10.1†

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2016, by and between the Registrant and Vifor (International) Ltd.

10.2

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2016, by and between the Registrant and Vifor (International) Ltd.

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101

(1)
†

The following information from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations,
(iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Filed with Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 on January 23, 2012 (Registration No. 333-177332), and incorporated
herein by reference.
Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. These portions have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Exhibit 10.1
Execution Version
CERTAIN MATERIAL (INDICATED BY AN ASTERISK) HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS
DOCUMENT PURSUANT TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT. THE OMITTED
MATERIAL HAS BEEN FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.
COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT
T HIS C OLLABORATION AND L ICENSE A GREEMENT (the “ Agreement ”) is entered into as of May 9, 2016 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and between C
HEMO C ENTRYX , I NC . , a Delaware corporation, having an address at 850 Maude Avenue, Mountain View, CA 94043, U.S. (“ ChemoCentryx ”), and V IFOR
(I NTERNATIONAL ) L TD . , a corporation organized under the laws of Switzerland, having an address at Rechenstrasse 37, CH-9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland (“
VIT ”). ChemoCentryx and VIT may be referred to herein individually as a “ Party ” or collectively as the “ Parties ”.

R ECITALS
W HEREAS , ChemoCentryx is a biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering, developing, and commercializing therapeutics to treat autoimmune
diseases and inflammatory disorders;
W HEREAS , ChemoCentryx is developing a C5aR inhibitor known as CCX168 for the treatment of rare and orphan diseases, including anti-neutrophil
cytoplasmic auto-antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitis, atypical hemolytic-uremic syndrome, and potentially other indications such as C3 glomerulonephritis,
lupus nephritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and IgA nephropathy;
W HEREAS , VIT is an international pharmaceutical company that develops and commercializes innovative and high quality products and therapies
worldwide to improve the life of patients suffering from chronic kidney disease; and
W HEREAS , ChemoCentryx and VIT desire to establish a collaboration for the continued development and, if successful, commercialization of products
containing CCX168 in Europe, Central America, South America, Mexico, Canada, South Korea and Africa, all under the terms and conditions set forth herein.
1.
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A GREEMENT
N OW , T HEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, ChemoCentryx and VIT hereby agree as follows:
1.

D EFINITIONS

1.1 “ Additional Indication ” means an Indication in the Target Field, or in the Field outside the Target Field as mutually agreed by the Parties pursuant to
Section 2.8(a), other than the Initial Indications.
1.2 “ Additional Indication Rejection Condition ” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(f).
1.3 “ Additional Study ” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a).
1.4 “ Affiliate ” means, with respect to any party, any entity that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with such party, but for only so long as such control exists. As used in this Section 1.4, “control” means (a) to possess, directly or indirectly,
the power to direct the management or policies of an entity, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract relating to voting rights, or corporate
governance; or (b) direct or indirect beneficial ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) (or such lesser percentage which is the maximum allowed to be owned
by a foreign corporation in a particular jurisdiction) of the voting share capital or other equity interest in such entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the
purposes of this Agreement, Fresenius Medical Care shall not be considered an Affiliate of VIT, except as provided in Section 1.128.
1.5 “ Alliance Manager ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.5.
1.6 “ API ” means active pharmaceutical ingredient, which is also commonly referred to as drug substance.
1.7 “ A pplicable Laws ” means the applicable provisions of any and all national, supranational, regional, state, and local laws, treaties, statutes, rules,
regulations, administrative codes, guidance, ordinances, judgments, decrees, directives, injunctions, orders, permits (including MAAs) of or from any court,
arbitrator, Regulatory Authority, or governmental agency or authority having jurisdiction over or related to the subject item.
1.8 “ Bulk Drug Product ” means the Product as bulk drug product for Commercial use in the VIT Territory.
1.9 “ Bundled Product ” means the Product (other than a Combination Product) that is either (a) packaged together with another product that does not
contain a Compound for sale or shipment as a single unit or sold at a single price or (b) marketed or sold collectively with such other product as a single product.
1.10 “ Business Day ” means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which the banks in Mountain View, California and in Zurich, Switzerland are open
for business.
1.11 “ Buy In ” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(h).
1.12 “ Calendar Quarter ” means each respective period of three (3) consecutive months ending on March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31.
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1.13 “ Calendar Year ” means each respective period of twelve (12) consecutive months ending on December 31.
1.14 “ CCX140 ” means the CCR2 inhibitor referred to by ChemoCentryx as CCX140, or any salt, hydrate, ester, isomer, or polymorph thereof.
1.15 “ CCX140 Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(b).
1.16 “ CCX140 Date ” means July 31, 2016 or such other date as the Parties may agree pursuant to Section 2.10(c).
1.17 “ Change of Control ” means, with respect to a Party: (a) the sale of all or substantially all of its assets or all of its assets relating to the Product; (b) a
merger, reorganization or consolidation involving such Party in which the holders of the voting securities of such Party outstanding immediately prior thereto cease
to beneficially own at least fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the surviving entity, directly or indirectly, immediately after such merger,
reorganization or consolidation; or (c) a transaction in which an entity or individual, or group of entities and/or individuals acting in concert, acquires more than
fifty percent (50%) of the voting equity securities of such Party.
1.18 “ ChemoCentryx Affiliate ” means any Affiliate of ChemoCentryx; provided that, in the event of a Change of Control of ChemoCentryx, the term “
ChemoCentryx Affiliate ” shall exclude any entity that becomes an Affiliate of ChemoCentryx as a result of such Change of Control and all Affiliates of such
entity (other than ChemoCentryx and its Affiliates in existence as of such Change of Control); provided, however, if such excluded Affiliate Develops or
Commercializes the Product or Compound or otherwise performs any activities or obtains any rights with respect to the Product or Compound, such excluded
Affiliate will be deemed a ChemoCentryx Affiliate.
1.19 “ ChemoCentryx Collaborator ” means any Third Party licensee of ChemoCentryx with respect to the Development and Commercialization of any
Compound or Product in any country outside the VIT Territory, excluding any contract research organization or other Third Party conducting activities on behalf of
ChemoCentryx.
1.20 “ ChemoCentryx Data ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.
1.21 “ ChemoCentryx Indemnitee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2.
1.22 “ ChemoCentryx Know-How ” means all Know-How that ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate Controls as of the Effective Date or during
the Term, including Joint Inventions and Know-How within Product Technology, that is necessary or reasonably useful for the Development, manufacture, or
Commercialization of any Compound or Product in the Field in the VIT Territory, but excluding any Know-How to the extent exclusively related to (a) any
compound (other than a Compound), which compound is proprietary to ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliates or ChemoCentryx Collaborators or (b) the
combination of a Compound with any such proprietary compound. ChemoCentryx Know-How includes the Licensed ChemoCentryx Data.
3.
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1.23 “ ChemoCentryx Patents ” means all Patents that ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate Controls as of the Effective Date or during the Term,
including Joint Patents, that would be infringed, absent a license or other right to practice granted under, or joint ownership rights in, such Patents, by the
Development, manufacture, or Commercialization of any Compound or Product in the Field in the VIT Territory (considering patent applications to be issued with
the then-pending claims), but excluding any Patents to the extent exclusively related to (a) any compound (other than a Compound), which compound is proprietary
to ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliates or ChemoCentryx Collaborators or (b) the combination of a Compound with any such proprietary
compound. The ChemoCentryx Patents existing as of the Effective Date are set forth in the Letter Agreement.
1.24 “ ChemoCentryx Technology ” means the ChemoCentryx Know-How and the ChemoCentryx Patents.
1.25 “ CMC ” means chemistry, manufacturing, and control.
1.26 “ CMO ” means contract manufacturing organization.
1.27 “ Combination Product ” means any Product which comprises two or more APIs, at least one (1) of which is the Compound.
1.28 “ Commercialization ” means the conduct of all activities relating to the commercial use, promotion, marketing, sale, offering for sale, and distribution
(including importing, exporting, transporting, customs clearance, warehousing, invoicing, handling, and delivering the Product to customers) of the Product in the
Field in or outside the VIT Territory, including: (i) applying for Pricing and Reimbursement Approval; (ii) sales force efforts, detailing, advertising, medical
education, planning, marketing, sales force training, and sales and distribution; and (iii) scientific and medical affairs. For clarity, Commercialization does not
include any Development activities, whether conducted before or after Regulatory Approval or Pricing and Reimbursement Approval. “ Commercialize ” and “
Commercializing ” have correlative meanings.
1.29 “ Commercialization Plan ” means a written plan for the Commercialization of the Product, at a level of detail and containing subject matter that is
consistent with, and not in addition to, commercialization plans that VIT and its Affiliates prepare for internal use, as may be updated and amended in accordance
with Section 6.2.
1.30 “ Commercially Reasonable Efforts ” means, with respect to the efforts to be expended by a Party with respect to any objective, including
Development or Commercialization of the Compound or the Product, those reasonable good faith efforts and resources to accomplish such objective that a
similarly-situated company within the biopharmaceutical industry would typically devote to a similar objective under similar circumstances, in each case taking
into account all Relevant Factors in effect at the time such efforts are to be expended, and in the case of the Development, Regulatory Approval, Pricing and
Reimbursement Approval or Commercialization of the Product or Compound in the VIT Territory, those efforts typically devoted to such activities by a similarlysituated company within the biopharmaceutical industry in the relevant country with respect to a compound, product or product candidate which is of
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similar market potential in such country and which is at a similar stage in its development or product life cycle as the Product or Compound, in each case taking
into account all Relevant Factors in effect at the time such efforts are to be expended.
1.31 “ Committee ” means the JSC, JCC, or any subcommittee established by the JSC, as applicable.
1.32 “ Compound ” means the C5aR inhibitor referred to by ChemoCentryx as CCX168, having the structure set forth in the Letter Agreement, or any salt,
hydrate, ester, isomer, or polymorph thereof.
1.33 “ Confidential Information ” of a Party means all Know-How, materials, and other proprietary scientific, marketing, financial, or commercial
information that is: (a) disclosed by or on behalf of such Party or any of its Affiliates or otherwise made available to the other Party or any of its Affiliates, whether
made available orally, in writing, or in electronic form; or (b) learned by the other Party pursuant to this Agreement. The existence and terms of this Agreement are
the Confidential Information of both Parties. All information disclosed by a Party under the Confidentiality Agreement are deemed the Confidential Information of
such Party pursuant to this Agreement.
1.34 “ Confidentiality Agreement ” means that certain Confidentiality Agreement between the Parties dated as of June 5, 2015.
1.35 “ Control ” or “ Controlled ” means, with respect to any Know-How, Patents or other intellectual property rights, the legal authority or right (whether
by ownership, license or otherwise but without taking into account any rights granted by one Party to the other Party pursuant to this Agreement) to grant access, a
license, or a sublicense of or under such Know-How, Patents, or other intellectual property rights to another party, or to otherwise disclose proprietary or trade
secret information to another party, without breaching the terms of any then-existing agreement with a Third Party or misappropriating the proprietary or trade
secret information of a Third Party; provided that a Party shall not Control any Know-How or Patents of a Third Party unless they are in-licensed pursuant to a
Third Party License.
1.36 “ Core Patents ” means (a) all ChemoCentryx Patents that have a priority date on or before the Effective Date and (b) any ChemoCentryx Patents
claiming Product Technology that is then being used in or with the Product that is then being Developed or Commercialized.
1.37 “ Cost of Goods ” means, with respect to any Compound or Product, the cost to manufacture Drug Substance, Bulk Drug Product or finished Product
for clinical use, as applicable, which means: (a) in the case of products and services acquired from Third Parties, payments made to such Third Parties; and (b) in
the case of manufacturing services performed by a Party or its Affiliates, including manufacturing services that are reasonably necessary to support products and
services acquired from Third Parties as contemplated in subsection (a), the actual unit costs of manufacture, plus the variances and other costs specifically provided
for herein. Actual unit costs shall consist of direct material costs, direct labor costs, and manufacturing overhead directly attributable to such Drug Substance, Bulk
Drug Product or finished Product, all calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
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principles. Direct material costs shall include the costs incurred in purchasing materials, including sales and excise taxes imposed thereon, customs duties and
charges levied by government authorities, and all costs of packaging components. Direct labor costs shall include the cost of: (i) employees working in
manufacturing and packaging of such Drug Substance, Bulk Drug Product or finished Product and engaged in direct manufacturing activities; and (ii) direct or
indirect quality control and quality assurance activities. Manufacturing overhead attributable to such Drug Substance, Bulk Drug Product or finished Product shall
include a reasonable allocation of indirect labor costs (not previously included in direct labor costs) and a reasonable allocation of facilities and other overhead
costs. In all cases under clause (b) above and the preceding sentence, Cost of Goods excludes any [***] or any yield loss in excess of [***]. In addition, Cost of
Goods for commercial supply shall not include the cost of process development and validation, stability batches (unless used for sale after Regulatory Approval),
CMC work and similar activities.
1.38 “ Data ” means any and all scientific, technical, test, marketing, or sales data pertaining to any Compound or Product, including research data, clinical
pharmacology data, CMC data (including analytical and quality control data and stability data), pre-clinical data, clinical data, or submissions made in association
with an IND or MAA with respect to any Compound or Product.
1.39 “ Data Package ” means, with respect to any Next Generation Compound, a package of information summarizing all scientific, technical, and test data,
including research data, clinical pharmacology data, CMC data (including analytical and quality control data and stability data), pre-clinical data, and clinical data,
pertaining to the Next Generation Compound and Controlled by ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate. For clarity, the Parties agree that any Data Package
shall include information substantially similar in quality and detail to the information provided by ChemoCentryx to VIT in connection with its evaluation of the
Product and the Compound, taking into account differences between the Next Generation Compound and the Product.
1.40 “ Develop ” means to develop (including clinical, nonclinical, and CMC development), analyze, test, and conduct preclinical, clinical, and all other
regulatory trials for a Compound or Product, including all post-approval clinical trials, as well as all related regulatory activities and any and all activities pertaining
to new Indications, pharmacokinetic studies, and all related activities including work on new formulations, new methods of treatment, and CMC activities including
new manufacturing methods. For clarity, Development includes clinical trials and studies that VIT (or its Affiliate or Sublicensee) is required to perform in the VIT
Territory. “ Developing ” and “ Development ” have correlative meanings.
1.41 “ Development Plan ” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).
1.42 “ Distributor ” means, with respect to one or more countries in the VIT Territory, any entity that (a) is not a Sublicensee or Affiliate of VIT, (b)
purchases Product from VIT or its
***
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Affiliates or Sublicensees for such country(ies), (c) assumes responsibility from VIT or its Affiliate or Sublicensee for all or a portion of the Commercialization of
Product in such country(ies), and (d) sells Product in such country(ies) without providing any consideration to VIT or its Affiliate or Sublicensee on account of
such sale.
1.43 “ Divestiture ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(c)(ii).
1.44 “ Drug Substance ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
1.45 “ EMA ” means the European Medicines Agency or any successor entity thereto.
1.46 “ EU ” means the European Union as constituted at the applicable time.
1.47 “ European Patent Convention ” means the Convention on the Grant of European Patents of 5 October 1973, as amended.
1.48 “ Excluded Claim ” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.3(f).
1.49 “ Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).
1.50 “ Executive Officers ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(b).
1.51 “ Expert Arbitrators ” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.4(a).
1.52 “ Export Control Laws ” means all applicable U.S. laws and regulations relating to (a) sanctions and embargoes imposed by the Office of Foreign
Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury or (b) the export or re-export of commodities, technologies, or services, including the Export Administration
Act of 1979, 24 U.S.C. §§ 2401-2420, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. §§ 1701-1706, the Trading with the Enemy Act, 50 U.S.C. §§
1 et. seq., the Arms Export Control Act, 22 U.S.C. §§ 2778 and 2779, and the International Boycott Provisions of Section 999 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of
1986 (as amended).
1.53 “ FCPA ” means the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (15 U.S.C. Section 78dd-1, et. seq.), as amended.
1.54 “ FDA ” means the United States Food and Drug Administration or any successor entity thereto.
1.55 “ Field ” means all therapeutic, prophylactic and diagnostic uses of the Product and the Compound in humans, including the Target Field.
1.56 “ First Commercial Sale ” means, on a country-by-country basis, the first sale by VIT or any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees to a Third Party for end
use or consumption of the Product in a given country in the VIT Territory, after Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval has been granted
with respect to the Product in such country.
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1.57 “ Fresenius Medical Care ” means Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, a partnership organized under the laws of Germany with its corporate
headquarters in Bad Homburg v.d.H., Germany.
1.58 “ FTE ” means a full-time person dedicated by ChemoCentryx or VIT to medical and clinical affairs, regulatory, or preclinical or pharmaceutical
development activities under the Development Plan as provided in Article 4, or in the case of less than a full-time dedicated person, a full-time equivalent person
year, based upon a total one thousand eight hundred twenty (1,820) hours per year of work on or directly related to the Development Plan. Such activities to be
performed by ChemoCentryx or VIT employees may include protocol writing, medical monitoring, recording and writing up results, data analysis, reviewing
literature and references, holding scientific discussions, seminars and symposia, managing and directing scientific staff, overseeing and coordinating Product
supply, and carrying out management duties directly related to the Development Plan.
1.59 “FTE Rate” means, for purposes of determining ChemoCentryx’s or VIT’s internal development costs, initially an amount equal to $[***] per FTE per
year; on January 1, 2017, and annually thereafter, such amount shall be increased by [***]. Such FTE rate includes all benefits and any applicable overhead.
1.60 “ Galenica ” means Galenica AG with its registered seat at Untermattweg 8, 3000 Bern, Switzerland. As of the Effective Date, Galenica owns 100% of
Vifor Pharma Participations Ltd and Vifor Pharma Participations Ltd owns 100% of VIT. It is acknowledged and agreed that Galenica may be spinning-off Vifor
Pharma Participations Ltd as part of its restructuring.
1.61 “ Generic Product ” means, with respect to the Product in a particular country, regulatory jurisdiction, or region, any pharmaceutical product that (a) (i)
contains the same APIs as the Product for the same route of administration as the Product and is approved by the Regulatory Authority in such country, regulatory
jurisdiction, or region (for an Indication for which the Product obtained Regulatory Approval from the applicable Regulatory Authority in such country, regulatory
jurisdiction or region); or (ii) is approved by the Regulatory Authority in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region as a substitutable generic for the Product
(for an Indication for which the Product obtained Regulatory Approval from the applicable Regulatory Authority in such country, region or jurisdiction) in
accordance with applicable regulations of such Regulatory Authority; and (b) is sold in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region by ChemoCentryx, its
Affiliates or a Third Party (excluding any Third Party that is a Sublicensee) who did not purchase such pharmaceutical product in a chain of distribution that
included any of VIT or its Affiliates or Sublicensees.
1.62 “ Global Trademark ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.12(a).
1.63 “ Governmental Authority ” means any national, international, federal, state, provincial, or local government, or political subdivision thereof, or any
multinational
***
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organization or any authority, agency, or commission entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority
or power, any court or tribunal (or any department, bureau or division thereof, or any governmental arbitrator or arbitral body).
1.64 “ ICC ” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.3(a).
1.65 “ ICC Rules ” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.3(a).
1.66 “ ICH ” means the International Conference on Harmonization (of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use).
1.67 “ IND ” means an investigational new drug application, clinical trial authorization or equivalent application filed with the applicable Regulatory
Authority, which application is required to commence human clinical trials in the applicable country.
1.68 “ Indication ” means any specific disease or medical condition in humans.
1.69 “ Initial Indications ” means a total of [***] Indications in the Target Field (or outside the Target Field as agreed in writing by the Parties), including
(a) ANCA-associated vasculitis (“ AAV ”), (b) atypical hemolytic-uremic syndrome (“ aHUS ”) or, if Development in aHUS is discontinued before Initiation of a
Phase 2 Clinical Trial designed to have a clinical endpoint, any replacement Indication for which the JSC determines to develop the Product and (c) [***] in the
Target Field, such as [***], for which the JSC determines to develop the Product (or as otherwise agreed by the Parties in writing).
1.70 “ Initiate ” means, with respect to a clinical trial, the first dosing of the first subject in such clinical trial.
1.71 “ Inventions ” means all inventions, whether or not patentable, discovered, made, conceived, or conceived and reduced to practice, in the course of
activities contemplated by this Agreement.
1.72 “ Joint Commercialization Committee ” or “ JCC ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2.
1.73 “ Joint Inventions ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2.
1.74 “ Joint Manufacturing Subcommittee ” or “ JMC ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
1.75 “ Joint Patent ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2.
1.76 “ Joint Technology ” means Joint Inventions and Joint Patents.
***
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1.77 “ Joint Steering Committee ” or “ JSC ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.
1.78 “ Know-How ” means any information, including discoveries, improvements, modifications, processes, methods, techniques, protocols, formulas, data,
inventions, know-how, trade secrets, patentable or otherwise, and results, including without limitation physical, chemical, biological, toxicological,
pharmacological, safety, and pre-clinical and clinical data, dosage regimens, control assays, and product specifications, but excluding any Patents.
1.79 “ Knowledge ” means, as applied to a Party, that such Party has the actual knowledge of a particular fact or other matter.
1.80 “ Letter Agreement ” means that certain letter agreement of even date herewith by and between ChemoCentryx and VIT, including all exhibits thereto.
1.81 “ Licensed ChemoCentryx Data ” means the ChemoCentryx Data, excluding any Data related to any compound (other than the Compound) that is
proprietary to ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates or ChemoCentryx Collaborators or related to the combination of the Compound with any such proprietary compound.
1.82 “ Licensed VIT Data ” means the VIT Data, excluding any (a) Data related to treatment algorithms or patient care programs, (b) Data related to any
compound that is proprietary to VIT, any of its Affiliates or their Third Party licensees or Sublicensees or the combination of a Compound with any such
proprietary compound, and (c) Data resulting from development or commercialization efforts that are not conducted under this Agreement and do not use the
Compound or the Product or any ChemoCentryx Technology, including, without limitation, Data not directly related to the Compound or the Product that has been
developed by VIT, any of its Affiliates or any Third Party under independent research programs or agreements (e.g. generic drug delivery Data) without use of the
Compound or the Product or any ChemoCentryx Technology.
1.83 “ Losses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.1.
1.84 “ MAA ” means a marketing authorization application or equivalent application, and all amendments and supplements thereto, filed with the applicable
Regulatory Authority in any country or jurisdiction.
1.85 “ Major Market Countries ” means France, Switzerland, Germany, Italy, Spain, the United Kingdom, Brazil, Canada, Mexico, and South Korea.
1.86 “ Middle East ” means Bahrain, Iran, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Oman, Palestinian territories, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, and
Yemen. For clarity, Middle East excludes Israel and Turkey.
1.87 “ Milestone Event ” means any event identified in Section 8.2 or 8.3.
1.88 “ Milestone Payment ” means any payment identified in Section 8.2 or 8.3 to be made by VIT to ChemoCentryx on the occurrence of a Milestone
Event.
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1.89 “ Net Sales ” means, with respect to the Product, the gross amounts invoiced for sales or other dispositions of the Product during the Royalty Term by
or on behalf of VIT and its Affiliates and Sublicensees to Third Parties (other than Sublicensees but including to Distributors and Wholesalers), less the following
deductions to the extent included in the gross invoiced sales price for the Product or otherwise directly paid or incurred by VIT or its Affiliates or Sublicensees, as
applicable, with respect to the sale or other disposition of the Product:
(a) normal and customary trade and quantity discounts actually allowed and properly taken directly with respect to sales of the Product;
(b) credits or allowances given or made for rejection or return of previously sold Product or for retroactive price reductions and billing errors;
(c) rebates and chargeback payments granted to managed health care organizations, pharmacy benefit managers (or equivalents thereof), national,
state/provincial, local, and other governments, their agencies and purchasers and reimbursers, or to trade customers;
(d) costs of freight, insurance, and other transportation charges directly related to the distribution of the Product;
(e) clawback taxes, tariffs, duties, excises, value added tax and other sales taxes, and other taxes imposed upon and paid with respect to the sale,
transportation, delivery, use, exportation, or importation of the Product (which does not include income taxes), as adjusted for rebates and refunds;
(f) prompt-pay discounts and discounts in the form of [***] and reasonably allocated to the Product; and
(g) [***] relating to the sale of the Product that are [***]; provided that (A) any such amounts that are [***] and (B) [***] the amounts deducted
pursuant to this Section 1.89(g) with respect to any reporting period [***] for sales or other dispositions of the Product during such reporting period by on behalf of
VIT, its Affiliates and Sublicensees to Third Parties (other than Sublicensees).
Such amounts shall be determined in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, consistently applied.
Net Sales will not include Products transferred at no profit for use in connection with clinical trials or other development activity, pre-clinical research and
trials, promotional use (including samples), compassionate sales or use, indigent programs, investigator initiated trials, or on a named patient basis.
***

Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the
omitted portions.
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Upon any sale or other disposition of the Product that should be included within Net Sales for any consideration other than exclusively monetary
consideration on bona fide arms’-length terms, then for purposes of calculating Net Sales under this Agreement, the Product shall be deemed to be sold exclusively
for money at the average sales price during the applicable reporting period generally achieved for the Product in the country in which such sale or other disposition
occurred when the Product is sold alone and not with other products.
In no event will any particular amount identified above be deducted more than once in calculating Net Sales. Sales of the Product between VIT and its
Affiliates or Sublicensees for resale shall be excluded from the computation of Net Sales, but the subsequent resale of the Product to a Third Party shall be included
within the computation of Net Sales.
In the event of a Combination Product, the Net Sales from the Combination Product, for the purposes of determining royalty payments, will be determined
by multiplying the Net Sales of the Combination Product in a particular country, during the applicable royalty reporting period, by the fraction, A/(A+B), where A
is the average sale price of the Product containing the Compound as the only API when sold separately in finished form and B is the average sale price of the other
API(s) included in the Combination Product when sold separately in finished form (the “ Other Product ”), in each case in such country during the applicable
royalty reporting period or, if sales of both the Product containing the Compound as the only API and the Other Product did not occur in such period, then in the
most recent royalty reporting period in which sales of both occurred in such country.
If the Product containing the Compound as the only API is sold separately in such country, but the Other Product has not been sold separately in such
country, Net Sales will be determined by multiplying the Net Sales of the Combination Product in such country, during such reporting period, by the fraction A/C,
where C is the average sale price of the Combination Product in such country during the applicable royalty reporting period.
If the Other Product is sold separately in such country, but the Product containing the Compound as the only API has not been sold separately in such
country, Net Sales will be determined by multiplying the Net Sales of the Combination Product in such country, during such reporting period, by the fraction 1B/C.
In the event that such average sale price cannot be determined for both the Product containing the Compound as the only API and the Other Product, Net
Sales for the purposes of determining royalty payments will be calculated by multiplying the Net Sales of the Combination Product by the fraction D/(D+E), where
D is the fair market value of the Product containing the Compound as the only API and E is the fair market value of the Other Product. In such event, the Parties
will in good faith make a determination of the respective fair market values of the Product containing the Compound as the only API and the Other Product. If the
Parties fail to agree within thirty (30) days after commencing discussions (or such longer period as the Parties may agree), the matter will be submitted to an
independent mutually agreed Third Party expert for resolution, whose decision will be final and binding on the Parties.
If the Product is sold as part of a Bundled Product, the invoiced price for the Product included in such Bundled Product will not be discounted by a greater
percentage than the percentage at which the invoiced price of the other products included in such Bundled Product are discounted.
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1.90 “ Next Generation Compound ” means any pharmaceutical product, other than the Product, that inhibits the function of the complement component
known as C5 or the chemoattractant receptor known as C5aR or its ligands as its primary mechanism of action, unless such inhibition of the function of the
component known as C5 occurs only as an indirect consequence of inhibition of one or more components of the complement cascade that are upstream of C5 and
C5aR.
1.91 “ Next Generation Compound Option ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(b).
1.92 “ Non-Proposing Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(a).
1.93 “ Option Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(d).
1.94 “ Patents ” means (a) all patents, certificates of invention, applications for certificates of invention, priority patent filings, and patent applications, and
(b) any renewals, divisions, continuations (in whole or in part), or requests for continued examination of any of such patents, certificates of invention and patent
applications, and any and all patents or certificates of invention issuing thereon, and any and all reissues, reexaminations, extensions, divisions, renewals,
substitutions, confirmations, registrations, revalidations, revisions, and additions of or to any of the foregoing.
1.95 “ Phase 1 Clinical Trial ” means a human clinical trial in any country conducted in a small number of volunteers designed or intended to establish an
initial safety profile, pharmacodynamics, or pharmacokinetics of the Product and that would satisfy the requirements of 21 CFR 312.21(a) of foreign equivalent.
1.96 “ Phase 2 Clinical Trial ” means a human clinical trial of the Product in any country to determine initial efficacy and dose range finding and that
would satisfy the requirements of 21 CFR 312.21(b) or foreign equivalent.
1.97 “ Phase 3 Clinical Trial ” means a pivotal human clinical trial of the Product in any country with a defined dose or a set of defined doses of the
Product designed to ascertain efficacy and safety of such Compound or Product for the purpose of submitting applications for Regulatory Approval to the
competent Regulatory Authorities and that would satisfy the requirements of 21 CFR 312.21(c) or foreign equivalent.
1.98 “ Phase IV Clinical Trial ” means a clinical study of a pharmaceutical product on human subjects commenced after receipt of Regulatory Approval of
such pharmaceutical product for the purpose of satisfying a condition imposed by a Regulatory Authority to obtain Regulatory Approval, or to support the
marketing of such pharmaceutical product, and not for the purpose of obtaining initial Regulatory Approval of a pharmaceutical product.
1.99 “ Pricing and Reimbursement Approval ” means, with respect to the Product, the approval, agreement, determination, or decision of the commercial
payor or the applicable
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Governmental Authority responsible for approving and establishing the price or level of reimbursement for the Product, as required in a given country or
jurisdiction prior to sale of the Product in such jurisdiction.
1.100 “ Product ” means any pharmaceutical product for systemic administration that contains a Compound as an API, alone or in combination with one (1)
or more other APIs, in any dosage form or formulation.
1.101 “ Product Technology ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.4(a).
1.102 “ Proposing Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(a).
1.103 “ Regulatory Approval ” means any and all approvals, licenses, registrations, permits, notifications, and authorizations (or waivers) of any applicable
Regulatory Authority, that are necessary for the manufacture, use, storage, import, transport, promotion, marketing, distribution, offer for sale, sale, or other
commercialization of the Product in a given country or regulatory jurisdiction. Regulatory Approval does not include any Pricing and Reimbursement Approval.
1.104 “ Regulatory Authority ” means any applicable Governmental Authority responsible for granting Regulatory Approvals for the Product, including the
FDA, the EMA, and any corresponding national or regional regulatory authorities.
1.105 “ Regulatory Exclusivity ” means any exclusive marketing rights or data exclusivity rights conferred by any Regulatory Authority with respect to a
pharmaceutical product other than Patents, including orphan drug exclusivity, new chemical entity exclusivity, data exclusivity, or pediatric exclusivity.
1.106 “ Regulatory Filings ” means any regulatory application, submission, notification, communication (including meeting minutes), correspondence,
registration, briefing documents, and other filings made to, received from, or otherwise conducted with a Regulatory Authority in order to Develop, manufacture, or
Commercialize a Compound or Product in a particular country or jurisdiction, including any IND, MAA, or Regulatory Approval. Regulatory Filings do not apply
to any Pricing and Reimbursement Approval.
1.107 “ Relevant Factors ” means, to the extent applicable to the Compound or Product, actual and potential issues of safety, efficacy or stability; product
profile (including product modality, category and mechanism of action); stage of development or life cycle status; actual and projected development, Regulatory
Approval, Pricing and Reimbursement Approval, manufacturing, and commercialization costs; any issues regarding the ability to manufacture or have
manufactured the Product; the likelihood of obtaining Regulatory Approvals and Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals; the timing of such approvals; the current
guidance and requirements for Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval for the Product and similar products and the current and projected
regulatory status; labeling or anticipated labeling; the then-current competitive environment and the likely competitive environment at the time of projected entry
into the market and thereafter; present and future market potential; existing or projected pricing, sales, reimbursement and profitability; pricing or reimbursement
changes in relevant countries; proprietary position, strength and duration of patent protection and
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anticipated exclusivity; Commercialization by VIT after the expiration of the Royalty Term of both that Product that uses the ChemoCentryx Trademarks and the
Product that does not use the ChemoCentryx Trademarks, and other relevant scientific, technical, operational and commercial factors.
1.108 “ Relevant Indication ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(d).
1.109 “ Representatives ” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.9.
1.110 “ Review Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(c).
1.111 “ Royalty Term ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.4(b).
1.112 “ Safety Data ” means Data generated by or on behalf of VIT or its Affiliates or Sublicensees or by or on behalf of ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates or
ChemoCentryx Collaborators, related solely to any adverse drug experiences and serious adverse drug experience as such information is reportable to Regulatory
Authorities in or outside the VIT Territory. Safety Data also includes “adverse events”, “adverse drug reactions” and “unexpected adverse drug reactions” as
defined in the ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guideline for Clinical Safety Data Management: Definitions and Standards for Expedited Reporting.
1.113 “ Safety Data Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.
1.114 “ SEC ” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or any successor entity.
1.115 “ Sole Inventions ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2.
1.116 “ Standstill Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.9.
1.117 “ Stock Purchase Agreement ” means the agreement between VIT and ChemoCentryx regarding the purchase of stock contemplated under Section
8.1(b).
1.118 “ Sublicensee ” means a Third Party to whom VIT grants a sublicense under the ChemoCentryx Technology to Develop, use, import, promote, offer
for sale or sell any Compound or Product in the Field in the VIT Territory (either independently from or in cooperation with VIT), beyond the mere right to
purchase the Product from or to provide services on behalf of VIT and its Affiliates. In no event shall ChemoCentryx or any of its Affiliates be deemed a
Sublicensee.
1.119 “ Supply Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.
1.120 “ Target Field ” means the diagnosis, treatment, prevention and palliation of any rare or orphan disease in humans, as defined by FDA under 21 CFR
Part 316, as amended, by the EMA under applicable regulations or by any other applicable Regulatory Authority under Applicable Laws in the VIT Territory,
including anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic auto-antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitis (AAV), atypical hemolytic-uretic syndrome (aHUS), C3 glomerulonephritis
(C3GN), lupus nephritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and IgA nephropathy (IgAN).
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1.121 “ Term ” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1.
1.122 “ Third Party ” means any entity other than ChemoCentryx or VIT or an Affiliate of ChemoCentryx or VIT.
1.123 “ Third Party License ” means any Third Party agreement that is deemed to be a Third Party License pursuant to Section 2.7.
1.124 “ Third Party Technology means any Patents or Know-How Controlled by a Third Party that are necessary or reasonably useful to Develop,
manufacture or Commercialize any Compound or Product in the Field.
1.125 “ Trademark ” means any word, name, symbol, color, designation or device or any combination thereof, including any trademark, trade dress, brand
mark, service mark, trade name, brand name, logo or business symbol, whether or not registered.
1.126 “ U.S. ” means the United States of America, including its territories and possessions.
1.127 “ Valid Claim ” means (a) a claim of an issued and unexpired ChemoCentryx Patent (including any Joint Patent) that has not been revoked or held
unenforceable or invalid by a Governmental Authority in a final and non-appealable judgment (or judgment from which no appeal was taken within the allowable
time period), and that has not been abandoned, disclaimed, denied, or admitted to be invalid or unenforceable through reissue, re-examination or disclaimer or
otherwise; or (b) a claim in any pending ChemoCentryx Patent in the VIT Territory that has not been abandoned or finally disallowed without the possibility of
appeal or re-filing of the application; provided that such claim has not been pending more than seven (7) years from the priority date of such application (but if such
pending claim with a pendency of seven (7) years or longer subsequently issues it will be considered a Valid Claim upon issuance).
1.128 “ VIT Affiliate ” means any Affiliate of VIT; provided that, in the event of a Change of Control of VIT, the term “ VIT Affiliate ” shall exclude any
entity that becomes an Affiliate of VIT as a result of such Change of Control and all Affiliates of such entity (other than VIT and its Affiliates in existence as of
such Change of Control); provided, however, if such excluded Affiliate Develops or Commercializes or otherwise performs any activities or obtains any rights with
respect to the Product or Compound, such excluded Affiliate will be deemed a VIT Affiliate. For purposes of this Agreement, Fresenius Medical Care will be an
Affiliate of VIT if it meets the definition of Affiliate by acquiring voting share capital or other equity interest in VIT representing more than fifty percent (50%) of
such interest.
1.129 “ VIT Data ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.
1.130 “ VIT Indemnitee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.1.
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1.131 “ VIT Know-How ” means all Know-How that VIT or any VIT Affiliate Controls as of the Effective Date or during the Term, including Joint
Inventions, that is necessary for the research, Development, manufacture, use, importation, offer for sale or sale of any Compound or Product in the Field. VIT
Know-How includes the Licensed VIT Data. VIT Know-How does not include (a) Know-How related to treatment algorithms or patient care programs, (b) KnowHow to the extent exclusively related to any compound, which compound is proprietary to VIT, any VIT Affiliates or their Third Party licensees/Sublicensees or
related to the combination of a Compound with any such proprietary compound, and (c) Know-How resulting from development or commercialization efforts that
are not conducted under this Agreement, including, without limitation, Know-How not directly related to the Compound or the Product that has been developed by
VIT, any VIT Affiliates or any Third Party under independent research programs or agreements (e.g. generic drug delivery Know-How).
1.132 “ VIT Patents ” means all Patents that VIT or any VIT Affiliate Controls as of the Effective Date or during the Term, including Joint Patents, that
would be infringed, absent a license or other right to practice granted under, or joint ownership rights in, such Patents, by the research, Development, manufacture,
use, importation, offer for sale or sale of any Compound or Product (considering patent applications to be issued with the then-pending claims). VIT Patents does
not include any Patent (a) relating to treatment algorithms or patient care programs, (b) to the extent exclusively related to any compound that is proprietary to VIT,
any VIT Affiliates or their Third Party licensees/Sublicensees or related to the combination of a Compound with any such proprietary compound, and (c) any Patent
resulting from development or commercialization efforts that are not conducted under this Agreement and do not use the Compound or the Product or any
ChemoCentryx Technology, including, without limitation, Patents not directly related to the Compound or the Product that have been developed by VIT, any VIT
Affiliate or any Third Party under independent research programs or agreements (e.g. generic drug delivery Patents) without use of the Compound or the Product or
any ChemoCentryx Technology.
1.133 “ VIT Technology ” means the VIT Know-How and the VIT Patents.
1.134 “ VIT Territory ” means Europe, Central America, South America, Mexico, Canada, South Korea, and Africa, and, if the CCX140 Agreement is
executed before October 31, 2016, in accordance with Section 2.10, the Middle East.
1.135 “ Wholesaler ” means any Third Party whose role with respect to Product in the VIT Territory is only to (a) provide inventory management, logistics
or shipping services on behalf of VIT, its Affiliates, Sublicensees or Distributors, or (b) resell products to customers without providing any consideration to VIT or
its Affiliate or Sublicensee on account of such sale.
2.

G RANT OF L ICENSES

2.1 Licenses Granted to VIT. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, ChemoCentryx hereby grants to VIT the following licenses, during
the Term:
(a) an exclusive (even as to ChemoCentryx), royalty bearing license, with the right to grant sublicenses as provided in Section 2.2, under the
ChemoCentryx Technology to
17.

Execution Version
seek Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval for and Commercialize the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory, which license includes
the rights (i) to incorporate Licensed ChemoCentryx Data in Regulatory Filings with Regulatory Authorities in the VIT Territory and in filings for Pricing and
Reimbursement Approval in the VIT Territory; and (ii) to cross-reference Regulatory Filings Controlled by ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate or, to
the extent ChemoCentryx has obtained the right to cross-reference Regulatory Filings Controlled by a ChemoCentryx Collaborator, such ChemoCentryx
Collaborator outside the VIT Territory, in each case (i) and (ii) solely for the purpose of obtaining Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval
for the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory;
(b) a non-exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses as provided in Section 2.2, under the ChemoCentryx Technology to manufacture and
have manufactured the Product in and outside the VIT Territory solely for use in exercising the licenses granted in Section 2.1(a) and (c) (subject to Article 7); and
(c) an exclusive license in the VIT Territory in the Field, and a non-exclusive license outside the VIT Territory in the Field (if applicable under the
Development Plan), to conduct those Development activities allocated to VIT in the Development Plan.
2.2 Sublicenses. VIT shall have the right to grant sublicenses, through multiple tiers, under the licenses granted in Section 2.1 without ChemoCentryx’s
consent to (i) any Affiliate of VIT, (ii) Fresenius Medical Care and its Affiliates, and (iii) Third Parties listed in the Letter Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt,
if VIT desires to grant a sublicense to a Third Party not included in Sections 2.2(i), (ii) or (iii), it must obtain ChemoCentryx’s prior written consent, which consent
will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. All sublicenses granted under the licenses granted in Section 2.1 shall be in writing and shall be subject
to, and consistent with, the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If ChemoCentryx does not respond to a notice under this Section 2.2 within twenty (20)
Business Days, ChemoCentryx’s consent will be deemed to be granted. VIT shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause each agreement with a
Sublicensee to include the right of VIT to grant to ChemoCentryx rights with respect to all Data, Inventions, and Regulatory Filings made or generated by such
Sublicensee as if such Data, Inventions, and Regulatory Filings were made or generated by VIT. VIT shall be responsible for the compliance of its Affiliates and
Sublicensees with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Upon ChemoCentryx’s request, for sublicenses covering the Major Market Countries, VIT shall
provide ChemoCentryx with a full and complete copy of each agreement under which VIT or its Affiliate or Sublicensee grants a sublicense to a Third Party
(provided that VIT may redact any confidential information contained therein that is not necessary to confirm compliance with this Agreement, including financial
terms).
2.3 Licenses Granted to ChemoCentryx. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, VIT hereby grants to ChemoCentryx the following
licenses during the Term:
(a) an exclusive, royalty-free, fully-paid license, with the right to grant sublicenses as provided in Section 2.3(c), under the VIT Technology (including
the Joint Technology) (A) to conduct those Development activities allocated to ChemoCentryx in the Development Plan and (B) to Develop, seek Regulatory
Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval for, and Commercialize the Product in the Field outside the VIT
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Territory, which license includes the rights (i) to incorporate Licensed VIT Data in Regulatory Filings with Regulatory Authorities and in filings for Pricing and
Reimbursement Approval outside the VIT Territory and (ii) to cross-reference Regulatory Filings Controlled by VIT or VIT Affiliates or, to the extent VIT has
obtained the right to cross-reference Regulatory Filings Controlled by Sublicensees, Sublicensees in the VIT Territory, in each case solely for the purpose of
obtaining Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval for the Product in the Field outside the VIT Territory; and
(b) a non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully-paid, worldwide license, with the right to grant sublicenses as provided in Section 2.3(c), under the VIT
Technology to make and have made the Product in and outside the VIT Territory for sale outside the VIT Territory or to VIT in the VIT Territory.
(c) ChemoCentryx shall have the right to grant sublicenses, through multiple tiers, under the licenses granted in Section 2.3 without VIT’s prior
written consent. All sublicenses granted under the licenses granted in Section 2.3 shall be in writing and shall be subject to, and consistent with, the terms and
conditions of this Agreement. ChemoCentryx shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause each sublicense agreement to include the right of ChemoCentryx
to grant to VIT rights with respect to all Data, Inventions, and Regulatory Filings made or generated by the sublicensee as if such Data, Inventions, and Regulatory
Filings were made or generated by ChemoCentryx. ChemoCentryx shall be responsible for the compliance of its Affiliates and sublicensees with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement. Upon VIT’s request, ChemoCentryx shall provide VIT with a full and complete copy of each sublicense agreement (provided that
ChemoCentryx may redact any confidential information contained therein that is not necessary to confirm compliance with this Agreement, including financial
terms).
2.4 Reserved Rights. ChemoCentryx hereby expressly reserves (a) all rights to practice, and to grant licenses under, the ChemoCentryx Technology
outside of the scope of the licenses granted in Section 2.1, for any and all purposes, and (b) the right to conduct all activities to be conducted by ChemoCentryx as
contemplated by this Agreement. Subject only to the rights expressly granted under Section 2.3, VIT hereby expressly reserves all rights to practice, and to grant
licenses under, the VIT Technology for any and all purposes.
2.5 No Implied Licenses; Negative Covenant. Except as set forth in this Agreement, neither Party shall acquire any license or other intellectual property
interest, by implication or otherwise, under or to any Patents, Know-How, or other intellectual property owned or controlled by the other Party. Neither Party shall,
nor shall it permit any of its Affiliates or sublicensees to, practice any Patents or Know-How licensed to it by the other Party outside the scope of the licenses
granted to it under this Agreement.
2.6 Disclosure of Know-How. ChemoCentryx shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, without additional compensation, disclose and make available to VIT,
in whatever form VIT may reasonably request (including by providing copies thereof), all ChemoCentryx Know-How that (a) is in existence as of the Effective
Date, within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date and (b) comes into existence after the Effective Date and that was not previously provided to VIT, promptly
after the earlier of the development, making, conception, or reduction to practice
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of such ChemoCentryx Know-How (and at least every six (6) months). VIT shall and shall cause its Affiliates to, without additional compensation, disclose and
make available to VIT, in whatever form ChemoCentryx may reasonably request (including by providing copies thereof), all VIT Know-How that (i) is in existence
as of the Effective Date, within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date and (ii) comes into existence after the Effective Date and that was not previously provided
to ChemoCentryx, promptly after the earlier of the development, making, conception, or reduction to practice of such VIT Know-How (and at least every six (6)
months).
2.7 Third Party Licenses .
(a) Each Party shall promptly notify the other Party if it becomes aware of any Third Party Technology.
(b) ChemoCentryx shall have the first right to negotiate and obtain a license to any Third Party Technology applicable to both the VIT Territory and
any countries outside the VIT Territory, and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain the right to sublicense such Third Party Technology to VIT in the
VIT Territory on terms that are fair and equitable for both ChemoCentryx and VIT. If ChemoCentryx obtains a license to Third Party Technology, ChemoCentryx
will promptly disclose to VIT a complete copy of applicable license agreement. The agreement will be deemed a Third Party License and the Third Party
Technology will be deemed ChemoCentryx Technology and will be sublicensed to VIT pursuant to the licenses granted under Section 2.1 if (i) VIT provides
ChemoCentryx with written notice in which VIT agrees to be responsible for all payments that would be owed under such license agreement as a result of
ChemoCentryx’s granting a sublicense to VIT or the exercise of such sublicense granted to VIT (including by any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees) and a reasonable
allocation of any other payments under such license agreement and to make all payments when due and provide all reports required under such license agreement,
and (ii) VIT acknowledges in writing that its sublicense under such license agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of such license agreement.
(c) If ChemoCentryx elects not to obtain a license to Third Party Technology as contemplated by Section 2.7(b), or is unsuccessful in obtaining
such a license within one hundred eighty (180) days after the Parties mutually agree to seek such license, which agreement will not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed, then VIT shall have the right (but not the obligation) to negotiate and obtain such a license from such Third Party for the VIT
Territory. If VIT obtains a license to Third Party Technology, such license agreement shall be deemed a Third Party License for purposes of Section
8.4(e), and VIT will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain the right to sublicense to ChemoCentryx in the event of any termination of this
Agreement, other than termination by VIT under Section 14.3(a).
(d) Subject to Section 8.4(e), VIT shall have the first right to negotiate and obtain a license under any Third Party Technology that exists solely
in the VIT Territory at its sole discretion and expense. If VIT elects to negotiate such a license, VIT will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to
obtain the right to sublicense to ChemoCentryx in the event of any termination of this Agreement, other than termination by VIT under Section
14.3(a).
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2.8 Exclusivity.
(a) Product . None of ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate or VIT or any VIT Affiliate shall Develop or Commercialize the Product
outside the Target Field either in or outside the VIT Territory; provided, however, that the Parties (or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate or VIT Affiliate) may Develop
and Commercialize the Product in Indications outside the Target Field by mutual written agreement, with any such Development of the Product outside the Target
Field to be conducted under the Development Plan. Development of the Product in Additional Indications is subject to Section 4.5.
(b) Next Generation Compounds . During the Term, VIT shall not, and shall ensure that VIT Affiliates and Sublicensees do not, directly or
indirectly, clinically develop (in a Phase 2 Clinical Trial or any later-stage clinical trial) or commercialize any Next Generation Compound for any Indication in the
VIT Territory; provided that the foregoing covenant will apply to a Sublicensee only with respect to the countries in the VIT Territory in which such Sublicensee
has sublicense rights. The terms of this Section 2.8(b) will not apply to Next Generation Compounds for which VIT obtains rights as set forth in Section 2.9. For
clarity, the foregoing would not restrict physicians from prescribing Next Generation Compounds that are commercialized by Third Parties.
(c) Acquired Rights . In the event that VIT or any VIT Affiliate, either through its own efforts or by acquisition of such rights (whether through
merger, acquisition or similar transaction, but not to the extent rights are acquired under Section 2.9), obtains the rights to a Next Generation Compound that would
cause VIT to breach Section 2.8(b), then VIT shall elect one of the following upon written notice to ChemoCentryx within thirty (30) days after such rights are first
obtained:
(i) to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 14.5, in which case such notice will serve as notice of termination under Section
14.5; or
(ii) to Divest such Next Generation Compound, in which case VIT or any VIT Affiliate shall, or shall cause the applicable entity to,
complete the Divestiture of such Next Generation Compound within twelve (12) months from the date VIT or the applicable VIT Affiliate obtained any rights in
such Next Generation Compound, in which case the conduct of activities with respect to such Next Generation Compound by VIT or any VIT Affiliate during such
twelve (12) month period shall not be deemed a breach of VIT’s exclusivity obligations under Section 2.8(b), provided that such activities with respect to such Next
Generation Compound during such twelve (12) month period are conducted independently of the activities conducted under this Agreement and no ChemoCentryx
Technology or VIT Technology is used in the conduct of such activities. “ Divestiture ”, as used in this Section 2.8(c)(ii), means the sale, exclusive license or
transfer of rights to the Next Generation Compound to a Third Party without receiving a continuing share of profit, royalty payments, or other economic interest in
the success of such Next Generation Compound in the VIT Territory.
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2.9 Right to Obtain an Exclusive Option to Next Generation Compounds Developed by ChemoCentryx .
(a) The Parties will discuss the development of any Next Generation Compounds in the JSC. ChemoCentryx shall share with VIT, through the JSC,
regularly and at least on a semi-annual basis a summary of all Data generated by or on behalf of ChemoCentryx or any ChemoCentryx Affiliate relating to the
development of Next Generation Compounds.
(b) ChemoCentryx hereby grants to VIT the right to obtain an exclusive option to obtain an exclusive license to seek regulatory approval for
and commercialize Next Generation Compounds, whether developed by ChemoCentryx or a ChemoCentryx Affiliate or in-licensed or otherwise
acquired by ChemoCentryx or a ChemoCentryx Affiliate, in the Field in the VIT Territory as provided in this Section 2.9 (the “ Next Generation
Compound Option ”).
(c) If ChemoCentryx has a Next Generation Compound program and has generated the information necessary to include in the Data Package,
ChemoCentryx shall offer the Next Generation Compound Option to VIT by providing VIT with a Data Package. Unless the Parties agree otherwise in
writing (e.g., in connection with [***]), in no event shall ChemoCentryx be entitled to offer the Next Generation Compound Option to VIT prior to
(A) the earlier of (i) [***] or (ii) [***] or (B) [***] the earlier of (i) [***] or (ii) [***]. VIT will have a period of up to one hundred twenty (120) days
(the “ Review Period ”) to review the Data Package and to present questions to ChemoCentryx. ChemoCentryx will fully cooperate with VIT during
the Review Period.
(d) VIT may obtain the Next Generation Compound Option by written notice to ChemoCentryx on or before the end of the Review Period and
payment of an option grant fee of [***]. If VIT obtains the Next Generation Compound Option, then VIT may exercise the Next Generation Compound Option no
later than eighteen (18) months after the date on which VIT obtains the Next Generation Compound Option (the “ Option Period ”); provided that if the Data
Package includes clinical data in an Indication that is [***] (the “ Relevant Indication ”), then the Option Period will be extended until the [***], whichever is
earlier. During the Option Period, ChemoCentryx shall have the right to continue development of the Next Generation Compound, but [***]. If VIT obtains the
Next Generation Compound Option, the Parties will discuss the strategy for the Commercialization of the Next Generation Compound.
(e) Following VIT’s timely exercise of the Next Generation Compound Option by written notice to ChemoCentryx, the Parties shall negotiate in good
faith and enter into a license agreement, on terms substantially equivalent to this Agreement, under which VIT would have the right to seek regulatory approval for
and commercialize such Next Generation Compound in the VIT Territory; provided that [***]. The terms of Section 2.10 of this Agreement shall be excluded from
any determination of terms substantially equivalent to this
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Agreement, and any equity investment would be one-half of the amount referenced in Section 8.1(b) of this Agreement and at a price equal to the greater of (i) the
volume weighted average trading price of the common stock of ChemoCentryx on Nasdaq for the thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such license
agreement, plus a fifty percent (50%) premium and (ii) the price per share for shares issued under Section 8.1(b).
(f) If (i) VIT fails to timely exercise such Next Generation Compound Option, then upon expiration of the Option Period (as may be extended
pursuant to Section 2.9(d)), or (ii) if VIT fails to obtain the Next Generation Compound Option within the Review Period, ChemoCentryx shall be free, itself or
with or through an Affiliate or Third Party, to seek regulatory approval for and commercialize such Next Generation Compound in the VIT Territory; provided that
if the [***], ChemoCentryx shall [***], whichever is earlier. In addition, if VIT fails to obtain the Next Generation Compound Option within the Review Period,
VIT will not have the right to Develop or Commercialize the Product in any Additional Indication [***], whichever is earlier.
2.10 Exclusive Right of Negotiation for CCX140.
(a) ChemoCentryx hereby grants to VIT an exclusive right of negotiation (“ Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right ”), exercisable as set forth in
Section 2.10(b), to obtain a worldwide, exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize CCX140.
(b) VIT may exercise its Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right by providing written notice to ChemoCentryx before July 31, 2016, indicating its
desire to obtain a license for CCX140. Following VIT’s timely notice to ChemoCentryx, the Parties shall negotiate exclusively and in good faith the terms of an
agreement under which CCXI would grant VIT an exclusive, worldwide license to develop, manufacture and commercialize CCX140. In the event that the Parties
agree upon such terms, they shall enter into a separate license agreement (the “ CCX140 Agreement ”). If (i) the Parties do not enter into the CCX140 Agreement
on or before the CCX140 Date or (ii) VIT does not notify ChemoCentryx of exercise of the Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right by July 31, 2016, then in each
case (i) and (ii) ChemoCentryx shall be free to negotiate with and enter into an agreement with a Third Party with respect to the worldwide development,
manufacture and commercialization of CCX140.
(c) If VIT timely exercises the Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right and if, as of July 31, 2016, the Parties are continuing to negotiate in good faith
the terms of the CCX140 Agreement and are nearing completion of such negotiations, but have not yet entered into the CCX140 Agreement, the CCX140 Date will
be extended by a period of time reasonably agreed by the Parties as reasonably necessary to conclude such negotiations and enter into the CCX140 Agreement (but
not to exceed an additional five (5) Business Days).
(d) In the event that VIT exercises its Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right pursuant to Section 2.10(b) and the Parties execute the CCX140
Agreement by the CCX140 Date, VIT shall have the right, by payment of a non-creditable, non-refundable payment of [***]
***
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to ChemoCentryx on or before the CCX140 Date, to [***] upon the Parties’ written agreement, [***]. Upon the effectiveness of the CCX140 Agreement that was
executed by the CCX140 Date, (i) the VIT Territory under this Agreement shall be expanded to include the Middle East, and (ii) [***] of the upfront equity
purchase by VIT from ChemoCentryx pursuant to Section 8.1(b) shall be creditable against any upfront payment VIT may owe to ChemoCentryx under the
CCX140 Agreement.
(e) In the event that VIT exercises its Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right pursuant to Section 2.10(b) and the Parties do not execute the CCX140
Agreement by the CCX140 Date, but the Parties execute the CCX140 Agreement on or before October 31, 2016, then (i) the VIT Territory under this Agreement
shall be expanded to include the Middle East, and (ii) a portion of the upfront equity purchase by VIT from ChemoCentryx pursuant to Section 8.1(b) shall be
creditable against any upfront payment VIT may owe to ChemoCentryx under the CCX140 Agreement, as follows: if the CCX140 Agreement is executed after the
CCX140 Date and on or before August 31, 2016, [***] of the upfront equity purchase shall be creditable; if the CCX140 Agreement is executed during the month
of September, 2016, [***] shall be creditable; and if the CCX140 Agreement is executed during the month of October, 2016, [***] shall be creditable (and for
clarity no such amounts will be credited if the CCX140 Agreement is executed after October 31, 2016).
3.

G OVERNANCE

3.1 Joint Steering Committee. Promptly after the Effective Date, the Parties shall establish a joint steering committee (the “ Joint Steering Committee ”
or the “ JSC ”), composed of an equal number of representatives of each Party (up to four (4)), to oversee and coordinate the activities of the Parties under this
Agreement. The JSC shall in particular:
(a) provide a forum for the discussion of the Development, Commercialization, manufacturing and supply of the Product in the Field in and outside
the VIT Territory;
(b) discuss and determine the strategy for the Development of the Product for the Major Market Countries and the U.S. and review and approve all
proposed amendments to the Development Plan including any Additional Study;
(c) review, discuss and approve any changes to the Initial Indications and any proposed Additional Indications;
(d) review and coordinate the strategy for Regulatory Filings for the Product in the Major Market Countries and the U.S.;
(e) discuss the strategy for the Commercialization of the Product in the Major Market Countries, and review and discuss the initial Commercialization
Plan for the Major Market Countries and each amendment thereto;
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(f) facilitate the exchange of Licensed ChemoCentryx Data and Licensed VIT Data between the Parties;
(g) direct and oversee the operation of the JCC and any other joint subcommittee established by the JSC, including attempting to resolve any disputed
matter of such Committees;
(h) establish additional joint subcommittees as it deems necessary or advisable to further the purpose of this Agreement;
(i) discuss the global branding strategy for the Product;
(j) discuss the development of any Next Generation Compound; and
(k) perform such other functions as appropriate to further the purposes of this Agreement, as expressly set forth in this Agreement or allocated to it by
the Parties’ written agreement.
For clarity, the JSC will not have any decision-making authority with respect to the Commercialization of the Product in the VIT Territory.
3.2 Joint Commercialization Committee. At a time to be determined by the JSC, the Parties shall establish a joint commercialization committee (the “
Joint Commercialization Committee ” or the “ JCC ”), composed of an equal number of up to four (4) representatives of each Party, to oversee the
Commercialization of the Product in the Field in and outside the VIT Territory. The JCC shall in particular:
(a) report to the JSC on all significant Commercialization activities by VIT in the Major Market Countries and by ChemoCentryx in the U.S.,
including on the implementation of the Commercialization Plan of VIT for the Major Market Countries, and on activities of the JCC;
(b) review and discuss the initial Commercialization Plan of VIT for the Major Market Countries and all proposed amendments to such
Commercialization Plan, for submission to the JSC;
(c) provide a forum for and facilitate communications and coordination between the Parties with respect to the Commercialization of the Product in
the Field in and outside the VIT Territory;
(d) discuss any VIT decision not to launch (or to significantly delay the launch of) the Product in a particular country in the VIT Territory based on
Pricing and Reimbursement Approval;
(e) discuss the global branding strategy for the Product; and
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(f) perform such other functions as may be appropriate to further the purposes of this Agreement with respect to the Commercialization of the Product
in the Field in and outside the VIT Territory, as directed by the JSC.
For clarity, the JCC will not have any decision-making authority with respect to the Commercialization of the Product in the VIT Territory.
3.3 Committee Membership and Meetings .
(a) Committee Members. Each Committee representative shall have appropriate knowledge and expertise and sufficient seniority within the
applicable Party to make decisions arising within the scope of the applicable Committee’s responsibilities. Each Party may replace its representatives on any
Committee on written notice to the other Party, but each Party shall strive to maintain continuity in the representation of its Committee members. Each Party shall
appoint one (1) of its representatives on each Committee to act as a co-chairperson of such Committee. The co-chairpersons shall jointly prepare and circulate
agendas to Committee members at least seven (7) days prior to each Committee meeting and shall direct the preparation of reasonably detailed minutes for each
Committee meeting, which shall be approved by the co-chairpersons and circulated to Committee members within thirty (30) days of such meeting.
(b) Meetings . Each Committee shall hold meetings at such times as it elects to do so, but in no event shall such meetings be held less frequently than
once every three (3) months or such other frequency as may be mutually agreed by the Parties. Meetings of any Committee may be held in person or by audio or
video teleconference; provided that unless otherwise agreed by both Parties, at least one (1) meeting per year for each Committee shall be held in person, and all inperson Committees shall be held at locations alternately selected by the Parties. Each Party shall be responsible for all of its own expenses of participating in any
Committee meetings. No action taken at any meeting of a Committee shall be effective unless at least one (1) representative of each Party is participating.
(c) Non-Member Attendance . Each Party may from time to time invite a reasonable number of participants, in addition to its representatives, to
attend the Committee meetings in a non-voting capacity; provided that if either Party intends to have any Third Party (including any consultant) attend such a
meeting, such Party shall provide at least seven (7) days prior written notice to the other Party and obtain the other Party’s approval for such Third Party to attend
such meeting, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned. Such Party shall ensure that such Third Party is bound by confidentiality
and non-use obligations consistent with the terms of this Agreement.
3.4 Decision-Making.
(a) All decisions of each Committee shall be made by unanimous vote, with each Party’s representatives collectively having one (1) vote. Any
Additional Indication may only be added to the Development Plan as provided in Section 4.5. If after reasonable discussion and good faith
consideration of each Party’s view on a particular matter before the JCC or another subcommittee of the JSC, the representatives of the Parties cannot
reach an agreement as to such matter within five (5) Business Days after such matter was brought to such Committee for resolution, such disagreement
shall be referred to the JSC for resolution.
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(b) If after reasonable discussion and good faith consideration of each Party’s view on a particular matter before the JSC, the representatives of
the Parties cannot reach an agreement as to such matter within five (5) Business Days after such matter was brought to the JSC for resolution or after
such matter has been referred to the JSC, such disagreement shall be referred to the Chief Executive Officer of ChemoCentryx and the Chief
Executive Officer of VIT (collectively, the “ Executive Officers ”) for resolution.
(c) If the Executive Officers cannot resolve such matter within thirty (30) days after such matter has been referred to them, then if such matter
relates to the Development of the Product, including the content of the Development Plan and whether to develop the Product for a particular
Indication in the Field, then ChemoCentryx shall be entitled to make the final decision, provided that ChemoCentryx shall not amend the Development
Plan in a manner that (i) would result in the clinical Development strategy therein being insufficient to satisfy requirements for Regulatory Approval
by the EMA in the Initial Indications and any Additional Indication included therein or (ii) fails to comply with the scientific advice provided by the
EMA for Regulatory Approval of the Product in an Indication included in the Development Plan, to the extent such advice can be technically
implemented. If VIT reasonably believes that any amendment to the Development Plan would materially adversely affect the safety and efficacy
profile of the Product in the VIT Territory, or that any Additional Indication proposed by ChemoCentryx would satisfy the Additional Indication
Rejection Condition, the Parties shall appoint a mutually agreed independent Third Party scientific expert to evaluate and advise the Parties on the
effect of such amendment on the safety and efficacy profile of the Product in the VIT Territory or whether such Additional Indication satisfies the
Additional Indication Rejection Condition, which advice ChemoCentryx shall consider in good faith in exercising its final decision-making authority;
provided that if such issue [***], the Parties shall resolve the dispute as set forth in Section 15.4.
(d) Limitations on Authority. Each Committee shall have only such powers as are expressly assigned to it in this Agreement, and such
powers shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no Committee will have the
power to amend this Agreement, and no decision of a Committee may be in contravention of any terms and conditions of this Agreement.
3.5 Alliance Managers. Promptly after the Effective Date, each Party shall appoint an individual to act as the alliance manager for such Party (the “
Alliance Manager ”). Each Alliance Manager shall be responsible for alliance management between the Parties on a day-to-day basis throughout the Term. Each
Alliance Manager shall be permitted to attend meetings of the JSC and other Committees as appropriate as non-voting participants. The Alliance Managers shall be
the primary contact for the Parties regarding the activities contemplated by this Agreement and shall facilitate all such activities hereunder. Each Party may replace
its Alliance
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Manager with an alternative representative at any time with prior written notice to the other Party. Any Alliance Manager may designate a substitute to temporarily
perform the functions of that Alliance Manager. Each Alliance Manager shall be charged with creating and maintaining a collaborative work environment within
the JSC and its subcommittees.
3.6 Discontinuation of Participation on a Committee. ChemoCentryx’s membership in the Committees shall be at its sole discretion, as a matter of right
and not obligation, for the sole purpose of participation in governance, decision-making, and information exchange with respect to activities within the jurisdiction
of the Committees. ChemoCentryx shall have the right to withdraw, at any time, from membership on any or all of the Committees upon thirty (30) days’ prior
written notice to VIT, which notice shall be effective upon the expiration of such thirty (30) day period. Following the issuance of such notice: (a) ChemoCentryx’s
membership in the applicable Committee(s) shall be terminated and (b) each Party shall have the obligation to provide and the right to continue to receive the
information it would otherwise be required to provide and entitled to receive under the Agreement and to participate directly with the other Party in discussions,
reviews and approvals currently allocated to the relevant Committee(s) pursuant to Article 3. If, at any time, following issuance of such a notice, ChemoCentryx
wishes to resume participation in the relevant Committee, ChemoCentryx shall notify VIT in writing and, thereafter, ChemoCentryx’s representatives to the
relevant Committee shall be entitled to attend any subsequent meeting of such Committee and to participate in the activities of, and decision-making by, such
Committee as provided in this Article 3 as if such notice had not been issued by ChemoCentryx pursuant to this Section 3.6. If a Committee is disbanded, then any
data and information of the nature intended to be shared within such Committee shall be provided by each Party directly to the other Party.
4.

D EVELOPMENT

4.1 General. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and except as expressly provided herein, ChemoCentryx shall be solely responsible, at
its own expense, for the Development of the Compound and the Product in and outside the VIT Territory in [***] the Initial Indications and in each Additional
Indication that is included in the Development Plan; provided that following Regulatory Approval of the Product in an Initial Indication in a Major Market Country
in the EU, [***] all internal costs (at the FTE Rate) and all Third Party expenses incurred by the Parties to Develop the Product for any Additional Indications, or
the Proposing Party shall bear all such costs, as the case may be, as set forth in Section 4.5. All Development work conducted pursuant to this Agreement will be
subject to the JSC’s oversight and will be in accordance with the Development Plan. VIT will reasonably contribute its in-house clinical development expertise and
nephrology expertise at its sole expense.
4.2 Global Development Program. The Parties intend to Develop the Product for the Initial Indications and each Additional Indication that is included in
the Development Plan for the purpose of obtaining Regulatory Approval for the Product in each such Indication in the EU and in the U.S. Accordingly, the Parties
will consult with the EMA and FDA with respect to
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the Development strategy for the Product, including requesting scientific advice from the EMA, and will take into account all scientific advice from the EMA, to
the extent such advice can be technically implemented, and other reasonable requirements, recommendations and guidance from such Regulatory Authorities in
preparing the Development Plan. Furthermore, to the extent not materially affecting the costs or timeline of Development pursuant to the first sentence of this
Section 4.2, the Parties may consult with other relevant Regulatory Authorities in the VIT Territory with respect to the Development strategy for the Product and
will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to address any requirements, recommendations and guidance from such Regulatory Authorities in the Development
Plan.
4.3 Development Plan .
(a) Content . All Development of the Compound and the Product under this Agreement shall be conducted pursuant to a comprehensive written
development plan (as amended in accordance with this Agreement, the “ Development Plan ”). The Development Plan shall set forth the timeline and details of all
preclinical and clinical Development activities to be conducted by or on behalf of ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates to obtain Regulatory Approval of the Product in
the Initial Indications in the U.S., the EU and Major Market Countries outside the EU, as well as in Additional Indications in the Field and other countries in the
VIT Territory, as well as potential post marketing commitments (such as pediatric investigation plans), in each case as determined by the JSC. The Development
Plan shall include a coordinated Development and regulatory strategy and will set forth the Parties’ respective roles with respect to Regulatory Filings. The
Development Plan may also include any other Development activities approved by the JSC, such as Additional Studies conducted pursuant to Section 4.4. The
initial version of the Development Plan, which has been agreed to by the Parties, is attached to the Letter Agreement.
(b) Updates . From time to time during the Term, but at least annually, the Parties will prepare updates and amendments, as appropriate, to the
Development Plan and submit such updates and amendments to the JSC for review, discussion, and approval. Once approved by the JSC, each such updated or
amended Development Plan, as the case may be, shall replace the prior Development Plan.
(c) Conflict . If the terms of the Development Plan contradict, or create inconsistencies or ambiguities with, the terms of this Agreement, then the
terms of this Agreement shall govern.
4.4 Additional Studies .
(a) Responsibility . In the event that any additional clinical study(ies) is required to obtain Regulatory Approval of the Product in a particular
regulatory jurisdiction in an Initial Indication or an Additional Indication that the Parties are jointly funding under Section 4.5, either in or outside the VIT Territory
(other than EMA Regulatory Approval for the Initial Indications), or either Party desires to conduct a Phase IV Clinical Trial or other clinical study in any such
Indication in its respective territory (each, an “ Additional Study ”), then: (i) if such Additional Study is for a jurisdiction in the VIT Territory, VIT shall be
responsible, at its own expense, for conducting such Additional Study, and (ii) if such Additional Study is for a jurisdiction outside the VIT Territory,
ChemoCentryx shall be responsible, at its own expense,
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for conducting such Additional Study, in each case (i) and (ii) subject to Section 4.4(b), provided that any Additional Study conducted under either (i) or (ii) is
subject to the approval of the JSC. If the JSC approves any such Additional Study, the Parties will amend the Development Plan to include such study and submit it
to the JSC for review and approval.
(b) Cost Sharing . Notwithstanding the foregoing in Section 4.4(a), if either Party desires to use the Licensed ChemoCentryx Data or Licensed VIT
Data, as applicable, resulting from any Additional Studies conducted by the other Party, such Party may do so by (i) agreeing in writing to pay and paying for [***]
of all internal (at the FTE Rate) and external costs incurred by the other Party to conduct such Additional Studies prior to such agreement, if such agreement is
provided in writing prior to the first data read from such study, or (ii) agreeing in writing to pay and paying for [***] of all internal (at the FTE Rate) and external
costs incurred by the other Party to conduct such Additional Studies prior to such agreement, plus a premium of [***] of such amount (i.e., a total of [***]), if such
agreement is provided in writing after obtaining access to data from the first data read from such study, and in each case (i) and (ii) paying [***] of all internal (at
the FTE Rate) and external costs incurred by the other Party to conduct such Additional Studies after such agreement in accordance with an agreed budget. In either
case (i) and (ii), the Developing Party will provide the other Party with an invoice and reasonable documentation for such other Party’s share of such expenses, on a
Calendar Quarterly basis, which invoice the other Party shall pay within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof, unless subject to a bona fide dispute.
(c) Data Exchange . Each Party shall provide the other Party with the Licensed ChemoCentryx Data or Licensed VIT Data, as applicable, Controlled
by such Party or its Affiliates and resulting from Additional Studies conducted by such Party in accordance with Section 2.6. Each Party shall have the right to use
such Data (i) to the extent necessary to comply with such Party’s regulatory reporting and compliance obligations, including safety reporting obligations, and (ii) if
such Party reimburses the other Party’s expenses under Section 4.4(b), as necessary or useful to Develop and Commercialize the Product in its respective territory.
4.5 Additional Indications .
(a) Unless mutually agreed by the Parties in writing, the Parties may pursue Additional Indications as set forth in this Section 4.5 only after
Regulatory Approval of the Product in an Initial Indication in a Major Market Country in the EU and after commencement of clinical Development of
the Product for each other Initial Indication. If after Regulatory Approval of the Product in an Initial Indication in a Major Market Country in the EU
and after commencement of clinical Development of the Product for each other Initial Indication, either Party (the “ Proposing Party ”) desires to
Develop the Product for an Additional Indication, then, subject to Section 2.9(f), the Proposing Party will present a proposal to the other Party (the “
Non-Proposing Party ”) through the JSC, including a synopsis of the additional Development activities, the role of each Party with respect to
Development, the timeline for the additional Development activities and the estimated costs associated with such additional Development.
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(b) If the Non-Proposing Party provides notice within sixty (60) days after the date of the Proposing Party’s proposal that it believes that
Development of the Product for the proposed Additional Indication would satisfy the Additional Indication Rejection Condition, the determination
specified in Section 4.5(f) shall be made. Within thirty (30) days after a determination (if a determination is requested) is made pursuant to
Section 4.5(f) if such determination is that the Additional Indication Rejection Condition is not satisfied or within such sixty (60) day period (during
which the Parties are discussing the proposal) if no such determination is requested, the Non-Proposing Party shall elect whether to participate in the
Development of such Additional Indication by written notice to the Proposing Party.
(c) If the Non-Proposing Party elects to participate, the Parties will be obligated to jointly Develop the Product in such Additional Indication in
accordance with this Article 4, provided that [***] of the internal costs (at the FTE Rate) and external costs incurred by the Parties for Developing the
Product for such Additional Indication under an agreed budget. For clarity, if ChemoCentryx is the Proposing Party, VIT will not be required to pay
any costs incurred for Development activities for the Product for an Additional Indication that are conducted solely to satisfy requirements for
Regulatory Approval of the Product outside the VIT Territory, if such requirements are in addition to requirements of the FDA and EMA.
(d) In such event, the Parties shall amend the Development Plan to include the applicable Development activities and submit such amended
Development Plan, and an associated budget, to the JSC for review and approval, and all resulting Licensed ChemoCentryx Data or Licensed VIT
Data, as applicable, will be available for use by the Parties as permitted by this Agreement.
(e) If the Non-Proposing Party does not elect to participate in such Development under Section 4.5(b) with respect to the proposed Additional
Indication and the JSC does not determine pursuant to Section 4.5(f) that the Additional Indication Rejection Condition is satisfied, the Proposing Party shall
amend the Development Plan to include such development, and upon the JSC’s approval of such amended Development Plan, may proceed with the Development
of such Additional Indication and will be solely responsible for the conduct and costs of such Development. In such case, unless VIT receives rights pursuant to
Section 4.5(h), if VIT is the Non-Proposing Party, such Additional Indication will be removed from the Field (but may be added back to the Field upon Buy-In
under Section 4.5(h)). If the Non-Proposing Party does not elect to participate under Section 4.5(b) or Buy In under Section 4.5(h), the Non-Proposing Party will
have no rights to use any resulting Data, except that it will have the right to use resulting Licensed ChemoCentryx Data or Licensed VIT Data, as applicable, to the
extent necessary to comply with such Party’s regulatory reporting and compliance obligations, including safety reporting obligations, in its respective territory (for
VIT, in the VIT Territory and for ChemoCentryx, outside of the VIT Territory) at no cost to the Non-Proposing Party.
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(f) If the Non-Proposing Party believes a proposed Additional Indication would likely have (i) a material adverse effect on the ability to
Commercialize or Develop the Product for any Indication in the Field for which the Product has been, is planned to be or is being Developed or Commercialized in
the VIT Territory as to VIT, or outside the VIT Territory as to ChemoCentryx, (ii) a material adverse effect on Pricing or Reimbursement Approval in the VIT
Territory as to VIT, or outside the VIT Territory as to ChemoCentryx, or (iii) a material adverse effect on the regulatory status of the Product in the Field in the
VIT Territory as to VIT, or outside the VIT Territory as to ChemoCentryx (a proposed Additional Indication likely having an effect described in clause (i), (ii) or
(iii) , the “ Additional Indication Rejection Condition ”), such Non-Proposing Party will have the right to refer such matter to the JSC in writing to determine
whether the Additional Indication Rejection Condition is satisfied, as provided under Section 3.4.
(g) If the Non-Proposing Party does not exercise its rights under Section 4.5(b) or (h), then the Proposing Party and its Affiliates may not, themselves
or with or through any Third Party, Develop or Commercialize the Product in the Additional Indication in the Non-Proposing Party’s territory (i.e., the VIT
Territory if ChemoCentryx is the Proposing Party, and outside the VIT Territory if VIT is the Proposing Party).
(h) The Non-Proposing Party will have the right to “ Buy In ” to co-fund Development in accordance with the Development Plan for any Additional
Indication for the Product for which the Non-Proposing Party declined previously to co-fund under Section 4.5(b) by written notice to the Proposing Party,
following receipt of a budget and summary of costs incurred to date for such Development. If the Buy In is exercised before the first data read, the Non-Proposing
party shall pay the Proposing Party an amount equal to [***] of the internal costs (at the FTE Rate) and the external costs the Proposing Party incurred to Develop
the Product for such Additional Indication in accordance with the Development Plan prior to the Buy In. If the Buy In is exercised after the first data read, the NonProposing party shall pay the Proposing Party an amount equal to [***] of the internal costs (at the FTE Rate) and the external costs the Proposing Party incurred to
conduct such Additional Indication in accordance with the Development Plan prior to the Buy In, plus a premium of [***] of such amount (i.e., a total of [***]). In
each case, the Non-Proposing Party would pay [***] of all costs incurred by the Proposing Party to Develop such Additional Indication after such Buy In, to the
extent applicable, in accordance with the Development Plan and an agreed budget.
(i) After notice of a Non-Proposing Party of its interest in a Buy In pursuant to Section 4.5(h), the Proposing Party and its Affiliates will promptly
provide the Non-Proposing Party with any relevant information regarding the Additional Indication and any filings with the Regulatory Authorities regarding the
Product for such Additional Indication as reasonably requested by the Non-Proposing Party. In addition, the Proposing Party shall cause its Affiliates and
licensees/sublicensees to comply with this Section 4.5(i).
***
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(j) For all amounts owed by one Party to the other Party under this Section 4.5, the Party that incurred any such amounts will provide the other
Party with an invoice and reasonable documentation for such other Party’s share of such expenses, on a Calendar Quarterly basis, which invoice the other Party
shall pay within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof, unless subject to a bona fide dispute. If both Parties incur costs, the JSC will establish a procedure for sharing
and reconciling costs.
4.6 Conduct of Development Activities . Each Party shall perform all Development activities in compliance with all Applicable Laws, including good
scientific and clinical practices under the Applicable Laws of the country in which such activities are conducted. Each Party shall use Commercially Reasonable
Efforts to conduct the Development activities allocated to such Party in the Development Plan.
4.7 Development Diligence . VIT shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to seek and obtain Regulatory Approval for the Product in the Initial
Indications and in each Additional Indication that is included in the Development Plan (except for Additional Indications for which ChemoCentryx is the Proposing
Party and VIT does not elect to participate under Section 4.5(b) or by Buy In under Section 4.5(h)) in each of the Major Market Countries. ChemoCentryx shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to conduct those Development activities [***] (except for Additional Indications for which VIT is the Proposing Party and
ChemoCentryx does not elect to participate under Section 4.5(b) or by Buy In under Section 4.5(h)).
4.8 Development Reports. Each Party shall keep the other Party reasonably informed as to the progress and results of its and its Affiliates’ Development
activities under this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, each Party shall provide the JSC with regular monthly reports (and more frequent reports if
requested by a Party) detailing its Development of the Compound and the Product and the results of such Development. Such reports shall include for each clinical
trial, by way of example and not limitation: the number and identities of the countries in which such trial is being conducted, the number of clinical sites selected
and then-currently active, the target enrollment, the number of subjects screened and enrolled, the number of subject drop-outs, and the targeted enrollment
completion date. The Parties shall discuss the status, progress and results of such Development activities at each JSC meeting. Each Party shall promptly respond
to the other Party’s reasonable questions or requests for additional information relating to such Development activities. For the avoidance of doubt, neither Party
will be required to include information that it does not otherwise create for its own internal purposes in any report required under this Section 4.8.
4.9 Use of Subcontractors. Each Party may perform its Development activities under this Agreement through one or more subcontractors, provided that (a)
such Party will remain responsible for the work allocated to, and payment to, such subcontractors to the same
***
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extent it would if it had done such work itself; (b) each subcontractor undertakes in writing obligations of confidentiality and non-use regarding Confidential
Information consistent with this Agreement, and (c) each subcontractor agrees in writing to assign all intellectual property developed in the course of performing
any such work to such Party.
5.

R EGULATORY A CTIVITIES
5.1 Conduct of Regulatory Activities.

(a) The Development Plan shall set forth the regulatory strategy for seeking Regulatory Approval of the Product in the Major Market Countries for the
Initial Indications, and in any Additional Indications and in other countries in the VIT Territory, in each case as determined by the JSC. The Parties intend to and
will collaborate to maximize any Regulatory Exclusivity for the Product in and outside the VIT Territory to the extent permitted by Applicable Law.
(b) As set forth in the Development Plan, prior to the filing of an MAA for the Product in the EU, ChemoCentryx shall be solely responsible, at its
own expense, for all regulatory activities related to the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory, including all Regulatory Filings and all communications with
Regulatory Authorities (e.g., IND submissions).
(c) Except as provided below and in Section 5.1(b) above, VIT shall be solely responsible, at its own expense, for preparing, filing, obtaining, and
maintaining Regulatory Approvals for the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory, which activities shall be conducted using Commercially Reasonable Efforts and
in accordance with the regulatory strategy set forth in the Development Plan and under coordination of the JSC. In particular, and without limiting the foregoing,
VIT shall be responsible for preparing the EMA dossier for inclusion in the MAA to be filed in the EU, except that ChemoCentryx shall provide content and
subject matter expertise as reasonably requested by VIT in connection with the preparation of the EMA dossier. VIT shall be solely responsible for filing the EMA
dossier with EU Regulatory Authorities, with adapting the EU dossier for other countries in the VIT Territory (except that ChemoCentryx shall provide content and
subject matter expertise as reasonably requested by VIT), and with filing any such adapted dossier in MAAs throughout the VIT Territory. Each Party shall be
responsible for all costs it incurs to conduct such activities, except as provided in Section 5.1(f).
(d) Subject to Applicable Laws, VIT (or its Affiliate or Sublicensee) shall be the holder of all Regulatory Approvals for the Product in the Field in the
VIT Territory and shall be responsible for all interactions with Regulatory Authorities with respect to the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory. ChemoCentryx
will cooperate to provide subject-matter expertise to support VIT, VIT’s Affiliates and any Sublicensee in such interactions.
(e) VIT shall consult with ChemoCentryx through the JSC regarding, and keep ChemoCentryx regularly and fully informed of, the preparation,
Regulatory Authority review and approval of Regulatory Filings, and communications with Regulatory Authorities with respect to the Product in the Field in the
VIT Territory. In addition, VIT shall promptly provide ChemoCentryx with copies, translated into English (to the extent that VIT obtains
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English translations in the ordinary course of business), of all material documents, information, and correspondence received from a Regulatory Authority and,
upon reasonable request, with copies, translated into English (to the extent that VIT obtains English translations in the ordinary course of business), of any other
documents, reports, and communications from or to any Regulatory Authority relating to the Compound, the Product, or activities under this Agreement. Upon
VIT’s reasonable request, ChemoCentryx shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to assist VIT, VIT’s Affiliates and any Sublicensees in maintaining
Regulatory Approvals for the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory.
(f) VIT will reimburse all reasonable and documented external expenses incurred by ChemoCentryx to Third Parties in connection with any assistance
or provision of content and subject matter expertise under Sections 5.1(c), (d) and (e). ChemoCentryx will reimburse all reasonable and documented external
expenses incurred by VIT to Third Parties in connection with any assistance or provision of content and subject matter expertise as requested by ChemoCentryx in
connection with ChemoCentryx’s regulatory activities for outside the VIT Territory.
(g) ChemoCentryx shall keep VIT reasonably updated, through the JSC, of its material Regulatory Filings and communications with Regulatory
Authorities in major countries outside the VIT Territory, to the extent possible without breaching confidentiality obligations to a Third Party.
5.2 Meetings with Regulatory Authorities . At each regularly scheduled JSC meeting, VIT shall provide ChemoCentryx with a list and schedule of any
substantive in-person meeting or teleconference with any Regulatory Authority (or related advisory committee) planned for the next Calendar Quarter that relates to
the Compound and/or the Product. In addition, VIT shall notify ChemoCentryx as soon as reasonably possible if VIT becomes aware of any additional such
meetings or teleconferences that become scheduled for such Calendar Quarter. ChemoCentryx shall have the right to provide input in preparation for all such
meetings and teleconferences and the right, but not the obligation, to have its representatives attend and participate in such meetings and teleconferences, to the
extent permitted under Applicable Laws. ChemoCentryx will be solely responsible for all costs it incurs to participate in such meetings and teleconferences.
5.3 Adverse Event Reporting . Prior to the first Regulatory Approval of the Product in the VIT Territory, the Parties shall enter into a separate safety data
exchange agreement (the “ Safety Data Agreement ”), which shall specify each Party’s responsibilities with respect to the timely reporting of all relevant adverse
drug reactions/experiences, Product quality, Product complaints, and Safety Data relating to Compounds and the Product to the appropriate Regulatory Authorities
in and outside the VIT Territory, and the management of such reports and Safety Data, all in accordance with Applicable Laws of the relevant countries and
Regulatory Authorities. The Parties shall amend the Safety Data Agreement from time to time as necessary to comply with any changes in Applicable Laws or any
guidance received from applicable Regulatory Authorities. The Parties shall cooperate with each other with respect to their respective responsibilities under the
Safety Data Agreement, and each Party shall be solely responsible for costs relating to its respective responsibilities under the Safety Data Agreement, unless the
Parties agree otherwise in writing.
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6.

C OMMERCIALIZATION

6.1 General. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and except as otherwise agreed by the Parties, VIT shall be solely responsible, at its
own expense, for all aspects of the Commercialization of the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory, including: (a) developing and executing a commercial
launch and pre-launch plan; (b) negotiating with commercial payors and the applicable Governmental Authorities responsible for Pricing and Reimbursement
Approvals or regarding the price and reimbursement status of the Product; (c) marketing and promotion activities; (d) booking sales and distribution and
performance of related services; (e) handling all aspects of order processing, invoicing and collection, inventory and receivables; (f) providing customer support,
including handling medical queries, and performing other related functions; and (h) conforming its practices and procedures to Applicable Laws relating to the
marketing, detailing, and promotion of the Product in the VIT Territory. As provided in Sections 10.11 and 10.12, VIT shall provide ChemoCentryx with samples
of any core advertising and promotional materials in English, and samples of local adaptations of such core materials in the Major Market Countries, for
informational purposes only, prior to distributing such materials for use, but will not be required to provide samples of local adaptations of any such materials
outside the Major Market Countries
6.2 Commercialization Plan. No later than nine (9) months prior to the anticipated first Regulatory Approval of the Product in the VIT Territory, VIT shall
provide to the JSC its Commercialization Plan for the Major Market Countries for JSC review and consideration as provided in Section 3.1(e). VIT shall on an
annual basis prepare updates and amendments to its Commercialization Plan for the Major Market Countries to reflect changes in its plans, including in response to
changes in the marketplaces and related product forecasts, relative success of the Product, and other relevant factors influencing such plans and activities, and shall
submit such updates and amendments to the JSC for review as provided in Section 3.1(e). For the avoidance of doubt, VIT will not be required to include
information in any amendments or updates to its Commercialization Plan under this Section 6.2 that it does not otherwise create for its own internal purposes.
6.3 Commercialization Diligence. VIT shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to seek and obtain Pricing and Reimbursement Approval for and to
market, promote, and otherwise Commercialize the Product in the Field in the Major Market Countries in VIT Territory and the countries in the VIT Territory
listed on Schedule 6.3, and specifically shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to:
(a) commence the regular commercial distribution, use, and sale of the Product in the Field in each Major Market Country and country in the
VIT Territory listed on Schedule 6.3 and for each Indication in which it obtains Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval as soon as
practicable, in its exercise of Commercially Reasonable Efforts, following such Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval; and
(b) thereafter continue to Commercialize the Product in the Field in each Major Market Country and country in the VIT Territory listed on
Schedule 6.3 and for each Indication for which the Product has received Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement Approval in such countries.
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Without limiting the foregoing, VIT shall launch the Product in each country for which it receives Regulatory Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement
Approval within [***] after obtaining such approvals, provided that (i) such launch is consistent with VIT’s exercise of Commercially Reasonable Efforts and (ii)
sufficient quantities of the Product are available. [***].
6.4 Commercialization Reports. Each Party shall update the JSC at each regularly scheduled JSC meeting regarding its Commercialization of the Product
in the VIT Territory as to VIT and outside the VIT Territory as to ChemoCentryx. Each such update by VIT shall summarize VIT’s and it Affiliates’ and
Sublicensees’ significant Commercialization activities with respect to the Product in the VIT Territory, and will be at a level of detail reasonably requested by
ChemoCentryx and sufficient to enable ChemoCentryx to determine VIT’s compliance with its diligence obligations in Section 6.3. Each Party shall promptly
respond to the other Party’s JSC representatives’ reasonable questions or requests for additional information relating to such Commercialization activities. For the
avoidance of doubt, VIT will not be required to include information in its reports under this Section 6.4 that it does not otherwise create for its own internal
purposes.
6.5 Ex-Territory and Ex-Field Activities.
(a) VIT hereby covenants and agrees that during the Term it shall not (and shall cause its Affiliates, Sublicensees and subcontractors not to), either
itself or through a Third Party, market, promote, sell or actively offer for sale the Product outside the Field in the VIT Territory or outside of the VIT Territory in or
outside of the Field. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, with respect to countries outside of the VIT Territory, VIT shall not (i) engage in any
advertising activities relating to the Product directed primarily to customers outside the VIT Territory (which excludes any participation in conferences, congresses
or scientific or medical meetings held throughout the world), or (ii) actively or intentionally solicit orders from any prospective purchaser located outside the VIT
Territory. To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, including applicable antitrust laws, if VIT receives any order from a prospective purchaser located in a
country outside of the VIT Territory, VIT shall immediately refer that order to ChemoCentryx and shall not accept any such order or deliver or tender (or cause to
be delivered or tendered) the Product under such order. If VIT should reasonably know that a customer or Distributor is actively engaged itself or through a Third
Party in the sale or distribution of the Product outside of the VIT Territory or outside the Field within the VIT Territory, then VIT shall (A) within five (5) Business
Days of gaining knowledge of such activities, notify ChemoCentryx regarding such activities and provide all information available to VIT that ChemoCentryx may
reasonably request concerning such activities and (B) take Commercially Reasonable Efforts (including cessation of sales to such customer) necessary to limit such
sale or distribution outside the VIT Territory or the Field, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.
***
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(b) ChemoCentryx hereby covenants and agrees that during the Term it shall not (and shall cause its Affiliates, ChemoCentryx Collaborators and
subcontractors not to), either itself or through a Third Party, market, promote, sell or actively offer for sale the Product for use in the Field in the VIT
Territory. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, with respect to countries within the VIT Territory, ChemoCentryx shall not (i) engage in any advertising
activities relating to the Product for use in the Field directed primarily to customers located in such countries within the VIT Territory (which excludes any
participation in conferences, congresses or scientific or medical meetings held throughout the world), or (ii) actively or intentionally solicit orders from any
prospective purchaser of the Product for use in the Field located in such countries within the VIT Territory. To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, including
applicable antitrust laws, if ChemoCentryx receives any order from a prospective purchaser for the Product in the Field located in a country inside of the VIT
Territory, ChemoCentryx shall immediately refer that order to VIT. If ChemoCentryx should reasonably know that a customer or distributor is actively engaged
itself or through a Third Party in the sale or distribution of the Product inside the VIT Territory in the Field, then ChemoCentryx shall (A) within five (5) Business
Days of gaining knowledge of such activities, notify VIT regarding such activities and provide all information available to ChemoCentryx that VIT may reasonably
request concerning such activities and (B) take Commercially Reasonable Efforts (including cessation of sales to such customer) necessary to limit such sale or
distribution inside the VIT Territory in the Field, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.
7.

M ANUFACTURE AND S UPPLY

7.1 Manufacturing Committee . At the first JSC meeting, the JSC shall establish a joint manufacturing subcommittee (the “ JMC ”), with subject matter
experts from each Party, to oversee decisions and facilitate communications between the Parties with respect to the supply of Product to VIT. The JMC shall be
responsible for determining the strategy and timing for supply of Drug Substance and Bulk Drug Product for the U.S. and VIT Territory (which may include supply
by VIT or its Affiliate or by a Third Party CMO through ChemoCentryx, and may include commencing qualification of such supplier prior to Regulatory Approval
of the Product in the VIT Territory), selecting and overseeing the qualification of Third Party CMOs (including secondary suppliers) for supplying Compound as
bulk drug substance (“ Drug Substance ”) and Bulk Drug Product to VIT for Commercial use in the VIT Territory; provided that ChemoCentryx shall retain all
control over the strategy and implementation of supply of Drug Substance and Bulk Drug Product for outside the VIT Territory. Unless agreed otherwise by the
Parties, ChemoCentryx shall directly engage such CMOs for such supply. Decisions of the JMC will be made by consensus of the JMC, without escalation to the
JSC or the Executive Officers.
7.2 Commercial Supply Agreement . Unless agreed otherwise by the JMC or the Parties, ChemoCentryx, itself or through its Affiliates or Third Party
CMOs, shall manufacture and supply VIT’s and its Affiliates’ and Sublicensees’ requirements for the Product for Commercial use in the VIT Territory as Bulk
Drug Product, pursuant to a separate supply agreement to be entered into between the Parties, along with a quality agreement, within twelve (12) months after the
Effective Date (the “ Supply Agreement ”). The Supply Agreement will contain commercially reasonable and customary terms consistent with this Article 7, as
well as the terms of ChemoCentryx’s agreements with its Third Party CMOs that supply Compound and Product, including the warranties and remedies therein.
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7.3 Transfer Price . Pursuant to the Supply Agreement, ChemoCentryx will supply Bulk Drug Product to VIT at a transfer price equal to ChemoCentryx’s
Cost of Goods plus [***] of such Cost of Goods.
7.4 VIT’s Manufacturing Obligations . VIT shall be solely responsible for packaging and labeling of all Product for Commercial use in the Field in the
VIT Territory.
7.5 Clinical Supply . In the event that VIT conducts clinical studies of the Product pursuant to Section 4.3 or 4.4 and in accordance with the Development
Plan prior to the first Regulatory Approval in the VIT Territory, ChemoCentryx shall supply Product in the form then used by ChemoCentryx for clinical trials at a
transfer price equal to ChemoCentryx’s Cost of Goods plus [***] of such Cost of Goods. The JSC will establish the process, timing and quantity for such supply,
and the Parties will enter into a quality agreement with respect to quality aspects of such supply.
8.

F EES AND P AYMENTS
8.1 Upfront Payments.

(a) VIT shall make a one-time, non-refundable, non-creditable payment to ChemoCentryx of sixty million dollars ($60,000,000) within ten (10)
Business Days after the Effective Date.
(b) In consideration for the inclusion of Mexico, Canada, and South Korea in the VIT Territory and the Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation Right granted
to VIT in Section 2.10, VIT shall purchase from ChemoCentryx, under the Stock Purchase Agreement, that number of shares of common stock of ChemoCentryx
equivalent to twenty-five million dollars ($25,000,000), at a price per share equal to $7.50 per share.
8.2 Regulatory Milestone Payments.
(a) Regulatory Milestones . Subject to Section 8.2(b), VIT shall pay to ChemoCentryx the non-refundable, non-creditable milestone
payments set forth in the table below within thirty (30) days after the achievement of each milestone event (whether by or on behalf of VIT, its Affiliates, or
Sublicensees) by the Product achieving the milestone event:
Regulatory Milestone Event

Milestone Payment (in US$)

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
***

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
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(b) A ccelerated EMA Filing Milestones . In the event that VIT or its Affiliate or Sublicensee achieves one of the milestone events set forth
in the table below, VIT shall pay to ChemoCentryx the corresponding non-refundable, non-creditable milestone payment within thirty (30) days after the
achievement of such milestone event (whether by or on behalf of VIT, its Affiliates, or Sublicensees) by the Product achieving the milestone event; provided that
such payment shall be in lieu of the [***] payment set forth in the table in Section 8.2(a):
Accelerated EMA Filing Milestone Event

Milestone Payment (in US$)

[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]

(c) For clarity, (i) each milestone payment set forth in Section 8.2(a) shall be payable only once, upon the first achievement of the
applicable Milestone Event, and (ii) only one of the milestone payments set forth in Section 8.2(b) shall be payable, such milestone payment payable only once,
upon the first achievement of the applicable Milestone Event, and upon such milestone payment being made, the [***] payment set forth in Section 8.2(a) shall not
be payable. With respect to the [***] Milestone Events in Section 8.2(a), VIT shall notify ChemoCentryx within ten (10) days after achievement thereof, and
ChemoCentryx shall provide [***].
8.3 Commercial Milestone Payments . VIT shall pay to ChemoCentryx the one-time, non-refundable, non-creditable commercial milestone payments set
forth below, in each case within thirty (30) days after the end of the first Calendar Quarter during which the aggregate annual Net Sales of all Product in the VIT
Territory in a Calendar Year first reach the values indicated below. For clarity, the milestone payments in this Section 8.3 shall be additive such that if multiple
milestone events specified below are achieved in the same Calendar Quarter, then the milestone payments for all such milestone events shall be payable within
thirty (30) days after the end of such quarter.
***
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Annual Net Sales of all Product in the VIT Territory (in US$)

Milestone Payment (in US$)

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

8.4 Royalty Payments .
(a) Royalty Rate. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, VIT shall make Calendar Quarterly, non-refundable, non-creditable
royalty payments to ChemoCentryx on the Net Sales of the Product sold in the VIT Territory during the applicable Royalty Term, as calculated by multiplying the
applicable royalty rate set forth below by the corresponding amount of Net Sales of the Product sold in the VIT Territory in the applicable Calendar Year.
Annual Net Sales of the Product in a Country in the VIT Territory

For that portion of annual Net Sales less than or equal to [***]
For that portion of annual Net Sales greater than [***] but less than or equal to [***]
For that portion of annual Net Sales greater than [***] but less than or equal to [***]
For that portion of annual Net Sales greater than [***] but less than or equal to [***]
For that portion of annual Net Sales greater than [***]

Royalty Rate

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

(b) Royalty Term. Royalties shall be paid on a country-by-country basis in the VIT Territory from the First Commercial Sale of the Product in
such country until the latest of (i) expiration of the last-to-expire Valid Claim of the ChemoCentryx Patents (including Joint Patents) that would, but
for the licenses granted hereunder, be infringed by the using, selling or importing of the Product in such country in the VIT Territory [***]; (ii) the
expiration of any Regulatory Exclusivity for the Product in such country; or (iii) ten (10) years after the First Commercial Sale of the Product in such
country (the “ Royalty Term ”).
(c) Generic Competition. If one (1) or more Generic Products to the Product are launched in a country, regulatory jurisdiction or region in
the VIT Territory during the Royalty Term for the Product in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region and after
***
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Regulatory Approval of a Generic Product in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region, and if the total revenue for the sale of the relevant Product in such
country, regulatory jurisdiction or region during a Calendar Quarter decreases by [***] or more from the total revenue for the Product in such country, regulatory
jurisdiction or region during the Calendar Quarter immediately before the launch of the Generic Products in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region, then the
royalties payable under Section 8.4(a) with respect to the relevant Product in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region shall be reduced by [***] starting with
the Calendar Quarter in which the total revenue for the sale of the relevant Product decreased by [***] or more. Such royalty reduction will be calculated by
determining the portion of total Net Sales of the relevant Product in the VIT Territory in a Calendar Quarter that is attributable to country, regulatory jurisdiction or
region in which such reduction applies, and by determining the total royalties for the VIT Territory without reduction, and then reducing by [***] the applicable
portion (based on Net Sales) of total royalties attributable to country, regulatory jurisdiction or region in which such reduction applies. The royalties payable with
respect to the relevant Product in such country, regulatory jurisdiction or region will be [***]. An example of the foregoing calculation is set forth on
Exhibit 8.4(c).
(d) Joint Patents and Product Technology . If during the Royalty Term for the Product and country, following the expiration of the time
periods in clauses (ii) and (iii) of Section 8.4(b), the only Valid Claim included in clause (i) of Section 8.4(b) is a Joint Patent or Patent included in the Product
Technology, then the royalties payable under Section 8.4(a) with respect to the Product and country shall be reduced by [***] of the amounts otherwise payable
under Section 8.4(a). Such royalty reduction will be calculated in a manner analogous to the calculation of royalties under Section 8.4(c).
(e) Third Party Payments . If it is necessary for VIT, its Affiliates, or Sublicensees to obtain a license from a Third Party under any Patent in
a particular country in the VIT Territory that claims the composition of matter or method of use of the Compound in the Field, such that such Patent would be
infringed by the sale, promotion, manufacture, use, or import of the Product in the absence of such license, VIT shall have the right to credit [***] of the payments
made to such Third Party pursuant to such license (including payments to ChemoCentryx under Section 2.7, to the extent applicable) against any royalty payments
owed to ChemoCentryx hereunder with respect to the Product in such country; provided that (i) in no event shall the royalty payment to ChemoCentryx for the
Product and country be reduced by more than [***] of the amount otherwise owed to ChemoCentryx and (ii) VIT shall not have the right to credit any such
payment with respect to the Product and country after the expiration of the Royalty Term for the Product and country.
9.

P AYMENT ; R ECORDS ; A UDITS

9.1 Payment; Reports. Royalty payments due by VIT to ChemoCentryx under Section 8.4 shall be calculated and reported for each Calendar Quarter. VIT
shall pay all royalty payments due under Section 8.4 within sixty (60) days after the end of each Calendar Quarter
***
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and shall include with each payment a report setting forth, on a country-by-country basis, Net Sales of the Product by VIT and its Affiliates and Sublicensees in the
VIT Territory in sufficient detail to permit confirmation of the accuracy of the royalty payment made, including, for each country, (i) the amount of gross sales of
the Product, (ii) an itemized calculation of Net Sales in the VIT Territory showing separately each type of deduction provided for in the definition of “Net Sales,”
(iii) a calculation of the royalty payment due on such sales, including the application of any reduction made in accordance with Section 8.4(c), 8.4(d) and/or 8.4(e),
and (iv) the exchange rate for such country.
9.2 Exchange Rate; Manner and Place of Payment. All references to dollars and “$” herein shall refer to U.S. dollars. All payments hereunder shall be
payable in U.S. dollars. When conversion of payments from any currency other than U.S. dollars is required, such conversion shall be at an exchange rate equal to
the weighted average of the rates of exchange for the currency of the country from which such payments are payable as published by The Wall Street Journal ,
Western U.S. Edition, during the Calendar Quarter in which the applicable sales were made. All payments owed under this Agreement shall be made by wire
transfer in immediately available funds to a bank and account designated in writing by ChemoCentryx. VIT shall be responsible for all wire transfer fees incurred
in connection with its payments to ChemoCentryx under this Agreement.
9.3 Taxes.
(a) Taxes on Income. Except as set forth in this Section 9.3, each Party shall be solely responsible for the payment of all taxes imposed on its
share of income arising directly or indirectly from the activities of the Parties under this Agreement.
(b) Tax Cooperation. The Parties agree to cooperate with one another and use reasonable efforts to avoid or reduce tax withholding or
similar obligations in respect of royalties, milestone payments, and other payments made by VIT to ChemoCentryx under this Agreement. The Parties expect that
no withholding taxes will be required as a result of any such payments, but if any relevant Governmental Authority finds that withholding taxes should be charged,
the liability for such taxes shall be the sole responsibility of ChemoCentryx. ChemoCentryx shall provide VIT any tax forms that may be reasonably necessary in
order for VIT to not withhold tax or to withhold tax at a reduced rate under an applicable bilateral income tax treaty. VIT shall use reasonable efforts to identify any
such forms prior to the due date and ChemoCentryx shall use reasonable efforts to provide any such tax forms to VIT in advance of the due date. Each Party shall
provide the other with reasonable assistance to enable the recovery, as permitted by Applicable Laws, of withholding taxes or similar obligations resulting from
payments made under this Agreement, such recovery to be for the benefit of ChemoCentryx as the Party bearing such withholding tax under this Section
9.3(b). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if either Party makes an assignment pursuant to Section 16.5 or otherwise transfers its obligations under this Agreement to
another entity and such action results in the imposition of withholding taxes that were not otherwise applicable (“ Incremental Withholding Taxes ”), then the
Party taking such action shall be solely responsible for the amount of such Incremental Withholding Taxes and the Party taking such action shall increase the
amounts payable to the other Party so that the other Party receives a sum equal to the sum which it would have received had there been no such action and resulting
tax increase.
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9.4 Records; Audit. VIT shall keep, and shall cause its Affiliates and Sublicensees to keep, complete and accurate records pertaining to the
sale or other disposition of the Product in sufficient detail to permit ChemoCentryx to confirm the accuracy of commercial milestone and royalty payments due
hereunder. Such records shall be kept for such period of time required by Applicable Laws, but in no case less than three (3) years following the end of the
Calendar Quarter to which they pertain. ChemoCentryx shall have the right to have an independent, certified public accountant reasonably acceptable to VIT audit
such records to confirm Net Sales, royalties, and other payments for a period covering not more than three (3) years following the Calendar Quarter to which they
pertain. Such audits may be exercised only once for any period and no more than once per Calendar Year during normal business hours upon reasonable prior
written notice to VIT. Any such auditor shall not disclose VIT’s confidential information to ChemoCentryx, except to the extent such disclosure is necessary to
verify the accuracy of the financial reports furnished by VIT or the amount of payments by VIT under this Agreement. Any amounts shown to be owed but unpaid
shall be paid within thirty (30) days after the accountant’s report, plus interest (as set forth in Section 9.5) from the original due date. Any overpayment by VIT
revealed by an audit shall be credited against future payments owed by VIT to ChemoCentryx (and if no further payments are due, shall be refunded by
ChemoCentryx at the request of VIT). ChemoCentryx shall bear the full cost of such audit unless such audit discloses an underpayment by VIT of more than five
percent (5%) of the amount of royalties or other payments due under this Agreement for any applicable Calendar Quarter, in which case, VIT shall bear the cost of
such audit.
9.5 Late Payments. In the event that any payment due under this Agreement is not paid when due in accordance with the applicable provisions of this
Agreement, the payment shall accrue interest from the date due at the rate that is the lesser of (a) the London Interbank Offered Rate plus 1% or (b) the highest rate
permitted under Applicable Law. The payment of such interest shall not limit the Party entitled to receive payment from exercising any other rights it may have as a
consequence of the lateness of any payment.
10.

I NTELLECTUAL P ROPERTY

10.1 Ownership of Data. All Data generated in connection with any Development, regulatory, manufacturing or Commercial activities with respect to any
Compound or Product conducted by or on behalf of VIT or its Affiliates or Sublicensees (the “ VIT Data ”) shall be the sole and exclusive property of VIT or of its
Affiliates or Sublicensees, as applicable. All Data generated in connection with any Development, manufacturing or Commercial activities with respect to any
Compound or Product conducted by or on behalf of ChemoCentryx and its Affiliates and, to the extent Controlled by ChemoCentryx, ChemoCentryx Collaborators
(the “ ChemoCentryx Data ”) shall be the sole and exclusive property of ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates or ChemoCentryx Collaborators, as applicable.
10.2 Ownership of Inventions. Ownership of all Inventions shall be based on inventorship, as determined in accordance with the rules of inventorship
under United States patent laws. Each Party shall solely own any Inventions made solely by its or its Affiliates’ employees, agents, or independent contractors (“
Sole Inventions ”). The Parties shall jointly own any Inventions that are made jointly by employees, agents, or independent contractors of one Party or its Affiliates
together with employees, agents, or independent contractors of the
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other Party or its Affiliates (“ Joint Inventions ”). All Patents claiming Joint Inventions shall be referred to herein as “ Joint Patents. ” Except to the extent either
Party is restricted by the licenses granted to the other Party under this Agreement, each Party shall be entitled to practice, license, assign, and otherwise exploit the
Joint Inventions and Joint Patents without the duty of accounting or seeking consent from the other Party.
10.3 Disclosure of Inventions . Each Party shall promptly disclose to the other Party all Sole Inventions of such Party and all Joint Inventions, including any
invention disclosures or other similar documents submitted to it by its employees, agents, or independent contractors describing such Inventions, and shall promptly
respond to reasonable requests from the other Party for additional information relating to such Inventions; provided that neither Party will be required to disclose
(a) Sole Inventions related to treatment algorithms or patient care programs, (b) Sole Inventions relating to any compound that is proprietary to such Party, any of
its Affiliates or their licensees/Sublicensees or the combination of a Compound with any such proprietary compound, and (c) Sole Inventions resulting from
development or commercialization efforts that are not conducted under this Agreement and do not use the Compound or the Product or any Patents or Know-How
of the other Party or its Affiliates, including, without limitation, Sole Inventions not directly related to the Compound or the Product that has been developed by
VIT, any of its Affiliates or any Third Party under independent research programs or agreements (e.g. generic drug delivery Sole Inventions) without use of the
Compound or the Product or any Patents or Know-How of the other Party or its Affiliates.
10.4 Product Technology.
(a) Notwithstanding the terms of Sections 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, any Joint Technology or VIT Technology directly related to the Compound or
Product and arising directly from the Development of the Compound or Product under this Agreement that directly relates to (i) a pharmaceutical product with the
same or similar chemical composition, formulation and mode of delivery of the Product, (ii) a pharmaceutical composition comprising the API of the Product, (iii)
any amendment, change or improvement to the manufacturing process or specifications for the Product provided by ChemoCentryx to VIT, (iv) a new medical use
of or method of using the Product (other than treatment algorithms or patient care programs), and (v) any combination of the API of the Product that includes at
least one additional API other than the API of the Product (the ” Product Technology ”)), shall be the exclusive property of ChemoCentryx and the corresponding
intellectual property rights shall be owned by ChemoCentryx.
(b) Product Technology will be included in the ChemoCentryx Technology. VIT hereby assigns all of its and any VIT Affiliates’ right, title and
interest in and to the Product Technology to ChemoCentryx, and agrees to take all actions reasonably requested by ChemoCentryx to evidence such assignment.
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10.5 Patent Prosecution and Maintenance .
(a) ChemoCentryx Patents and Joint Patents.
(i) As between the Parties, ChemoCentryx shall have the first right to file, prosecute and maintain all ChemoCentryx Patents
(including Joint Patents) in the VIT Territory and all Joint Patents outside the VIT Territory, at its sole expense. In addition, ChemoCentryx [***]. ChemoCentryx
will be responsible for [***] of the costs incurred with respect to the prosecution and maintenance of the ChemoCentryx Patents (other than Joint Patents)
prosecuted and maintained by ChemoCentryx, [***] of the costs incurred with respect to the prosecution and maintenance of the Joint Patents outside the VIT
Territory prosecuted and maintained by ChemoCentryx, and [***] of the costs incurred with respect to the prosecution and maintenance of the Joint Patents
prosecuted and maintained by ChemoCentryx in the VIT Territory. VIT shall pay [***] of the prosecution and maintenance costs incurred by ChemoCentryx for
any [***]. For the purpose of this Article 10, “prosecution” shall include any post-grant proceeding including patent interference proceeding, opposition
proceeding, and reexamination.
(ii) ChemoCentryx shall consult with VIT and keep VIT reasonably informed of the status of the ChemoCentryx Patents
(including Joint Patents) in the VIT Territory and Joint Patents outside the VIT Territory and shall promptly provide VIT with all material correspondence received
from any patent authority in connection therewith. In addition, ChemoCentryx shall promptly provide VIT with drafts of all proposed material filings and
correspondence to any patent authority with respect to the ChemoCentryx Patents (including Joint Patents) in the VIT Territory and Joint Patents outside the VIT
Territory for VIT’s review and comment prior to the submission of such proposed filings and correspondences. ChemoCentryx shall confer with VIT and consider
in good faith VIT’s comments prior to submitting such filings and correspondences, provided that VIT shall provide such comments within fourteen (14) days (or a
shorter period reasonably designated by ChemoCentryx if fourteen (14) days is not practicable given the filing deadline) of receiving the draft filings and
correspondences from ChemoCentryx.
(iii) In the event that ChemoCentryx desires to abandon or cease prosecution or maintenance of any ChemoCentryx Patent
(including a Joint Patent) in the VIT Territory or Joint Patent outside the VIT Territory, ChemoCentryx shall provide reasonable prior written notice to VIT of such
intention to abandon (which notice shall, to the extent possible, be given no later than sixty (60) days prior to the next deadline for any action that must be taken
with respect to any such ChemoCentryx Patent in the relevant patent office). If VIT so elects, ChemoCentryx shall permit VIT, at its discretion and at its sole
expense, to continue prosecution or maintenance of such ChemoCentryx Patent (or Joint Patent). If VIT has assumed responsibility for the prosecution or
maintenance of any such ChemoCentryx Patent or Joint Patent, it shall no longer be considered a ChemoCentryx Patent (or Joint Patent) under this Agreement for
the purpose of the Royalty Term.
***

Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the
omitted portions.
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(iv) If VIT does not provide such election within thirty (30) days after such notice from ChemoCentryx, ChemoCentryx may, in
its sole discretion, either continue or discontinue prosecution and maintenance of such ChemoCentryx Patent or Joint Patent.
(v) If in the VIT Territory the equivalent of the “Approved Drug the Product with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations” (the “
Orange Book ”) permits the listing of any ChemoCentryx Patent (including a Joint Patent), VIT shall ensure that it: (A) maintains correct and complete listings of
all applicable ChemoCentryx Patents and Joint Patents in such listing system in accordance with Applicable Laws and advice of its intellectual property and
regulatory counsel and (B) enforces such listings in a timely manner, each as applicable. ChemoCentryx shall provide updated status of the ChemoCentryx Patents
(including Joint Patents) as necessary for VIT to comply with its obligations in this Section 10.5(a)(v).
(vi) If requested by VIT, ChemoCentryx shall register this Agreement (redacted as may be permitted) in the national patent office
registers for the any ChemoCentryx Patents or Joint Patents covering the marketed Product.
(vii) With regard to any ChemoCentryx Patent (including a Joint Patent) which falls under the new European Unified Patent
System, ChemoCentryx shall elect the opt-out option unless the Parties agree otherwise, which agreement neither Party will unreasonably withhold.
(viii) ChemoCentryx shall [***].
(b) VIT Patents .
(i) As between the Parties, VIT shall have the first right to control the preparation, filing, prosecution (including any
interferences, reissue proceedings and reexaminations), and maintenance of all VIT Patents (excluding Joint Patents) worldwide, at its own expense and by counsel
of its own choice. VIT shall keep ChemoCentryx reasonably informed of the status of filing, prosecution, and maintenance of such VIT Patents, and shall consult
with, and consider in good faith the requests and suggestions of, ChemoCentryx with respect to strategies for filing and prosecuting such VIT Patents.
(ii) In the event that VIT desires to abandon or cease prosecution or maintenance of any VIT Patent (excluding Joint Patents),
VIT shall provide reasonable prior written notice to ChemoCentryx of such intention to abandon (which notice shall, to the extent possible, be given no later than
sixty (60) days prior to the next deadline for any action that must be taken with respect to any such VIT Patent in the relevant patent office). If ChemoCentryx so
elects, VIT shall permit ChemoCentryx, at its discretion and at its sole expense, to continue prosecution or maintenance of such VIT Patent.
***

Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the
omitted portions.
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10.6 Cooperation of the Parties. Each Party agrees to cooperate fully in the preparation, filing, prosecution, and maintenance of Patents under Section 10.5
and in the obtaining and maintenance of any patent term extensions, supplementary protection certificates, pediatric extensions, and their equivalent with respect
thereto, at its own cost (except as expressly set forth otherwise in this Article 10). Such cooperation includes: (a) executing all papers and instruments, or requiring
its employees or contractors, to execute such papers and instruments, so as enable the other Party to apply for and to prosecute patent applications in any country as
permitted by Section 10.5; and (b) promptly informing the other Party of any matters coming to such Party’s attention that may affect the preparation, filing,
prosecution, or maintenance of any such patent applications.
10.7 Infringement by Third Parties .
(a) Notice. In the event that either Party becomes aware of any infringement or threatened infringement by a Third Party of any ChemoCentryx
Patent, VIT Patent, or Joint Patent, or any declaratory judgment or equivalent action challenging any ChemoCentryx Patent, VIT Patent, or Joint Patent in
connection with any such infringement, it will notify the other Party in writing to that effect. Any such notice shall include evidence to support an allegation of
infringement or threatened infringement, or declaratory judgment or equivalent action, by such Third Party.
(b) ChemoCentryx Patents and Joint Patents.
(i) As between the Parties, ChemoCentryx will have the first right, but no obligation, to bring and control any action or
proceeding with respect to infringement or challenge of any ChemoCentryx Patent (including any Joint Patent) in the VIT Territory or any Joint Patent outside the
VIT Territory, at its own expense, including the filing of an infringement suit using counsel of its own choice. VIT shall have the right, at its own expense, to be
represented in any such action by counsel of its own choice, and ChemoCentryx and its counsel will reasonably cooperate with VIT and its counsel in strategizing,
preparing, and litigating any such action or proceeding. If ChemoCentryx fails to resolve such Third Party activity or to initiate a suit with respect thereto within 75
days after the notice under Section 10.7(a), or such shorter period as necessary to preserve any rights to enforce the applicable Patents (including the right to obtain
an interim injunction in the case of an imminent Generic Product threat), VIT will have the right, but not the obligation, to attempt to resolve such Third Party
infringement or challenge of any ChemoCentryx Patent (including any Joint Patent) in the VIT Territory at its discretion and at its own expense, but, in the case of
ChemoCentryx Patents (other than Joint Patents), only if such infringement or challenge involves a Third Party’s Product, including the filing of an infringement
suit using counsel of its own choice. ChemoCentryx shall have the right, at its own expense, to be represented in any such action or proceeding initiated by VIT by
counsel of its own choice.
(ii) Except as otherwise agreed by the Parties as part of a cost-sharing arrangement, any recovery or damages realized as a result
of such action or proceeding with respect to ChemoCentryx Patents or Joint Patents (whether brought by ChemoCentryx or by VIT) shall be used first to reimburse
the Parties’ reasonable and documented out-of-pocket legal expenses relating to the action or proceeding, and all remaining compensatory damages relating
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to the Product (including lost sales or lost profits with respect to the Product) shall be deemed Net Sales and paid to VIT, less an amount equal to royalty payments
to ChemoCentryx on such deemed Net Sales in accordance with the royalty provisions of Section 8.4, which amount shall be paid to ChemoCentryx, and any
punitive damages shall be shared equally by the Parties.
(c) VIT Patents.
(i) As between the Parties, VIT shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, to bring and control any action or proceeding with
respect to infringement or challenge of any VIT Patent (other than a Joint Patent) in the VIT Territory, at its own expense and by counsel of its own choice. Any
recovery or damages realized as a result of such action or proceeding by VIT with respect to such VIT Patents in the VIT Territory shall be used first to reimburse
VIT’s reasonable and documented out-of-pocket legal expenses relating to the action or proceeding, and any remaining compensatory damages relating to the
Product (including lost sales or lost profits with respect to the Product) shall be retained by VIT, and any punitive damages shall be retained by VIT.
(ii) As between the Parties, VIT shall have the first right, but no obligation, to bring and control any action or proceeding with
respect to infringement or challenge of any VIT Patent (other than a Joint Patent) outside the VIT Territory, at its own expense, including the filing of an
infringement suit using counsel of its own choice. ChemoCentryx shall have the right, at its own expense, to be represented in any such action by counsel of its own
choice, and VIT and its counsel will reasonably cooperate with ChemoCentryx and its counsel in strategizing, preparing, and litigating any such action or
proceeding. If VIT fails to resolve such Third Party activity or to initiate a suit with respect thereto within 75 days after the notice under Section 10.7(a), or such
shorter period as necessary to preserve any rights to enforce the applicable Patents (including the right to obtain an injunction), ChemoCentryx will have the right,
but not the obligation, to attempt to resolve such Third Party activity (but only if it involves infringement by a Third Party’s Product) by commercially appropriate
steps at its own expense, including the filing of an infringement suit using counsel of its own choice. VIT shall have the right, at its own expense, to be represented
in any such action or proceeding initiated by ChemoCentryx by counsel of its own choice
(iii) Except as otherwise agreed by the Parties as part of a cost-sharing arrangement, any recovery or damages realized as a result
of such action or proceeding with respect to VIT Patents (other than Joint Patents) outside the VIT Territory shall be used first to reimburse the Parties’ reasonable
and documented out-of-pocket legal expenses relating to the action or proceeding, and any remaining compensatory damages relating to the Product (including lost
sales or lost profits with respect to the Product) shall be retained by the Party that brought and controlled such action or proceeding, and any punitive damages shall
be equally shared by the Parties.
(d) Cooperation. In the event that a Party brings an action in accordance with this Section 10.7, the other Party shall cooperate fully,
including, if required to bring such action, the furnishing of a power of attorney or being named as a party to such action, and shall provide full access to
documents, information and witnesses as reasonably requested by the Party bringing the action in connection with such action. The Party bringing the action will
reimburse
49.

Execution Version
all Third Party costs incurred by the other Party in connection with such requested cooperation. Because ChemoCentryx owns the ChemoCentryx Patents, its
assistance will be particularly important if VIT is required to enforce any ChemoCentryx Patents against a Third Party.
10.8 Infringement of Third Party Rights. Each Party shall promptly notify the other in writing of any allegation by a Third Party that the
Commercialization, manufacture, or Development of the Product infringes or may infringe any Patent or other right of by a Third Party. If a Third Party asserts that
any of its Patents or other rights are infringed by the manufacture, Commercialization or Development by VIT or its Affiliates or Sublicensees of the Product in the
VIT Territory, VIT shall have the right but not the obligation to defend against any such assertions. In the event that VIT elects not to defend against such Third
Party claims within one hundred twenty (120) days of learning of same, ChemoCentryx shall have the right, but not the obligation, to defend against such an action.
In any event, the other Party shall cooperate fully and shall provide full access to documents, information and witnesses as reasonably requested by the Party
defending such action. The Party defending the action will reimburse all Third Party costs incurred in connection with such requested cooperation. Because
ChemoCentryx has developed the Compound and Product, its assistance will be particularly important if a Third Party alleges that VIT is infringing a Patent or
other right of such Third Party.
10.9 Consent for Settlement. Neither Party shall unilaterally enter into any settlement or compromise of any action or proceeding under this Article 10 that
would in any manner alter, diminish, or be in derogation of the other Party’s rights under this Agreement without the prior written consent of such other Party,
which shall not be unreasonably withheld.
10.10 ChemoCentryx Controlled Patents Outside the VIT Territory. For clarity, ChemoCentryx reserves all rights to prepare, file, prosecute (including
any interferences, reissue proceedings, and reexaminations), maintain, defend, and enforce all ChemoCentryx Patents outside the VIT Territory (other than Joint
Patents).
10.11 ChemoCentryx Trademarks . All packaging, promotional materials, package inserts, and labeling for the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory
shall bear one or more house Trademarks chosen and owned by ChemoCentryx, including the ChemoCentryx name and logo set forth in an exhibit to the Letter
Agreement (each, a “ ChemoCentryx Trademark ”). ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates shall own all right, title, and interest in and to all ChemoCentryx
Trademarks, all corresponding trademark applications and registrations thereof, and all common law rights thereto. ChemoCentryx shall have sole control over the
registration, prosecution, maintenance, enforcement and defense of the ChemoCentryx Trademarks. All goodwill of the business associated with or symbolized by
the ChemoCentryx Trademarks shall inure to the benefit of ChemoCentryx. VIT acknowledges ChemoCentryx’s exclusive ownership of the ChemoCentryx
Trademarks and agrees not to take any action inconsistent with such ownership. VIT shall provide ChemoCentryx with samples in English of any core advertising
and promotional materials that incorporate the ChemoCentryx Trademarks, and samples of local adaptations of such core materials in the Major Market Countries,
for informational purposes only, prior to distributing such materials for use, but will not be required to provide samples of local adaptations of any such materials
outside the Major Market Countries, provided that VIT shall ensure that all local adaptations and translations are consistent with the core materials to the
50.

Execution Version
extent permitted under Applicable Laws. VIT shall comply with reasonable policies provided by ChemoCentryx from time to time to maintain the goodwill and
value of the ChemoCentryx Trademarks. VIT shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, (i) use, seek to register, or otherwise claim rights in any Trademark that
is confusingly similar to, misleading or deceptive with respect to, or that materially dilutes, any of the ChemoCentryx Trademarks, or (ii) knowingly do, cause to be
done, or knowingly omit to do any act, the doing, causing or omitting of which endangers, undermines, impairs, destroys or similarly affects, in any material
respect, the validity or strength of any of the ChemoCentryx Trademarks (including any registration or pending registration application relating thereto) or the value
of the goodwill pertaining to any of the ChemoCentryx Trademarks.
10.12 Product Trademarks.
(a) Global Trademarks. It is the Parties’ intent to maintain consistent global branding for the Product to the extent permitted by Applicable
Laws. To the extent such consistent global branding is permitted under Applicable Laws, ChemoCentryx shall own all Trademarks related to the Product and
associated domain names (collectively, the “ Global Trademark ”). Subject to consultation with VIT through the JCC, ChemoCentryx shall be responsible for
selecting, registering, prosecuting, and maintaining the Global Trademark worldwide at its sole cost and expense. ChemoCentryx shall also select two back-up
Global Trademarks in the VIT Territory. ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates shall own all right, title, and interest in and to all Global Trademarks, all corresponding
trademark applications and registrations thereof, and all common law rights thereto. All goodwill of the business associated with or symbolized by the Global
Trademarks shall inure to the benefit of ChemoCentryx. VIT acknowledges ChemoCentryx exclusive ownership of the Global Trademarks and agrees not to take
any action inconsistent with such ownership. ChemoCentryx will be responsible for any guidelines applicable to the use of Global Trademarks.
(b) Local Trademarks . If any Global Trademark is not available for use and registration in connection with the Product in the VIT Territory due to a
rejection by a Governmental Authority, actual or threatened opposition, cancellation or litigation as to use and/or registration by a Third Party, or a determination
by the JSC that use of the Global Trademark is likely to cause confusion with another’s Trademark, VIT shall have the right to select and use an alternate
Trademark (and associated domain names), such selection subject to ChemoCentryx’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed,
and shall develop, search, file, register, maintain, defend and enforce such alternate Trademark (and associated domain names) at VIT’s sole expense (each, a “
Local Trademark ”). The Parties may decide together at a later stage to abandon Local Trademarks in certain countries if such Trademarks are no longer required.
(c) Use of Global Trademarks. To the extent that a Global Trademark is permitted under Applicable Laws, VIT shall promote, market, sell, offer for
sale, import, distribute and otherwise commercialize the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory only under the Global Trademarks. VIT shall provide
ChemoCentryx with samples of any core advertising and promotional materials that incorporate the Global Trademarks in English, and samples of local adaptations
of such core materials in the Major Market Countries, for informational purposes only, prior to distributing such materials for use, but will not be required to
provide
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samples of local adaptations of any such materials outside the Major Market, provided that VIT shall ensure that all local adaptations and translations are consistent
with the core materials to the extent permitted under Applicable Laws. VIT shall comply with reasonable policies provided by ChemoCentryx from time to time to
maintain the goodwill and value of the Global Trademarks. VIT shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, (i) use, seek to register, or otherwise claim rights in
the VIT Territory in any Trademark that is confusingly similar to, misleading or deceptive with respect to, or that materially dilutes, any of the Global Trademarks,
or (ii) knowingly do, cause to be done, or knowingly omit to do any act, the doing, causing or omitting of which endangers, undermines, impairs, destroys or
similarly affects, in any material respect, the validity or strength of any of the Global Trademarks (including any registration or pending registration application
relating thereto) or the value of the goodwill pertaining to any of the Global Trademarks.
(d) Enforcement of Trademarks. ChemoCentryx shall have the first right, but not the obligation, at ChemoCentryx’s expense, to enforce and defend
the Global Trademarks in the VIT Territory, including (i) defending against any alleged, threatened or actual claim by a Third Party that the use of the Global
Trademark in the VIT Territory infringes, dilutes or misappropriates any Trademark of that Third Party or constitutes unfair trade practices, or any other claims that
may be brought by a Third Party against a Party in connection with the use of or relating to the Global Trademarks in the VIT Territory with respect to the Product
and (ii) taking such action as ChemoCentryx deems necessary against a Third Party based on any alleged, threatened or actual infringement, dilution or
misappropriation of, or unfair trade practices or any other like offense relating to, the Global Trademarks in the VIT Territory by a Third Party. If ChemoCentryx
elects not to enforce or defend the Global Trademarks in any such instance, then ChemoCentryx shall promptly so notify VIT and VIT shall have the right, but not
the obligation, to do so at VIT’s sole expense. Each Party shall provide to the other Party all reasonable assistance requested by such first Party in connection with
any such action, claim or suit under this Section 10.12(d), including allowing such first Party access to such other Party’s documents and to such other Party’s
personnel who may have possession of relevant information.
10.13 Trademark Licenses .
(a) Global Trademarks . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, ChemoCentryx hereby grants to VIT an exclusive, royalty-free,
limited license under the Global Trademarks solely to promote, market, sell, offer for sale, import and distribute the Product in Field in the VIT Territory in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
(b) ChemoCentryx Trademarks . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, ChemoCentryx hereby grants to VIT a non-exclusive,
royalty-free, limited license under the ChemoCentryx Trademarks solely to promote, market, sell, offer for sale, import and distribute the Product in Field in the
VIT Territory in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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11.

R EPRESENTATIONS AND W ARRANTIES

11.1 Mutual Representations and Warranties. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that, as of the Effective Date: (a) it is duly organized and
validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or formation, and has full corporate or other power and authority to enter into this Agreement and
to carry out the provisions hereof, (b) it is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder, and the person or persons
executing this Agreement on its behalf has been duly authorized to do so by all requisite corporate or partnership action, (c) this Agreement is legally binding upon
it, enforceable in accordance with its terms, and does not conflict with any agreement, instrument or understanding, oral or written, to which it is a Party or by
which it may be bound, nor violate any material law or regulation of any court, governmental body or administrative or other agency having jurisdiction over it, and
(d) it has the right to grant the licenses granted by it under this Agreement.
11.2 Mutual Covenants.
(a) Employees, Consultants and Contractors. Each Party covenants that it has obtained or will obtain written agreements from each of its
employees, consultants and contractors who perform Development activities pursuant to this Agreement, which agreements will obligate such persons to
obligations of confidentiality and non-use and to assign Inventions in a manner consistent with the provisions of this Agreement.
(b) Debarment. Each Party represents, warrants and covenants to the other Party that it is not debarred or disqualified under the U.S. Federal Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act, as may be amended, or comparable laws in any country or jurisdiction other than the U.S., and it does not, and will not during the Term,
employ or use the services of any person who is debarred or disqualified, in connection with activities relating to any Compound or Product. In the event that either
Party becomes aware of the debarment or disqualification or threatened debarment or disqualification of any person providing services to such Party, including the
Party itself or its Affiliates or ChemoCentryx Collaborators or Sublicensees, that directly or indirectly relate to activities contemplated by this Agreement, such
Party shall immediately notify the other Party in writing and such Party shall cease employing, contracting with, or retaining any such person to perform any such
services.
(c) Compliance. Each Party covenants as follows:
(i) In the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, such Party shall comply and shall cause its and its Affiliates’
employees and contractors to comply with all Applicable Laws, rules and regulations.
(ii) Such Party and its and its Affiliates’ employees and contractors shall not, in connection with the performance of their
respective obligations under this Agreement, directly or indirectly through Third Parties, pay, promise or offer to pay, or authorize the payment of, any money or
give any promise or offer to give, or authorize the giving of anything of value to a public official or entity or other person for purpose of obtaining or retaining
business for or with, or directing business to, any person, including, without limitation,
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either Party (and each Party represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date, such Party, and to its Knowledge, its and its Affiliates’ employees and
contractors, have not directly or indirectly promised, offered or provided any corrupt payment, gratuity, emolument, bribe, kickback, illicit gift or hospitality or
other illegal or unethical benefit to a public official or entity or any other person in connection with the performance of such Party’s obligations under this
Agreement, and each Party covenants that it and its Affiliates’ employees and contractors shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any of the foregoing).
(iii) Such Party and its Affiliates, and their respective employees and contractors, in connection with the performance of their
respective obligations under this Agreement, shall not cause such other Party’s Indemnitees to be in violation of the FCPA, Export Control Laws, or any other
Applicable Laws, rules or regulations or otherwise cause any reputational harm to such other Party.
(iv) Such Party shall promptly notify the other Party if such Party has any information or suspicion that there may be a violation
of the FCPA, Export Control Laws, or any other Applicable Laws, rules or regulations in connection with the performance of this Agreement or the Development,
manufacture or Commercialization of the Product.
(v) In connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, such Party shall comply and shall cause its and
its Affiliates’ employees and contractors to comply with such Party’s own anti-corruption and anti-bribery policy, a copy of which will be provided to the other
Party upon request.
(vi) The other Party will have the right, upon reasonable prior written notice and during such Party’s regular business hours, to
audit such Party’s books and records in the event that a suspected violation of any of the representations, warranties or covenants in this Section 11.2(c) needs to be
investigated.
(vii) In the event that such Party has violated or has been suspected of violating any of the representations, warranties or
covenants in this Section 11.2(c), such Party will cause its or its Affiliates’ personnel or others working under its direction or control to submit to periodic training
that such Party will provide on anti-corruption law compliance.
(viii) Such Party will, at the other Party’s request, annually certify to such other Party in writing such Party’s compliance, in
connection with the performance of such Party’s obligations under this Agreement, with the representations, warranties or covenants in Section 11.2(c).
(ix) Each Party shall have the right to suspend or terminate this Agreement in its entirety if there is a credible finding of a
Governmental Authority, after a reasonable investigation, that the other Party, in connection with its performance under this Agreement, has violated the FCPA.
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11.3 Additional ChemoCentryx Representations, Warranties and Covenants. ChemoCentryx represents, warrants and covenants, as applicable, to VIT
that, as of the Effective Date:
(a) The Letter Agreement lists all Patents Controlled by ChemoCentryx or any of its Affiliates in the VIT Territory as of the Effective Date that claim
the composition of matter, method of manufacture or method of use of the Product and the Compound;
(b) All of the Patents listed in the Letter Agreement that are issued Patents are in full force and effect, and all applicable filing, maintenance and other
fees required to be paid to a patent office with respect to the Patents listed in the Letter Agreement have been timely paid;
(c) ChemoCentryx has not received any written notice from a Third Party that the Development of any Compound or Product conducted by
ChemoCentryx prior to the Effective Date has infringed, or that any Development or Commercialization of any Compound or Product will infringe, any Patents of
any Third Party;
(d) ChemoCentryx has not as of the Effective Date granted any right to any Third Party under the ChemoCentryx Technology that would conflict with
the rights granted to VIT hereunder;
(e) to ChemoCentryx’s Knowledge, no claim or action has been brought or threatened by any Third Party alleging that the ChemoCentryx Patents are
invalid or unenforceable, and no ChemoCentryx Patent is the subject of any litigation, interference, post-grant review, opposition, cancellation or other proceeding
challenging the validity or enforceability of the ChemoCentryx Patents;
(f) to ChemoCentryx’s Knowledge, the Development, Commercialization, and manufacture of the Compound in the Field in the VIT Territory does
not infringe any issued Patents of any Third Party;
(g) to ChemoCentryx’s Knowledge, no Third Party is infringing or misappropriating, or has infringed or misappropriated, the ChemoCentryx
Technology in the VIT Territory;
(h) to ChemoCentryx’s Knowledge, no Third Party has brought an action or proceeding challenging the inventorship or ownership of the
ChemoCentryx Patents;
(i) to ChemoCentryx’s Knowledge, all Patent priority rights have been properly claimed by ChemoCentryx with respect to the ChemoCentryx Patents,
and all ChemoCentryx Patents have been assigned to ChemoCentryx;
(j) ChemoCentryx exclusively owns the ChemoCentryx Patents, free and clear of any liens, mortgages, security interests or other similar
encumbrances;
(k) ChemoCentryx’s license agreement with Glaxo Group Limited has been terminated and as of the Effective Date is no longer in effect; and
(l) ChemoCentryx will not, during the Term, grant any right to any Third Party under the ChemoCentryx Technology (including the Joint Technology)
that would interfere with the rights granted hereunder.
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For purposes of Section 11.3(f), patent applications will be presumed to have been issued as patents with the published claims.
11.4 Additional VIT Representations, Warranties and Covenants. VIT represents, warrants and covenants to ChemoCentryx that, as of the Effective
Date, VIT has not granted, and will not grant during the Term, any right to any Third Party under the VIT Technology that would conflict with the rights granted to
ChemoCentryx hereunder.
11.5 Disclaimer. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, THE TECHNOLOGY AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS PROVIDED BY
EACH PARTY HEREUNDER ARE PROVIDED “AS IS” AND EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING THE WARRANTIES OF DESIGN, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE,
NONINFRINGEMENT OF THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES, OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE OR
TRADE PRACTICES, IN ALL CASES WITH RESPECT THERETO. Without limiting the foregoing, (a) neither Party represents or warrants that any data
obtained from conducting clinical trials in one country or jurisdiction will comply with the laws and regulations of any other country or jurisdiction, and (b) neither
Party represents or warrants the success of any study or test conducted by it pursuant to this Agreement or the safety or usefulness for any purpose of the
technology it provides hereunder.
12.

I NDEMNIFICATION

12.1 Indemnification by ChemoCentryx. ChemoCentryx hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless VIT, VIT’s Affiliates and any
Sublicensees and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents (each, an “ VIT Indemnitee ”) from and against any and all liabilities, expenses and
losses, including reasonable legal expenses and attorneys’ fees (“ Losses ”), to which any VIT Indemnitee may become subject as a result of any alleged claim,
claim, demand, action or other proceeding by any Third Party to the extent such Losses arise out of: (a) the Development, use, handling, storage, sale or other
disposition of any Compound or Product by ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates or ChemoCentryx Collaborators, (b) the negligence or willful misconduct of any
ChemoCentryx Indemnitee, or (c) the breach by ChemoCentryx of any warranty, representation, covenant or agreement made by ChemoCentryx in this Agreement;
except, in each case (a)-(c), to the extent such Losses arise out of the negligence or willful misconduct of any VIT Indemnitee or the breach by VIT of any
warranty, representation, covenant or agreement made by VIT in this Agreement or the Supply Agreement.
12.2 Indemnification by VIT. VIT hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless ChemoCentryx, its Affiliates and the ChemoCentryx
Collaborators and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents (each, a “ ChemoCentryx Indemnitee ”) from and against any and all Losses to which
any ChemoCentryx Indemnitee may become subject as a result of any alleged claim, claim, demand, action or other proceeding by any Third Party to the
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extent such Losses arise out of: (a) the Development, use, handling, storage, sale or other disposition of any Compound or Product by VIT or its Affiliates or
Sublicensees, (b) the negligence or willful misconduct of any VIT Indemnitee, or (c) the breach by VIT of any warranty, representation, covenant or agreement
made by VIT in this Agreement; except, in each case (a)-(c), to the extent such Losses arise out of the negligence or willful misconduct of any ChemoCentryx
Indemnitee or the breach by ChemoCentryx of any warranty, representation, covenant or agreement made by ChemoCentryx in this Agreement or the Supply
Agreement.
12.3 Procedure. A party that intends to claim indemnification under this Article 12 (the “ Indemnitee ”) shall promptly notify the indemnifying Party (the “
Indemnitor ”) in writing of any Third Party claim, demand, action or other proceeding (each, a “ Claim ”) in respect of which the Indemnitee intends to claim such
indemnification, and the Indemnitor shall have sole control of the defense or settlement thereof. The Indemnitee may participate at its expense in the Indemnitor’s
defense of and settlement negotiations for any Claim with counsel of the Indemnitee’s own selection. The indemnity arrangement in this Article 12 shall not apply
to amounts paid in settlement of any action with respect to a Claim, if such settlement is effected without the consent of the Indemnitor, which consent shall not be
withheld or delayed unreasonably. The failure to deliver written notice to the Indemnitor within a reasonable time after the commencement of any action with
respect to a Third Party Claim shall only relieve the Indemnitor of its indemnification obligations under this Article 12 if and to the extent the Indemnitor is actually
prejudiced thereby. The Indemnitee shall cooperate fully with the Indemnitor and its legal representatives in the investigation of any action with respect to a Claim
covered by this indemnification.
12.4 Insurance. Each Party, at its own expense, shall maintain product liability and other appropriate insurance (or self-insure) in an amount consistent
with sound business practice and reasonable in light of its obligations under this Agreement during the Term. Each Party shall provide a certificate of insurance (or
evidence of self-insurance) evidencing such coverage to the other Party upon request.
12.5 Limitation of Liability. EXCEPT FOR LIABILITY FOR BREACH OF ARTICLE 13, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE ENTITLED TO RECOVER
FROM THE OTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT
OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED HEREUNDER; provided, however, that this Section 12.5 shall not be construed to limit either Party’s indemnification obligations
under this Article 12.
13.

C ONFIDENTIALITY

13.1 Confidential Information. Except to the extent expressly authorized by this Agreement or otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties, the Parties agree
that, during the Term and for ten (10) years thereafter, the receiving Party shall keep confidential and shall not publish or otherwise disclose and shall not use for
any purpose other than as expressly provided for in this Agreement any Confidential Information of the other Party under to this Agreement, and both Parties shall
keep confidential and, subject to Sections 13.2 and 13.3 and 13.5, shall not publish or otherwise disclose the terms of this Agreement. Each Party may use the other
Party’s Confidential Information only to the extent required to accomplish the purposes of this
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Agreement, including exercising its rights or performing its obligations. Each Party will use at least the same standard of care as it uses to protect proprietary or
confidential information of its own (but no less than reasonable care) to ensure that its employees, agents, consultants, contractors and other representatives do not
disclose or make any unauthorized use of the Confidential Information of the other Party. Each Party will promptly notify the other upon discovery of any
unauthorized use or disclosure of the Confidential Information of the other Party.
13.2 Exceptions. The obligations of confidentiality and restriction on use under Section 13.1 will not apply to any information that the receiving Party can
prove by competent written evidence: (a) is now, or hereafter becomes, through no act or failure to act on the part of the receiving Party, generally known or
available to the public; (b) is known by the receiving Party at the time of receiving such information, other than by previous disclosure of the disclosing Party, or its
Affiliates, employees, agents, consultants, or contractors; (c) is hereafter furnished to the receiving Party without restriction by a Third Party who has no obligation
of confidentiality or limitations on use with respect thereto, as a matter of right; or (d) is independently discovered or developed by the receiving Party without the
use of Confidential Information belonging to the disclosing Party.
13.3 Authorized Disclosure. Each Party may disclose Confidential Information belonging to the other Party as expressly permitted by this Agreement or if
and to the extent such disclosure is reasonably necessary in the following instances:
(a) filing, prosecuting, or maintaining Patents as permitted by this Agreement;
(b) regulatory filings for the Product that such Party has a license or right to Develop hereunder in a given country or jurisdiction;
(c) prosecuting or defending litigation as permitted by this Agreement;
(d) complying with applicable court orders or governmental regulations; and
(e) disclosure to its and its Affiliates’ employees, consultants, contractors and agents, to ChemoCentryx Collaborators (in the case of ChemoCentryx)
and to Sublicensees (in the case of VIT), in each case on a need-to-know basis in connection with the Development, manufacture and Commercialization of
Compounds and the Product in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Supply Agreement, in each case under written obligations of confidentiality
and non-use at least as stringent as those herein; and
(f) disclosure to potential and actual investors, acquirors, licensees and other financial or commercial partners solely for the purpose of evaluating or
carrying out an actual or potential investment, acquisition or collaboration, in each case under written obligations of confidentiality and non-use at least as stringent
as those herein.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event a Party is required to make a disclosure of the other Party’s Confidential Information pursuant to Section 13.3(c) or (d),
it will, except where impracticable, give reasonable advance notice to the other Party of such disclosure and use
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efforts to secure confidential treatment of such Confidential Information at least as diligent as such Party would use to protect its own confidential information, but
in no event less than reasonable efforts. In any event, the Parties agree to take all reasonable action to avoid disclosure of Confidential Information hereunder. Any
information disclosed pursuant to Section 13.3(c) or (d) shall remain Confidential Information and subject to the restrictions set forth in this Agreement, including
the foregoing provisions of this Article 13.
13.4 Publications. Each Party shall have the right to review and comment on any material proposed for disclosure or publication by the other Party
regarding results of and other information regarding the other Party’s Development activities with respect to the Product, whether by oral presentation, poster,
manuscript or abstract. Before any such material is submitted for publication or presentation of any such material is made, each Party shall deliver a complete copy
to the other Party at least thirty (30) days prior to submitting the material to a publisher, in the case of manuscripts, and seven (7) days prior to submission or other
disclosure, in the case of oral presentations, posters and abstracts. Each Party shall review any such material and give its comments to the other Party within the
applicable review period (i.e., thirty (30) or seven (7) days of receipt of the material, as applicable). Each Party shall comply with the other Party’s request to delete
references to its Confidential Information in any such material and agrees to delay any submission for publication or other public disclosure for a period of up to an
additional thirty (30) days for the purpose of preparing and filing appropriate patent applications.
13.5 Publicity; Public Disclosures. The Parties agree to issue a joint press release substantially in a form agreed by the Parties prior to the Effective Date,
on or as promptly as practicable following, the Effective Date. It is understood that each Party may desire or be required to issue subsequent press releases relating
to this Agreement or activities hereunder. The Parties agree to consult with each other reasonably and in good faith with respect to the text and timing of such press
releases prior to the issuance thereof, to the extent practicable, provided that a Party may not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay consent to such releases,
and that either Party may issue such press releases or make such disclosures to the SEC or other applicable agency as it determines, based on advice of counsel, are
reasonably necessary to comply with laws or regulations or for appropriate market disclosure. Each Party shall provide the other Party with advance notice of
legally required disclosures to the extent practicable. The Parties will consult with each other on the provisions of this Agreement to be redacted in any filings made
by a Party with the SEC or as otherwise required by Applicable Laws; provided that each Party shall have the right to make any such filing as it reasonably
determines necessary under Applicable Laws. In addition, following the initial joint press release announcing this Agreement, either Party shall be free to disclose,
without the other Party’s prior written consent, the existence of this Agreement, the identity of the other Party and those terms of the Agreement which have
already been publicly disclosed in accordance herewith.
13.6 Prior Confidentiality Agreement. As of the Effective Date, the terms of this Article 13 shall supersede any prior non-disclosure, secrecy or
confidentiality agreement between the Parties (or their Affiliates) relating to the subject of this Agreement, including the Confidentiality Agreement. Any
information disclosed pursuant to any such prior agreement shall be deemed Confidential Information for purposes of this Agreement.
13.7 Equitable Relief. Given the nature of the Confidential Information and the competitive damage that a Party would suffer upon unauthorized disclosure,
use or transfer of its Confidential Information to any Third Party, the Parties agree that monetary damages may not be a sufficient remedy for any breach of this
Article 13. In addition to all other remedies, a Party shall be entitled to seek specific performance and injunctive and other equitable relief as a remedy for any
breach or threatened breach of this Article 13.
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14.

T ERM AND T ERMINATION

14.1 Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and, unless terminated earlier as provided in this Article 14 or by mutual written
agreement of the Parties, shall continue until the expiration of the last Royalty Term in the VIT Territory (the “ Term ”).
14.2 Termination by Mutual Agreement . The Parties may terminate this Agreement by mutual written agreement if the Parties determine mutually and in
good faith that continued Development or Commercialization of the Product in the VIT Territory would not be in the best interest of patient welfare, based on the
evaluation of safety issues and recommendations of a Regulatory Authority or independent data monitoring committee.
14.3 Termination for Cause.
(a) Material Breach. Each Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in its entirety upon written notice to the other Party if such other
Party materially breaches this Agreement and has not cured such breach within sixty (60) days (thirty (30) days with respect to any payment breach) after notice of
such breach from the non-breaching Party; provided, however, that if any breach (other than a payment breach) is not reasonably curable within sixty (60) days and
if the breaching Party has provided a cure plan reasonably acceptable to the other Party during such sixty (60)-day period and is making a bona fide effort to cure
such breach by diligently implementing such plan, such cure period will be extended for a time period to be agreed by both Parties (but in no event more than an
additional sixty (60) days) in order to permit the breaching Party a reasonable period of time to cure such breach in accordance with such plan. In the event of a
material breach by VIT that results primarily and originally from a breach by a Sublicensee of its sublicense agreement, if the Sublicensee fails to cure the breach
within the above cure period, ChemoCentryx shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement if VIT terminates such sublicense agreement by providing written
notice of termination prior to the end of such cure period and such sublicense agreement actually terminates.
(b) Bankruptcy . Each Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in its entirety upon written notice to the other Party if such other Party
makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, files an insolvency petition in bankruptcy, petitions for or acquiesces in the appointment of any receiver,
trustee or similar officer to liquidate or conserve its business or any substantial part of its assets, commences under the laws of any jurisdiction any proceeding
involving its insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, adjustment of debt, dissolution, liquidation or any other similar proceeding for the release of financially
distressed debtors or becomes a party to any proceeding or action of the type described above and such proceeding is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after the
commencement thereof.
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14.4 Termination for Patent Challenge . ChemoCentryx shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in its entirety upon written notice to VIT if VIT or
any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees directly, or indirectly through any Third Party, commences any interference or opposition proceeding with respect to,
challenges the validity or enforceability of, or opposes any extension of or the grant of a supplementary protection certificate with respect to, any ChemoCentryx
Patent; provided, however, ChemoCentryx shall not have a right to terminate if the challenge is brought by a Sublicensee, either directly or indirectly through any
Third Party, and VIT or the Affiliate, as the case may be, terminates such Sublicensee’s sublicense rights hereunder within thirty (30) days after becoming aware of
such challenge. ChemoCentryx will not have the foregoing right to terminate this Agreement if ChemoCentryx or its Affiliates or sublicensees, either directly or
indirectly through a Third Party, commence any action or proceeding alleging that VIT, its Affiliates or Sublicensees infringe any ChemoCentryx Patents and such
challenge is instituted as a counterclaim to such action.
14.5 Termination by VIT at Will. VIT shall have the right to terminate this Agreement for any reason or for no reason upon one hundred eighty (180)
days written notice to ChemoCentryx, such termination to be effective no earlier than the second anniversary of the Effective Date.
14.6 Effects of Expiration.
(a) Licenses . Upon expiration (but not termination) of this Agreement, (i) VIT’s licenses under Section 2.1 will become non-exclusive,
sublicenseable, perpetual, fully paid-up, and royalty-free.
(b) Global Trademarks . Upon expiration (but not termination) of this Agreement, if VIT is then using a Global Trademark, the license under Section
10.13(a) will remain in effect but will become royalty-bearing, and VIT shall pay ChemoCentryx a royalty of [***] of annual Net Sales of the Product in the VIT
Territory, in consideration for the exclusive use of the Global Trademark in the VIT Territory. The Parties will promptly after the effective date of expiration enter
into a trademark license agreement providing for such license and the payment terms thereof.
(c) Supply . In the event that ChemoCentryx is supplying Bulk Drug Product or API to VIT upon expiration (but not termination) of this Agreement,
then, to ensure continuity of supply, ChemoCentryx shall continue to supply VIT under the terms of the Supply Agreement until such time that (i) VIT has
established itself or a CMO as a separate supplier, or (ii) the Parties have agreed to terms for ChemoCentryx’s continued supply of API or Bulk Drug Product to
VIT after the expiration of this Agreement, which terms shall apply from the date of expiration, but in any event shall not be obligated to supply Product for more
than six (6) months after the date of expiration.
***

Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the
omitted portions.
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14.7 Effects of Termination. Upon any termination of this Agreement by either Party pursuant to Section 14.3, 14.4 or 14.5, or by the Parties pursuant to
Section 14.2, the following will apply:
(a) Termination of Licenses and Other Rights . All licenses granted to VIT will automatically terminate, and all other rights and obligations of the
Parties under this Agreement will terminate on the effective date of termination; provided that if this Agreement is terminated by ChemoCentryx pursuant to
Section 14.3(a) or 14.3(b), any sublicense granted to a Sublicensee that is not in breach under the applicable sublicense (and whose actions or omissions did not
result in a breach by VIT giving rise to ChemoCentryx’s right of termination) will continue as a direct license from ChemoCentryx so long as the Sublicensee
makes all payments to ChemoCentryx required under Section 8.4.
(b) Regulatory Filings . Unless this Agreement is terminated by VIT under Section 14.3(a), VIT shall: (i) to the extent not previously provided to
ChemoCentryx, deliver to ChemoCentryx true, correct and complete copies of all Regulatory Filings (including Regulatory Approvals) for the Product in the Field
in the VIT Territory, and provide to ChemoCentryx all VIT Know-How not previously disclosed to ChemoCentryx; (ii) and hereby does, effective upon such
termination, transfer and assign, or cause to be transferred or assigned, to ChemoCentryx or its designee (or to the extent not so assignable, take all reasonable
actions to make available to ChemoCentryx or its designee the benefits of) all Regulatory Filings (including Regulatory Approvals) for the Product in the Field in
the VIT Territory, whether held in the name of VIT or its Affiliate or Sublicensee; and (iii) take such other actions and execute such other instruments, assignments
and documents as may be necessary to effect, evidence, register and record the transfer, assignment or other conveyance of rights under this Section 14.7(b) to
ChemoCentryx. Any activities undertaken by VIT under this Section 14.7(b) will be at ChemoCentryx’s expense.
(c) VIT Technology . Unless this Agreement is terminated by VIT under Section 14.3(a), VIT hereby grants to ChemoCentryx, effective upon such
termination, a non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully-paid, perpetual, irrevocable, sublicenseable (through multiple tiers) license under the VIT Technology to Develop,
make, have made, import, offer for sale, sell and otherwise Commercialize Compounds and the Product in and outside the VIT Territory.
(d) Marks . VIT shall, and hereby does, effective on such termination, assign to ChemoCentryx all of VIT’s and its Affiliates’ right, title and interest
in and to any and all Local Trademarks used by VIT and its Affiliates in the VIT Territory, including all goodwill therein, and VIT shall promptly take such actions
and execute such instruments, assignments and documents as may be necessary to effect, evidence, register and record such assignment, at ChemoCentryx’s cost.
(e) Wind-Down . VIT shall, as directed by ChemoCentryx, either wind-down any ongoing Development activities of VIT and its Affiliates and
Sublicensees with respect to the Product in the Field in the VIT Territory in an orderly fashion or promptly transfer such Development activities to ChemoCentryx
or its designee, in compliance with all Applicable Laws.
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(f) Transition Assistance. Unless this Agreement is terminated by VIT under Section 14.3(a), VIT shall provide reasonable consultation and
assistance for the purpose of transferring or transitioning to ChemoCentryx all VIT Know-How not already in ChemoCentryx’s possession and, at ChemoCentryx’s
request, all then-existing commercial arrangements relating specifically to any Compound or Product that VIT is able, using Commercially Reasonable Efforts, to
transfer or transition to ChemoCentryx, in each case, to the extent reasonably necessary or useful for ChemoCentryx to continue Developing, manufacturing, or
Commercializing the Product in the VIT Territory. The foregoing shall include transferring, upon request of ChemoCentryx, any agreements with Third Party
suppliers or vendors that specifically cover the supply or sale of any Compound or Product in the VIT Territory; provided that if any such contract between VIT
and a Third Party is not assignable to ChemoCentryx (whether by such contract’s terms or because such contract does not relate specifically to any Compound or
Product) but is otherwise reasonably necessary or useful for ChemoCentryx to commence Developing, manufacturing, or Commercializing the Product in the VIT
Territory, or if VIT manufactures the Product itself (and thus there is no contract to assign), then VIT shall reasonably cooperate with ChemoCentryx to negotiate
for the continuation of services or supply from such entity, or VIT shall supply such Compound or Product, as applicable, to ChemoCentryx for a reasonable period
(not to exceed twelve (12) months) until ChemoCentryx establishes an alternate, validated source of such services or supply of finished, packaged, labeled Product
for the VIT Territory. ChemoCentryx shall pay VIT for such supply from VIT at a price equal to VIT’s cost. VIT shall provide such assistance at no cost to
ChemoCentryx for a period of twelve (12) months after termination, if such termination occurred after First Commercial Sale in the VIT Territory, and otherwise
for a period of six (6) months after termination, and thereafter ChemoCentryx shall reimburse VIT’s reasonable internal and Third Party costs to conduct such
transition from and after the effective date of termination.
(g) Remaining Inventories. If ChemoCentryx terminates this Agreement under Section 14.3(a) or Section 14.3(b), or if VIT terminates this
Agreement under Section 14.5, or if the Parties terminate this Agreement under Section 14.2, then unless, at ChemoCentryx’s option, ChemoCentryx repurchases
any remaining inventory at the invoice price plus the costs of shipping any remaining inventory, which it shall have the right to do, VIT, its Affiliates or their
respective Sublicensees shall be permitted to sell, subject to the payment of applicable royalties and Milestone Payments due under this Agreement, any Product in
inventory (including completion for sale of any work in progress) over the twelve (12) month period following termination. ChemoCentryx shall notify VIT within
thirty (30) days after the date of termination whether ChemoCentryx elects to exercise such right. If VIT terminates this Agreement under Section 14.3(a) or
Section 14.3(b), VIT, its Affiliates or their respective Sublicensees shall be permitted to sell, subject to the payment of applicable royalties due under this
Agreement, any Product in inventory (including completion for sale of any work in progress) over the twelve (12) month period following termination.
14.8 Confidential Information. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement in its entirety, except to the extent that a Party obtains or retains the right
to use the other Party’s Confidential Information, each Party shall promptly return to the other Party, or delete or destroy, all relevant records and materials in such
Party’s possession or control containing Confidential Information of the other Party; provided that such Party may keep one copy of such materials for archival
purposes only subject to continuing confidentiality obligations. All VIT Know-How assigned to ChemoCentryx after the Term will be deemed ChemoCentryx’s
Confidential Information and no longer VIT’s Confidential Information.
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14.9 Survival. Expiration or termination of this Agreement shall not relieve the Parties of any obligation or right accruing prior to such expiration or
termination. Except as set forth below or elsewhere in this Agreement, the obligations and rights of the Parties under the following provisions of this Agreement
shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement: Sections 9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 10.2, 10.4, 11.5, 14.6, 14.7, 14.8, 14.9, 14.10 and 14.11 and Articles 12, 13, 15 and
16.
14.10 Exercise of Right to Terminate. The use by either Party hereto of a termination right provided for under this Agreement shall not give rise to the
payment of damages or any other form of compensation or relief to the other Party with respect thereto; provided, however, that termination of this Agreement shall
not preclude either Party from claiming any other damages, compensation or relief that it may be entitled to upon such termination.
14.11 Damages; Relief. Subject to Section 14.10, termination of this Agreement shall not preclude either Party from claiming any other damages,
compensation or relief that it may be entitled to upon such termination.
14.12 Rights in Bankruptcy. All rights and licenses granted under or pursuant to this Agreement by one Party to the other Party are, and will otherwise be
deemed to be, for purposes of Section 365(n) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or comparable provision of applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws, licenses of right
to “intellectual property” as defined under Section 101 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or comparable provision of applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws. The
Parties agree that a Party that is a licensee of such rights under this Agreement will retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code or comparable provision of applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws. The Parties further agree that, in the event of the commencement of a
bankruptcy proceeding by or against a Party to this Agreement under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or comparable provision of applicable bankruptcy or insolvency
laws, the other Party will be entitled to a complete duplicate of (or complete access to, as appropriate) any such intellectual property and all embodiments of such
intellectual property, and same, if not already in its possession, will be promptly delivered to it (a) upon any such commencement of a bankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding upon its written request therefor, unless the bankrupt Party elects to continue to perform all of its obligations under this Agreement, or (b) if not
delivered under (a) above, following the rejection of this Agreement by or on behalf of the bankrupt Party upon written request therefor by the other Party.
15.

D ISPUTE R ESOLUTION

15.1 Objective. The Parties recognize that disputes as to matters arising under or relating to this Agreement or either Party’s rights and obligations
hereunder may arise from time to time. It is the objective of the Parties to establish procedures to facilitate the resolution of such disputes in an expedient manner
by mutual cooperation and without resort to litigation. To accomplish this objective, the Parties agree to follow the procedures set forth in this Article 15 to resolve
any such dispute if and when it arises.
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15.2 Resolution by Executive Officers. Except as otherwise provided in Article 3, if an unresolved dispute as to matters arising under or relating to this
Agreement or either Party’s rights and obligations hereunder arises, either Party may refer such dispute to the Executive Officers, who shall meet in person or by
telephone within thirty (30) days after such referral to attempt in good faith to resolve such dispute. If such matter cannot be resolved by discussion of such officers
within such thirty (30)-day period, or such other time period as the Parties may agree to in writing, such dispute shall be resolved in accordance with Section 15.3.
15.3 Arbitration .
(a) If the Parties do not resolve a dispute as provided in Section 15.2, and a Party wishes to pursue the matter, each such dispute that is not an
Excluded Claim (defined below) shall be resolved by binding arbitration in accordance with the Rules of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce (“
ICC ”) as then in effect (the “ ICC Rules ”), which ICC Rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this clause and judgment on the arbitration award
may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The decision rendered in any such arbitration will be final and not appealable. If either Party intends to
commence binding arbitration of such dispute, such Party will provide written notice to the other Party informing the other Party of such intention and the issues to
be resolved. Within thirty (30) days after the receipt of such notice, the other Party may, by written notice to the Party initiating binding arbitration, add additional
issues to be resolved.
(b) The arbitration shall be conducted by a panel of three (3) arbitrators appointed in accordance with the ICC Rules, none of whom shall be a current
or former employee or director, or a then-current stockholder, of either Party, their respective Affiliates or any Sublicensee. The place of arbitration shall be New
York, New York, and all proceedings and communications shall be in English.
(c) It is the intention of the Parties that discovery, although permitted as described herein, will be limited except in exceptional circumstances. The
arbitrators will permit such limited discovery necessary for an understanding of any legitimate issue raised in the arbitration, including the production of
documents. No later than thirty (30) days after selection of the arbitrators, the Parties and their representatives shall hold a preliminary meeting with the arbitrators,
to mutually agree upon and thereafter follow procedures seeking to assure that the arbitration will be concluded within six (6) months from such meeting. Failing
any such mutual agreement, the arbitrators will design and the Parties shall follow procedures to such effect.
(d) Either Party may apply to the arbitrators for interim injunctive relief until the arbitration award is rendered or the controversy is otherwise
resolved. Either Party also may, without waiving any remedy under this Agreement, seek from any court having jurisdiction any injunctive or provisional relief
necessary to protect the rights or property of that Party pending the arbitration award. The arbitrators shall have no authority to award punitive or any other noncompensatory damages, except as may be permitted by Section 12.5. The arbitrators shall have the power to order that all or part of the legal or other costs incurred
by a Party in connection with the arbitration be paid by the other Party. Each Party shall bear an equal share of the arbitrators’ and any administrative fees of
arbitration.
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(e) Except to the extent necessary to confirm or enforce an award or as may be required by Applicable Law, neither a Party nor an arbitrator may
disclose the existence, content, or results of an arbitration without the prior written consent of both Parties. In no event shall an arbitration be initiated after the date
when commencement of a legal or equitable proceeding based on the dispute, controversy or claim would be barred by the applicable New York statute of
limitations.
(f) As used in this Section, the term “ Excluded Claim ” means a dispute, controversy or claim that concerns (i) the validity, enforceability or
infringement of a patent, trademark or copyright; or (ii) any antitrust, anti-monopoly, or competition law or regulation, whether or not statutory.
15.4 Expert Arbitrators if no JSC Consensus on Certain Matters.
(a) If [***], the Parties are obligated to submit a disputed matter to arbitration under this Section 15.4 pursuant to Section 3.4(c), then unless the
Parties otherwise agree, the Parties shall within thirty (30) days after the JSC first considers VIT’s objection to a Development Plan amendment because VIT
reasonably believes that such amendment would materially adversely affect the safety and efficacy profile of the Product in the VIT Territory, or that a proposed
Additional Indication satisfies the Additional Indication Rejection Condition, mutually select a panel of three (3) independent scientific experts having substantial
relevant experience with respect to the development of pharmaceutical products, and failing such mutual agreement during such time frame, either Party may ask
the American Arbitration Association to promptly appoint the expert on behalf of the Parties) (the “ Expert Arbitrators ”). Both Parties shall submit their
respective proposals with respect to such Development Plan amendment and arguments with respect to its effect on the safety and efficacy profile of the Product in
the VIT Territory, or on whether the Additional Indication satisfies the Additional Indication Rejection Condition, to the Expert Arbitrators within three (3)
Business Days of learning of such Expert Arbitrators’ appointment, either through agreement of the Parties or by the American Arbitration Association. If a Party
fails to submit a proposal within such timeframe, then the proposal of the submitting Party shall prevail.
(b) Each Party shall have ten (10) Business Days from receipt of the other Party’s submission to the Expert Arbitrators to submit a written response to
such proposal. A hearing with the Parties and the Expert Arbitrators shall take place over no more than two (2) Business Days and shall commence no later than ten
(10) days after submission of the written responses to each other and the Expert Arbitrators. Each Party shall have a reasonable period of time, to be determined by
the Expert Arbitrators (which period of time shall be sufficient for the Expert Arbitrators to fully understand the proposals, responses and the relative merits
thereof), to argue for its proposal at the hearing with the Expert Arbitrators. The Expert Arbitrators shall have the right to meet thereafter with the Parties together,
as necessary to make a determination. The Expert Arbitrators shall, within five (5) Business Days after completion of the hearing, or such longer period as the
Parties may agree, make a final and binding determination as to
***

Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the
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whether the proposed Development Plan amendment is reasonably likely to materially adversely affect the safety and efficacy profile of the Product in the VIT
Territory or on whether the Additional Indication satisfies the Additional Indication Rejection Condition. Such determination shall be deemed to be the consensus
of the JSC. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the rendering of a determination by the Expert Arbitrators shall be deemed effective at the time its
determination is made, irrespective of the time when a formal written statement of the Expert Arbitrators’ opinion with respect to such matter, or the basis of its
determination, is released, if at all. At any time prior to the determination, either Party may accept the other Party’s position on any unresolved issue. The Parties
shall inform the Expert Arbitrators of such accepted position and in such event such position will be deemed part of the final resolution of the matter in dispute and
no longer subject to arbitration. The Expert Arbitrators’ decision shall take into account customary and commercially reasonable industry practices for the conduct
of development and other activities in compliance with Applicable Law. Each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses (including legal fees and expenses)
relating to the arbitration proceeding. Any fees, costs, expenses or other amounts payable to the Expert Arbitrators in connection with any arbitration pursuant to
this Section 15.4 shall be borne equally by the Parties.
16.

G ENERAL P ROVISIONS

16.1 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without reference to any
rules of conflict of laws.
16.2 Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement, together with the Letter Agreement and Supply Agreement, is both a final expression of the
Parties’ agreement and a complete and exclusive statement with respect to all of its terms. This Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements
and communications, whether oral, written or otherwise, concerning any and all matters contained herein. This Agreement may only be modified or supplemented
in a writing expressly stated for such purpose and signed by the Parties to this Agreement.
16.3 Relationship Between the Parties. The Parties’ relationship, as established by this Agreement, is solely that of independent contractors. This
Agreement does not create any partnership, joint venture or similar business relationship between the Parties. Neither Party is a legal representative of the other
Party, and neither Party can assume or create any obligation, representation, warranty or guarantee, express or implied, on behalf of the other Party for any purpose
whatsoever.
16.4 Non-Waiver. The failure of a Party to insist upon strict performance of any provision of this Agreement or to exercise any right arising out of this
Agreement shall neither impair that provision or right nor constitute a waiver of that provision or right, in whole or in part, in that instance or in any other instance.
Any waiver by a Party of a particular provision or right shall be in writing, shall be as to a particular matter and, if applicable, for a particular period of time and
shall be signed by such Party.
16.5 Assignment. Except as expressly provided hereunder, neither this Agreement nor any rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or otherwise
transferred by either Party
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without the prior written consent of the other Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that either Party may assign or
otherwise transfer this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder without the other Party’s consent:
(a) in connection with the transfer or sale of all or substantially all of the business or assets of such Party relating to the Product to a Third Party,
whether by merger, consolidation, divesture, restructure, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise, provided that in the event of any such transaction (whether this
Agreement is actually assigned or is assumed by the acquiring Party by operation of law ( e.g. , in the context of a reverse triangular merger)), intellectual property
rights of the acquiring Party to such transaction (if other than one of the Parties to this Agreement) shall not be included in the technology licensed hereunder; or
(b) to an Affiliate or, in the case of VIT, as may be necessary in connection with the currently announced restructuring of Galenica, so long as such
restructuring does not result in the effective sale or transfer, directly or indirectly, of this Agreement to a Third Party, provided that in the case of an assignment to
an Affiliate, the assigning Party shall remain liable and responsible to the non-assigning Party hereto for the performance and observance of all such duties and
obligations by such Affiliate.
The rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the Parties
specified above, and the name of a Party appearing herein will be deemed to include the name of such Party’s successors and permitted assigns to the extent
necessary to carry out the intent of this section. Any assignment not in accordance with this Section 16.5 shall be null and void.
16.6 Severability. If, for any reason, any part of this Agreement is adjudicated invalid, unenforceable or illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction, such
adjudication shall not, to the extent feasible, affect or impair, in whole or in part, the validity, enforceability, or legality of any remaining portions of this
Agreement. All remaining portions shall remain in full force and effect as if the original Agreement had been executed without the invalidated, unenforceable or
illegal part.
16.7 Notices. Any notice to be given under this Agreement must be in writing and delivered either in person, by (a) air mail (postage prepaid) requiring
return receipt, (b) overnight courier, or (c) facsimile confirmed thereafter by any of the foregoing, to the Party to be notified at its address(es) given below, or at any
address such Party may designate by prior written notice to the other in accordance with this Section 16.7. Notice shall be deemed sufficiently given for all
purposes upon the earliest of: (i) the date of actual receipt; (ii) if air mailed, five (5) days after the date of postmark; (iii) if delivered by overnight courier, the next
day the overnight courier regularly makes deliveries or (iv) if sent by facsimile, the date of confirmation of receipt if during the recipient’s normal business hours,
otherwise the next Business Day.
If to VIT, notices must be addressed to:
Vifor (International) Ltd.
Rechenstrasse 37, 9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile: +41 58 851 80 01
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with a copy to:
Vifor (International) Ltd.
Rechenstrasse 37, 9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland
Facsimile: +41 58 851 80 01
Attention: Group General Counsel
If to ChemoCentryx, notices must be addressed to:
ChemoCentryx, Inc.
850 Maude Avenue
Mountain View, CA 94043
USA
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
Fax: +1-650-210-2910
with a copy to:
Cooley LLP
4401 Eastgate Mall
San Diego, CA 92121-1909
USA
Attn: L. Kay Chandler
Fax: +1-858-550-6420
16.8 Force Majeure. Each Party shall be excused from liability for the failure or delay in performance of any obligation under this Agreement (other than
failure to make payment when due) by reason of any reasonably unforeseeable event beyond such Party’s reasonable control including but not limited to Acts of
God, fire, flood, explosion, earthquake, pandemic flu, or other natural forces, war, civil unrest, acts of terrorism, accident, destruction or other casualty, any lack or
failure of transportation facilities, any lack or failure of supply of raw materials, or any other event similar to those enumerated above. Such excuse from liability
shall be effective only to the extent and duration of the event(s) causing the failure or delay in performance and provided that the Party has not caused such event(s)
to occur. Notice of a Party’s failure or delay in performance due to force majeure must be given to the other Party within ten (10) days after its occurrence. All
delivery dates under this Agreement that have been affected by force majeure shall be tolled for the duration of such force majeure. In no event shall any Party be
required to prevent or settle any labor disturbance or dispute.
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16.9 Standstill Agreement. During the Term and, in the case of early termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 14, and for three (3) months
after such termination (the “ Standstill Period ”), unless specifically invited in writing by the board of directors of ChemoCentryx, except pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement, neither VIT nor any of its Representatives will, in any manner, directly or indirectly, without the prior express written consent of ChemoCentryx:
(a) make, effect, initiate, directly participate in or cause (i) any acquisition of beneficial ownership of any outstanding shares of common stock or
other securities of ChemoCentryx or any Affiliate of ChemoCentryx with the power to vote in the election of directors or any securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable into such securities of ChemoCentryx or any Affiliate of ChemoCentryx (“ Voting Securities ”), in the case of a Representative
(excluding an Affiliate) authorized to act on behalf of VIT for such purpose, (ii) any acquisition of any assets of ChemoCentryx or any assets of any Affiliate of
ChemoCentryx, (iii) any tender offer, exchange offer, merger, business combination, recapitalization, restructuring, liquidation, dissolution or extraordinary
transaction involving ChemoCentryx or any Affiliate of ChemoCentryx, or involving any securities or assets of ChemoCentryx or any securities or assets of any
Affiliate of ChemoCentryx, or (iv) any “solicitation” of “proxies” (as those terms are used in the proxy rules of the SEC) or consents with respect to any Voting
Securities; provided that nothing in this Section 16.9(a) shall preclude any activities of VIT or its Representatives with respect to the grant by ChemoCentryx or
any Affiliate of ChemoCentryx of any license, or the supply by ChemoCentryx or any subsidiary of ChemoCentryx of any products, in each case to VIT or any of
its Affiliates as contemplated by this Agreement;
(b) form, join or participate in a “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) with respect to
the beneficial ownership of any Voting Securities of ChemoCentryx;
(c) act, alone or in concert with others, to seek to control the management, board of directors or policies of ChemoCentryx;
(d) seek to call any meeting of the stockholders of ChemoCentryx or propose or nominate for election to ChemoCentryx’s board of directors any
person whose nomination has not been approved by a majority of ChemoCentryx’s board of directors;
(e) publicly or otherwise propose the taking of any action referred to in Section 16.9(a), (b), (c) or (d);
(f) assist, induce, encourage, enter into any discussions, negotiations, arrangements, or agreements with, or otherwise act in concert with any Third
Party relating to any of the foregoing; or
(g) request or propose (in any manner that would reasonably be likely to cause ChemoCentryx to disclose publicly) that ChemoCentryx or any of
ChemoCentryx’s Representatives amend, waive or consider the amendment or waiver of any provision set forth in this Section 16.9, in the case of a Representative
(excluding an Affiliate) authorized to act on behalf of VIT for such purpose.
For purposes of this Agreement, a Party’s “ Representatives ” will be deemed to include each person or entity that is or becomes (1) an Affiliate of such Party, or
(2) an officer, director, employee, partner, attorney, advisor, accountant, agent or representative of such Party or of any of such Party’s Affiliates, providing such
person or entity authorized by such Party.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 16.9 shall no longer apply (i) during a period commencing with ChemoCentryx’s announcement in a filing with
the SEC or a press release that (A) it is seeking a purchaser for itself or all or substantially all of its assets or (B) it is otherwise exploring strategic options in this
regard, and ending with ChemoCentryx’s announcement in a filing with the SEC or a press release that is terminating such search or exploration; (ii) during the
period beginning with the commencement by a Third Party of a publicly-announced tender or exchange offer for more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power
of the outstanding Voting Securities of ChemoCentryx, and ending with the termination by such Third Party of such tender or exchange offer; or (iii) if
ChemoCentryx announces in a filing with the SEC or a press release a transaction, or an intention to effect any transaction, which would result in (A) the sale by
ChemoCentryx or one or more subsidiaries of assets representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the consolidated assets of ChemoCentryx; or (B) the common
shareholders of ChemoCentryx immediately prior to such transaction owning less than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding common stock of the acquiring entity
or, in case of a merger transaction, the surviving corporation (or, if the surviving corporation is an Affiliate of a parent company, the parent company); provided
that, in the case of clause (ii) VIT has not directly or indirectly taken any action prohibited under this Section 16.9.
16.10 Interpretation. The headings of clauses contained in this Agreement preceding the text of the sections, subsections and paragraphs hereof are inserted
solely for convenience and ease of reference only and shall not constitute any part of this Agreement, or have any effect on its interpretation or construction. All
references in this Agreement to the singular shall include the plural where applicable. Unless otherwise specified, references in this Agreement to any Article shall
include all Sections, subsections and paragraphs in such Article, references to any Section shall include all subsections and paragraphs in such Section, and
references in this Agreement to any subsection shall include all paragraphs in such subsection. The word “including” and similar words means including without
limitation. The word “or” means “and/or” unless the context dictates otherwise because the subject of the conjunction are mutually exclusive. The words “herein,”
“hereof” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Section or other subdivision. All references
to days in this Agreement mean calendar days, unless otherwise specified. Ambiguities and uncertainties in this Agreement, if any, shall not be interpreted against
either Party, irrespective of which Party may be deemed to have caused the ambiguity or uncertainty to exist. This Agreement has been prepared in the English
language and the English language shall control its interpretation. In addition, all notices required or permitted to be given hereunder, and all written, electronic,
oral or other communications between the Parties regarding this Agreement shall be in the English language.
16.11 Counterparts; Electronic or Facsimile Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument. This Agreement may be executed and delivered electronically or by facsimile and upon such
delivery such electronic or facsimile signature will be deemed to have the same effect as if the original signature had been delivered to the other Party.
{S IGNATURE P AGE F OLLOWS }
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I N W ITNESS W HEREOF , the Parties hereto have caused this C OLLABORATION AND L ICENSE A GREEMENT to be executed and entered into by their
duly authorized representatives as of the Effective Date.
C HEMO C ENTRYX , I NC .

V IFOR (I NTERNATIONAL ) L TD .

By:

/s/ Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.

By:

/s/ Søren Tulstrup

Name:

Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.

Name:

Søren Tulstrup

Title:

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

Title:

CEO, Vifor Pharma

By:

/s/ Dr. Oliver P. Kronenberg

Name:

Dr. Oliver P. Kronenberg

Title:

Group General Counsel

Signature Page to Collaboration and License Agreement
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Schedule 6.3
Diligence Countries
Austria
Belgium
Netherlands
Sweden
Finland
Denmark
Norway
Iceland
Portugal
Greece
Egypt
South Africa
Argentina
Chile
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Exhibit 8.4(c)
Quarterly Royalty Reduction Calculation
Example
An example of the royalty calculation pursuant to this Exhibit 8.4(c) for Net Sales in a country for the third quarter, assuming that the royalty reduction of Section
8.4(c) first applies to the Net Sales of the Product in the country in the third quarter, is as follows:
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CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT
T HIS S TOCK P URCHASE A GREEMENT (“ Agreement ”) is made as of May 9, 2016 by and between C HEMO C ENTRYX , I NC . , a Delaware
corporation (the “ Company ”), and V IFOR (I NTERNATIONAL ) L TD . , a corporation organized under the laws of Switzerland (the “ Purchaser ”). Capitalized
terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning given to them in that certain Collaboration and License Agreement (the “ Collaboration and License
Agreement ”), dated as of the date hereof, entered into between the Company and the Purchaser.
AGREEMENT
W HEREAS , the Company and Purchaser are contemporaneously entering into the Collaboration and License Agreement pursuant to which the
Company and Purchaser shall establish a collaboration for the continued development and, if successful, commercialization of products containing CCX168 in
Europe, Central America, South America, Mexico, Canada, South Korea and Africa;
W HEREAS , in consideration for the inclusion of Mexico, Canada, and South Korea in the VIT Territory and the Exclusive CCX140 Negotiation
Right granted to VIT in the Collaboration and License Agreement, VIT has agreed to purchase from ChemoCentryx that number of shares of common stock of
ChemoCentryx equivalent to twenty-five million dollars ($25,000,000), at a price per share determined in accordance with Section 8.1(b) of the Collaboration and
License Agreement;
N OW , THEREFORE , In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Purchaser hereby agree as follows:
1. Purchase and Sale of Stock .
(a) Sale of the Shares . The Company will issue and sell to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser will purchase from the Company, Three Million
Three Hundred Thirty Three Thousand Three Hundred Thirty Three (3,333,333) shares (the “ Shares ”) of the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.001 per
share (“ Common Stock ”), at a purchase price of Seven Dollars and Fifty Cents ($7.50) per Share. The aggregate purchase price of Twenty Four Million Nine
Hundred Ninety Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Seven Dollars and Fifty Cents ($24,999,997.50) for the Shares purchased by the Purchaser hereunder is
referred to as the “ Aggregate Purchase Price .”
(b) Payment . At the Closing, subject to the terms and conditions herein:
(i) the Purchaser will pay the Aggregate Purchase Price by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with wire
instructions provided by the Company to the Purchaser prior to the Closing; and
(ii) the Company will deliver (or cause to be delivered) to the Purchaser:
(A) a book-entry statement confirming registration of the Shares in the Purchaser’s name in a book-entry account maintained by
the transfer agent for the Common Stock, registered in the name of Vifor (International) Ltd.;

(B) a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying (i) the
resolutions adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors approving the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the issuance of the Shares and (ii) the
current versions of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company; and
(C) a legal opinion of Latham & Watkins LLP, counsel to the Company, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A .
(c) Closing . The closing (the “ Closing ”) of the purchase and sale of the Shares contemplated by this Agreement will take place on the date
upon which the conditions set forth in Section 1(b) hereof are satisfied (the “ Closing Date ”) and will be held at the offices of Latham & Watkins LLP, 12670 High
Bluff Drive, San Diego, CA 92130.
2. Company Representations . In connection with the purchase and sale of the Shares, the Company represents and warrants to the Purchaser as of the
date hereof, as follows:
(a) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and has all
requisite corporate power and authority (i) to conduct its business in the manner in which it is currently being conducted, and (ii) to own and use its assets in the
manner in which its assets are currently owned and used.
(b) The Company has all necessary power and authority and has taken all actions necessary to enter into this Agreement and to carry out the
transactions and perform the obligations contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the
Company and, when executed and delivered by the Purchaser, will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against it in
accordance with its respective terms except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws of general application
affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (ii) as limited by laws relating to the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other
equitable remedies.
(c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the sale of the Shares by the Company do not and will not contravene,
conflict with or result in a violation of any (i) federal, state or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or published guidelines promulgated by, or any order,
decree, or judgment issued by, any governmental or regulatory authority to which the Company or any of the assets owned or used by the Company is subject, (ii)
any of the provisions of the Company’s organizational documents or any resolution adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors (or any committee thereof) or
stockholders or (iii) any material agreement or other instrument or arrangement to which the Company is subject. No consent, order, authorization, approval,
declaration or filing, including with or to any governmental or regulatory authority, is required on the part of the Company for or in connection with the execution,
delivery or performance of this Agreement, other than (i) the filing of a Current Report on Form 8-K pursuant to Items 1.01 and 3.02 thereof and a Notice of Sale of
Securities on Form D with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or (ii) such as have been made or obtained.
(d) There are no pending actions, suits, proceedings, arbitrations, writs, judgments, decrees, injunctions or similar orders of any governmental
or regulatory authority (in each such case whether preliminary or final), hearings, assessments with respect to fines or penalties or litigation (whether civil,
criminal, administrative, investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before any governmental or regulatory authority (collectively, “
Actions or Proceedings ”), and to the knowledge of the Company, no natural person, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability
company, proprietorship, other business organization, trust, union, association or governmental or regulatory authority has threatened to commence any Action or
Proceeding, that challenges, or has the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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(e) The Company has not retained any broker in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder. Purchaser has no, and will have no,
obligation to pay any brokers, finders, investment bankers, financial advisors or similar fees in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
hereby by reason of any action taken by or on behalf of the Company.
(f) The Shares have been duly authorized and will, when issued in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, be validly issued, fully
paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all liens, charges, claims, security interests, encumbrances, preemptive rights, rights of first refusal or similar restrictions.
Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Purchaser in this Agreement, the Shares will be issued in compliance with all applicable federal
and state securities laws.
(g) The authorized capitalization of the Company consists of 200,000,000 shares of Common Stock, of which 43,693,814 shares were issued
and outstanding as of May 6, 2016, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value, of which no shares are issued and outstanding. The Company has
not issued any capital stock since the date it filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the “ Most Recent 10-K ”), other than in
connection with the exercise of options or the vesting of restricted stock units, in each case disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements included in the
Most Recent 10-K or awarded in the ordinary course of business since December 31, 2015. Other than the warrants, options, and restricted stock units disclosed in
the footnotes to the financial statements included Most Recent 10-K and options and restricted stock units awarded in the ordinary course of business since
December 31, 2015, the Company has no outstanding options, warrants, or other rights to subscribe for, or securities convertible into or exchangeable for, shares of
Common Stock (or securities convertible into or exchangeable therefor). The sale and issuance of the Shares will not obligate the Company to issue shares of
Common Stock or other securities to any other person and will not result in a right of any holder of securities issued by the Company to adjust the exercise,
conversion, or exchange price or ratio under any such securities. The Company is not a party to any stockholders, voting or similar agreement with any other
person.
(h) Since January 1, 2015, as of the date hereof the Company has filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required
to have been filed by it under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ”), including pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) thereof (the
foregoing materials, including the exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by reference therein, being collectively referred to herein as the “ SEC Reports ”)
on a timely basis or has received a valid extension of such time of filing and has filed any such SEC Reports prior to the expiration of any such extension. As of
their respective filing dates, or to the extent corrected by a subsequent restatement, the SEC Reports complied in all material respects with the requirements of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated thereunder, and none of the SEC Reports, when filed,
contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein,
in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
(i) The financial statements of the Company included in the SEC Reports comply in all material respects with applicable accounting
requirements and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect thereto as in effect at the time of filing (or to the extent
corrected by a subsequent restatement). Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“ GAAP ”)
applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved, except as may be otherwise specified in such financial statements or the notes thereto and except that
unaudited financial statements may not contain all footnotes required by
3

GAAP, and fairly present in all material respects the financial position of the Company as of and for the dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows
for the periods then ended, subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal, immaterial year-end audit adjustments.
(j) Except as specifically disclosed in SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, (i) since January 1, 2016, there have been no events,
occurrences or developments that have had or would reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect (as defined
below), (ii) the Company has not incurred any material liabilities other than (A) trade payables and accrued expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice and (B) liabilities not required to be reflected in the Company’s financial statements pursuant to GAAP or disclosed in filings made
with the Commission, (iii) the Company has not materially altered its method of accounting or the manner in which it keeps its accounting books and records, and
(iv) the Company has not declared or made any dividend or distribution of cash, shares of capital stock or other property to its stockholders or purchased, redeemed
or made any agreements to purchase or redeem any shares of its capital stock (other than in connection with repurchases of unvested stock issued to employees of
the Company).
For purposes of this Agreement, the term “ Material Adverse Effect ” means any change, event or occurrence that has had or is reasonably
likely to have (i) a material adverse effect on the business, condition (financial or other), assets, liabilities or results of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (ii) a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to timely perform its obligations under, or timely consummate any of the
transactions contemplated by, this Agreement or the Collaboration and License Agreement, except to the extent that any such change, event or occurrence results
from or arises out of changes occurring after the filing date of the Most Recent 10-K in general legal, regulatory, political, economic or business conditions or
changes in GAAP or interpretations thereof occurring after such date that, in each case, generally affect the biotechnology or biopharmaceutical industries and have
not had or would not be reasonably likely to have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its subsidiaries compared to other participants in the biotechnology
or biopharmaceutical industries.
(k) There is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending, or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened which (i) adversely affects
or challenges the legality, validity or enforceability of any of this Agreement, the Collaboration Agreement or any other agreement or instrument to be entered into
in connection therewith or (ii) except as specifically disclosed in the SEC Reports, would, if there were an unfavorable decision, individually or in the aggregate,
have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director or officer thereof
is or has been the subject of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation involving a claim of violation of or liability under federal or state securities laws or a claim
of breach of fiduciary duty relating to actions taken at the Company. There has not been, and to the knowledge of the Company there is not pending or
contemplated, any investigation involving the Company by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
(l) Except as disclosed in the SEC Reports, since January 1, 2014, the Company and its subsidiaries have complied in all material respects
with all federal, state, local and foreign laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries
(m) The Company is not, and immediately after receipt of payment for the Shares, will not be an “investment company” within the meaning of
the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. The Company shall conduct its business in a manner so that it will not become subject to the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended.
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3. Investment Representations . In connection with the purchase and sale of the Shares, the Purchaser represents and warrants to the Company as of the
date hereof, as follows:
(a) All corporate action on the part of the Purchaser, its officers and its directors necessary for the authorization, execution and delivery of this
Agreement, the authorization of the purchase of the Shares and the performance of all obligations of the Purchaser hereunder has been taken, and this Agreement
constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of the Purchaser enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.
(b) The Shares to be issued to the Purchaser hereunder will be acquired for investment for the Purchaser’s own account, not as a nominee or
agent, and not with a view to the resale or distribution of any part thereof. Purchaser does not have any contract, undertaking, agreement or arrangement with any
person to sell, transfer or grant participations to such person or to any third person, with respect to any of the Shares issued to it.
(c) The Purchaser understands that the acquisition of the Shares by it involves substantial risk. The Purchaser acknowledges that it is able to
fend for itself, can bear the economic risk of its investment and has such knowledge and experience in financial or business matters that it is capable of evaluating
the merits and risks of the investment in the Shares. The Purchaser has had an opportunity to discuss the Company’s business, management and financial affairs
with the Company and believes it has received all the information it considers necessary or appropriate for deciding whether to purchase the Shares.
(d) The Purchaser is an accredited investor within the meaning of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “ Securities Act ”). The Purchaser is not a person of the type described in Section 506(d) of Regulation D that would disqualify the Company from engaging in
a transaction pursuant to Section 506 of Regulation D and the Purchaser has truthfully completed the Private Placement “Bad Actor” Questionnaire attached hereto
as Exhibit B .
(e) The Purchaser understands that the Shares are characterized as “restricted securities” under the Securities Act inasmuch as they are being
acquired from the Company in a transaction not involving a public offering and that under the Securities Act and applicable regulations thereunder such securities
may be resold without registration under the Securities Act only in certain limited circumstances. Purchaser represents that it is familiar with Rule 144 of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and understands the resale limitations imposed thereby and by the Securities Act.
4. Restrictions on Transfer . The Purchaser hereby agrees that, during the Transfer Restriction Period (as hereinafter defined) it will not offer, pledge,
sell, contract to sell, or otherwise transfer or dispose of the Shares or any shares of the Company’s Common Stock issued in respect thereof as a result of any stock
split, stock dividend or similar transaction (a “ Disposition ”). The term “ Transfer Restriction Period ” means the period beginning on the closing date and ending
on the earliest to occur of:
(a) the date that is five (5) years after the Closing Date;
(b) the first Regulatory Approval in the VIT Territory as defined in the Collaboration and License Agreement;
(c) the valid termination of the Collaboration and License Agreement, but not early than 3 years after the Closing Date;
(d) the approval of the dissolution of the Company by the Company’s Board of Directors; and
(e) the date on which the Common Stock ceases to be registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act.
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Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 4, this Section 4 shall not prohibit or restrict any Disposition by Purchaser or a Permitted
Transferee (as hereinafter defined) (i) to a Permitted Transferee, (ii) pursuant to a tender offer by a third party that, if completed in accordance with its terms would
result in a Change of Control (as defined in the Collaboration and License Agreement) or (iii) pursuant to an issuer tender offer by the Company. For purposes of
this Section 4, the term “ Permitted Transferee ” means any corporation, limited liability company, limited partnership, association or other entity that controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with the Purchaser; provided that as a condition to the Disposition, such entity shall have executed and delivered to the
Company a consent to be bound by the restrictions set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement and Section 16.9 of the Collaboration and License Agreement.
5. Legends . The Purchaser understands that the Shares may bear one or more legends in substantially the following form (and a stop-transfer order
may be placed against transfer of the Shares):
(a) THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT”), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES AND HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR
INVESTMENT AND NOT WITH A VIEW TO, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THE SALE OR DISTRIBUTION THEREOF. THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE
SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT FOR THE SECURITIES UNDER APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS, OR UNLESS OFFERED, SOLD PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR
TRANSFERRED PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THOSE LAWS. THE COMPANY
SHALL BE ENTITLED TO REQUIRE AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT
REQUIRED UNDER THE ACT UNLESS THE SECURITIES ARE SOLD PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OF SUCH ACT.
(b) THE SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO AN AGREEMENT BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER HEREOF NOT
TO SELL OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER SUCH SECURITIES FOR THE PERIOD SPECIFIED IN A STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF
MAY 9, 2016 BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER OF THE SHARES.
6. Tax Consequences . The Purchaser has reviewed with its own tax advisors the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of this investment
and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Purchaser is relying solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the
Company or any of its agents. The Purchaser understands that it (and not the Company) shall be responsible for its own tax liability that may arise as a result of this
investment or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
7. Listing of Shares . In the manner and at the time required by the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market (“ NASDAQ ”), the Company shall cause the
Shares to be approved for listing on NASDAQ and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Shares to continue to be listed on NASDAQ for so long
as they are owned by the Purchaser or a Permitted Transferee.
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8. General Provisions .
(a) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York without reference to any rules of conflict of laws. This Agreement
and the documents referred to herein represent the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the purchase of the Shares by the Purchaser and may only be
modified or amended in writing signed by each of the parties.
(b) This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.
(c) The titles used in this Agreement are used for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing or interpreting this Agreement.
(d) Any notice, demand or request required or permitted to be given by either the Company or the Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when delivered in accordance with Section 16.7 of the Collaboration and License Agreement.
(e) Neither this Agreement, nor any rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or otherwise transferred except in accordance with
Section 16.5 of the Collaboration and License Agreement.
(f) Any term of this Agreement may be amended and the observance of any term of this Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a
particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively but only if so expressly stated), only with the written consent of the Company and the Purchaser.
(g) Any party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such
provision or provisions, nor prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted to each of the parties
herein are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of any party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
(h) If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held to be unenforceable under applicable law, such provision shall be excluded from this
Agreement and the balance of the Agreement shall be interpreted as if such provisions were so excluded and shall be enforceable in accordance with its terms.
(i) The Purchaser and the Company agree upon request to execute any further documents or instruments necessary or desirable to carry out the
purposes or intent of this Agreement.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Execution Version
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth above.
COMPANY:

PURCHASER:

CHEMOCENTRYX, INC.

VIFOR (INTERNATIONAL) LTD.

By:

By:

/s/ Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.

/s/ Gianni Zampieri

Name: Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.

Name: Gianni Zampieri

Title:

Title:

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
By:

Vice CEO

/s/ Dr. Oliver P. Kronenberg

Name: Dr. Oliver P. Kronenberg
Title:

Group General Counsel

Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement

Execution Version
Exhibit A
(See attached.)

Execution Version
Exhibit B
(See attached.)

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ChemoCentryx, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
/s/ Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.
Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
Date: August 9, 2016

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Susan M. Kanaya, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ChemoCentryx, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
/s/ Susan M. Kanaya
Susan M. Kanaya
Chief Financial Officer
Date: August 9, 2016

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ChemoCentryx, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2016, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D., as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 9, 2016

/s/ Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.
Thomas J. Schall, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the
date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided
to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ChemoCentryx, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2016, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Susan M. Kanaya, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 9, 2016

/s/ Susan M. Kanaya
Susan M. Kanaya
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the
date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided
to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

